
CREDIT SUISSE GROUP
Form 20-F
March 31, 2006

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

1



 Table of contents

Items not shown are not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an Annual Report or because they are not applicable to Credit Suisse Group.

 Table of contents
 Definitions
 Sources
 Accounting basis and reporting currency
 Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information
 Item 3: Key information
 Selected financial data
 Exchange rate information
 Risk factors
 Market risk
 We may incur significant losses on our trading and investment activities due to market fluctuations and volatility
 Adverse market or economic conditions may cause a decline in net revenues
 Private banking, corporate and retail banking, asset management and insurance businesses
 Investment banking business
 Alternative capital business
 We may incur significant losses in the real estate sector
 Our revenues may decline in line with declines in certain sectors
 Holding large and concentrated positions may expose us to large losses
 Our hedging strategies may not prevent losses
 Market risk may increase the other risks that we face
 Credit risk
 We may suffer significant losses from our credit exposures
 Banking businesses
 Investment banking business
 Insurance businesses
 Defaults by a large financial institution could adversely affect financial markets generally and us specifically
 The information that we use to manage our credit risk may be inaccurate or incomplete
 Cross border and foreign exchange risk
 Cross border risks may increase market and credit risks we face
 We may face significant losses in emerging markets
 Currency fluctuations may adversely affect our results of operations
 Insurance underwriting risk
 Liquidity risk
 Our liquidity could be impaired if we could not access the capital markets or sell our assets
 Our banking businesses may face asset-liability mismatches
 Our insurance businesses may face liquidity problems
 Changes in our ratings may adversely affect our business
 Operational risk
 We are exposed to a wide variety of operational risks
 We may suffer losses due to employee misconduct
 Legal and regulatory risks
 Our exposure to legal liability is significant

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

2



 Extensive regulation of our businesses limits our activities and may subject us to significant penalties
 Legal restrictions on our clients may reduce the demand for our services
 Competition
 We face increased competition due to consolidation and new entrants
 Our competitive position could be harmed if our reputation is damaged
 We must recruit and retain highly skilled employees
 We face competition from new trading technologies
 Financial services businesses that we acquire may not perform well or may prove difficult to integrate into our existing operations
 We may fail to realize the anticipated revenue growth and cost synergies from the integration of our banking businesses
 We may be unable to sell non-core assets at favorable prices, or at all.
 Item 4: Information on the company
 Regulation and supervision
 Overview
 Banking
 Switzerland
 Capital requirements
 Liquidity requirements
 Risk concentration
 Confidentiality Requirements
 European Union
 United States
 Non-banking activities
 United Kingdom
 Investment banking and asset management
 Switzerland
 European Union
 United States
 United Kingdom
 Insurance
 Switzerland
 European Union
 Germany
 United States
 Property and equipment
 Additional information
 Item 4A: Unresolved staff comments
 Item 5: Operating and financial review and prospects
 Critical accounting policies
 Fair value
 Controls over the fair valuation process
 Price transparency of financial instruments recorded at fair value
 Trading assets and liabilities
 Money market instruments
 Trading securities
 Derivatives
 Other trading assets
 Investment securities
 Other investments
 Provisions from the insurance business
 Future policyholder benefits
 Provisions for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

3



 Deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC)
 Present value of future profits (PVFP)
 Contingencies and loss provisions
 Litigation contingencies
 Allowances and provisions for losses
 Inherent loan loss allowance
 Specific loan loss allowances
 Goodwill impairments
 Income taxes
 Deferred tax valuation allowances
 Tax contingencies
 Pension plans
 Off-balance sheet arrangements
 Guarantees
 Retained or contingent interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated entities
 Variable interest entities
 Contractual obligations and other commercial commitments
 Derivatives
 Freestanding derivatives
 Swaps
 Options
 Forwards and futures
 Risk management
 Economic hedges
 Fair value hedges
 Cash flow hedges
 Net investment hedges
 Over-the-counter derivatives
 Related party transactions
 Recently issued accounting standards
 Liquidity and capital resources
 Credit Suisse Group consolidated and Credit Suisse Group legal entity
 Organization
 Funding sources and strategy
 At the Credit Suisse Group consolidated level
 At the Credit Suisse Group legal entity level
 Factors that may affect liquidity and capital resources
 Credit ratings
 Capital resources and capital adequacy
 Contractual cash obligations and other commercial commitments
 Credit Suisse legal entity
 Organization
 Liquidity management
 Funding sources and strategy
 Funding activity highlights
 Credit ratings
 Capital resources and capital adequacy
 Winterthur legal entity
 Organization
 Liquidity management
 Funding sources and strategy

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

4



 Credit ratings
 Solvency and capital adequacy
 Information required by Industry Guide 3
 Selected statistical information
 Average balances and interest rates
 Analysis of changes in net interest income
 Deposits
 Short-term borrowings
 Investment portfolio
 Investment strategy
 Loan portfolio
 Non-performing loans
 Potential problem loans
 Restructured loans
 Cross-border outstandings
 Item 6: Directors, senior management and employees
 Item 7: Major shareholders and related party transactions
 Item 8: Financial information
 Consolidated financial statements
 Legal proceedings
 World War II settlement
 XL insurance claims
 South Africa litigation
 Litigation relating to IPO allocation
 Research-related litigation
 Enron-related litigation and inquiries
 NCFE-related litigation
 Refco-related litigation
 Parmalat-related legal proceedings
 Dividend policy
 Item 9: The offer and listing
 Listing details
 Trading in our own shares
 Item 10: Additional information
 Articles of association
 Registration and business purpose
 Directors
 Dividends
 Pre-emptive subscription rights
 Repurchase of shares
 Notices
 Liquidation and merger
 Disclosure of principal shareholders
 Exchange controls
 Indemnification
 American Depositary Shares
 Taxation
 Swiss taxation
 Withholding tax on dividends and similar distributions
 Swiss resident recipients
 Non-resident recipients

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

5



 Residents of the United States
 Income and profit tax on dividends and similar distributions
 Individuals
 Legal entities
 Non-resident recipients
 Capital gains tax realized on shares
 Individuals
 Legal entities
 Non-resident individuals and legal entities
 Net worth and capital taxes
 Individuals
 Legal entities
 Non-resident individuals and legal entities
 Stamp duties upon transfer of securities
 United States federal income tax
 Taxation of dividends
 US Holders
 Non-US Holders
 Capital gains tax upon disposal of shares
 US Holders
 Non-US Holders
 Backup withholding tax and information reporting requirements
 Item 11: Quantitative disclosure about market risk
 Item 15: Controls and procedures
 Disclosure controls and procedures
 Item 16A: Audit committee financial expert
 Item 16B: Code of ethics
 Item 16C: Principal accountant fees and services
 Item 16E: Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers
 Item 18: Consolidated financial statements
 Item 19: Exhibits
 No. Exhibit title
 Signatures
 Exhibit 10.1
 Consent of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm to the Board of Directors of Credit Suisse Group, Zurich
 Exhibit 10.2
Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm to the Board of Directors of Credit Suisse Group, Zurich
 Exhibit 12.1
 Exhibit 12.2
 Exhibit 13.1
Annual Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes - Oxley Act of 2002
 Schedule I
 Schedule III
 Schedule IV
 Credit Suisse Group annual report
 Message from the Chairman
 Message from the Chief Executive Officer
 Information on the company
 Credit Suisse Group
 Credit Suisse Group history and structure
 Overview

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

6



 Banking business
 Private Banking
 Corporate & Retail Banking
 Institutional Securities
 Wealth & Asset Management
 Insurance business
 Life & Pensions
 Non-Life
 Corporate Center
 Acquisitions and divestitures
 Organizational changes in 2006
 Integration of the banking business
 New organization
 Banking business
 Shared Services
 Regional structure
 Strategy
 Increasing our global reach
 Investment Banking
 Private Banking
 Wealth Management
 Corporate & Retail Banking
 Asset Management
 Private Banking
 Overview
 Products and services
 Marketing and distribution
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Corporate & Retail Banking
 Overview
 Products and services
 Marketing and distribution
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Institutional Securities
 Overview
 Products and services
 Trading
 Investment Banking
 Other
 Global Investment Research
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Wealth & Asset Management
 Overview
 Products and services
 Asset management and advisory services

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

7



 Funds
 Alternative Capital
 Private Client Services
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Life & Pensions
 Overview
 Products and services
 Marketing and distribution
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Non-Life
 Overview
 Products and services
 Marketing and distribution
 Operating environment and competition
 Operating environment
 Competition
 Operating and financial review
 Overview
 Factors affecting results of operations
 Credit Suisse Group structure
 Credit Suisse Group management
 Summary of Group results
 Credit Suisse Group
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Net revenues
 Total benefits, claims and credit losses
 Total operating expenses
 Income tax expense
 Minority interests
 Net new assets and assets under management
 Further guidance on accounting for share-based awards
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Net revenues
 Total benefits, claims and credit losses
 Total operating expenses
 Income tax expense
 Loss contingencies
 Net new assets and assets under management
 Private Banking
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Corporate & Retail Banking
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Institutional Securities
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

8



 Wealth & Asset Management
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Life & Pensions
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Non-Life
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Investments for Life & Pensions and Non-Life
 Corporate Center
 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
 Risk management
 Overview
 Risk management principles
 Risk management oversight
 Risk management oversight at the Board level
 Risk management oversight at the Group management level
 Risk management oversight at the Credit Suisse and Winterthur management levels as of January 1, 2006
 Credit Suisse risk management committees
 Winterthur risk management committees
 Risk categories
 Risk limits
 Economic Risk Capital
 Introduction
 Concept
 Applications
 Key position risk trends 2005
 Market risk
 Overview
 Value-at-Risk
 Assumptions
 Limitations
 Scenario analysis
 Assumptions
 Limitations
 Trading portfolios
 Risk measurement and management
 Development of trading portfolio risks
 VaR results and distribution of trading revenues
 Non-trading portfolios
 Risk measurement and management
 Development of non-trading portfolio risks
 Credit risk for the banking businesses
 Definition of credit risk
 Credit risk management approach
 Loans
 Risk mitigation
 Loss given default
 Non-performing loans

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

9



 Potential problem loans
 Credit provisions
 Loan valuation allowances and provisions for inherent credit losses
 Summary of loan valuation allowance experience
 Insurance risk
 Introduction
 Risk structure in the insurance business
 Non-Life
 Life
 Reinsurance
 Expense risk
 Liquidity and funding risk
 Operational risk
 Legal risk
 Reputational risk
 FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 Consolidated financial statements
 Consolidated statements of income
 Consolidated balance sheets
 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
 Comprehensive income
 Consolidated statements of cash flows
 Consolidated statements of cash flows – continued
 Notes to the consolidated financial statements
 1 Summary of significant accounting policies
 Principles of consolidation
 Foreign currency translation
 Cash and cash equivalents
 Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements
 Securities lending and borrowing (SLB) transactions
 Trading assets and liabilities
 Derivatives
 Investment securities
 Other investments
 Loans
 Loans held-to-maturity
 Allowance for loan losses on loans held-to-maturity
 Loans held-for-sale
 Purchased impaired loans
 Premises and equipment
 Goodwill and other intangible assets
 Present value of future profits
 Recognition of impairment losses on tangible fixed assets and other intangible assets
 Income taxes
 Assets and liabilities held for separate accounts
 Other assets
 Derivative instruments used for hedging
 Deferred policy acquisition costs
 Life settlement contracts
 Reinsurance recoverables
 Provisions from the insurance business

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

10



 Provision for future policyholder benefits
 Provision for unearned revenue liability
 Provision for death and other benefits
 Provision for future dividends to policyholders
 Provision for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
 Reinsurance
 Other liabilities
 Guarantees
 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
 Share-based compensation
 Own shares and own bonds
 Net interest income
 Commissions and fees
 Insurance net premiums earned and other revenues from business classified as deposit accounting
 2 Recently issued accounting standards
 Recently adopted accounting standards
 Consolidation
 Share-based compensation
 Loans
 Investment securities
 Derivatives
 Pensions
 Classification of liabilities and equity
 Asset retirement obligations
 Insurance
 Standards to be adopted in future periods
 3 Business developments and subsequent events
 Divestitures
 Subsequent events
 4 Discontinued operations
 5 Segment information
 Overview
 Inter-segment revenue sharing and cost allocation
 Taxes
 Segment reporting by geographic location
 6 Interest and dividend income and interest expense
 7 Trading activities
 8 Noninterest revenues and expenses
 9 Insurance premiums, claims and related reinsurance
 Reinsurance
 Life & Pensions reinsurance
 Non-Life reinsurance
 10 Securities borrowed, lent and subject to repurchase agreements
 11 Investment securities
 12 Other investments
 13 Loans
 14 Premises and equipment
 15 Goodwill
 16 Other intangible assets
 17 Present value of future profits
 18 Other assets

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

11



 19 Deferred policy acquisition costs
 20 Deposits
 21 Provisions from the insurance business
 22 Provisions for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses from the non-life insurance business
 Life contracts with guarantees
 23 Participating policies of the insurance businesses
 24 Long-term debt
 25 Other liabilities
 26 Restructuring liabilities
 27 Accumulated other comprehensive income
 28 Earnings per share
 29 Income taxes
 30 Employee share-based compensation and other benefits
 Share-based compensation
 Fair value assumptions for share-based payments
 Other benefits
 31 Related parties
 Compensation to and equity holdings of members of the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board Committee
 Governance
 Compensation to and equity holdings of members of the Board of Directors
 Additional fees and remuneration
 2005 total compensation of the Chairman of the Board of Directors
 Executive compensation policies
 Components of total compensation
 Salary
 Performance bonus
 Share-based compensation
 Additional fees and remuneration
 Loans to members of the Board of Directors and the Group Executive Board Committee
 Other information
 Liabilities due to own pension funds
 32 Pension and other post-retirement benefits
 Swiss pension plans
 International pension plans
 Other post-retirement defined benefit plans
 Defined benefit pension and other post-retirement defined benefit plans
 Assumptions
 Plan assets and investment strategy
 Estimated future benefit payments for defined benefit pension and other post-retirement defined benefit plans
 Defined contribution pension plans
 33 Derivatives and hedging activities
 Trading activities
 Economic hedges
 Hedge accounting
 Fair value hedges
 Cash flow hedges
 Net investment hedges
 Hedge effectiveness assessment
 34 Guarantees and commitments
 Guarantees
 Disposal-related contingencies and other indemnifications

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

12



 Disposal-related contingencies
 Other indemnifications
 Lease commitments
 Other commitments
 35 Securitization activity
 36 Variable interest entities
 Collateralized debt obligations
 Commercial paper conduits
 Financial intermediation
 37 Concentrations of credit risk
 38 Fair value of financial instruments
 39 Assets pledged or assigned
 40 Capital adequacy
 Banking businesses
 Broker-dealer operations
 Insurance business
 Dividend restrictions
 41 Assets under management
 42 Litigation and other contingencies
 43 Significant subsidiaries and associates
 Significant subsidiaries
 Significant associates (Value according to the Equity Method)
 44 Significant valuation and income recognition differences between US GAAP and Swiss GAAP (true and fair view)
 Scope of consolidation
 Discontinued operations
 Real estate held for investment
 Investments in securities
 Available-for-sale securities
 Impairments on held-to-maturity securities
 Trading positions
 Investments in precious metals
 Bifurcation of precious metal loans
 Intangible assets, including goodwill
 Intangible assets with indefinite lives
 Goodwill amortization
 Pensions and post-retirements benefits
 Reserves for general banking risks
 45 Credit Suisse Group, Parent Company
 Condensed statements of income
 Condensed balance sheets
 Condensed statements of cash flow
 Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm to the General Meeting of Credit Suisse Group, Zurich
 Parent company Financial Statements
 Balance sheet before appropriation of retained earnings
 Proposed appropriation of retained earnings
 Report of the Capital Increase Auditors to the Board of Directors of Credit Suisse Group, Zurich, on Conditional Capital Increase
 Report of the Statutory Auditors to the General Meeting of Credit Suisse Group, Zurich
 Corporate governance
 Introduction
 The importance of corporate governance
 Complying with rules and regulations

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

13



 Corporate governance framework
 Company
 Major shareholders
 Capital structure
 Board of Directors
 Membership and qualifications
 Independence
 Meetings
 Chairman of the Board
 Board responsibilities
 Board Committees
 Chairman’s and Governance Committee
 Audit Committee
 Compensation Committee
 Risk Committee
 Members of the Board of Directors and the Committees
 Honorary Chairman of Credit Suisse Group
 Secretaries of the Board of Directors
 Changes in the Board of Directors
 Management
 Group Executive Board Committee and Group Executive Board (as of December 31, 2005)
 Members of the Group Executive Board Committee
 Members of the Group Executive Board
 Group Executive Board and Executive Board of Credit Suisse (as of January 1, 2006)
 Executive Boards of Credit Suisse Group and Credit Suisse
 Advisory Board of Credit Suisse Group
 Compensation
 Core compensation principles
 Performance based
 Value oriented
 Market driven
 Shareholder aligned
 Compensation elements
 Fixed compensation
 Variable compensation
 Metrics
 The Company
 The division and/or department
 The individual employee
 Shareholders
 Voting rights, transfer of shares
 Annual General Meeting
 Changes of control and defense measures
 Duty to make an offer
 Clauses on changes of control
 Internal and external auditors
 Internal Audit
 External auditors
 Employees
 Information policy
 Main offices

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

14



 Credit Suisse Group
 Credit Suisse
 Credit Suisse
 Credit Suisse
 Credit Suisse
 Winterthur Group
 Credit Suisse
 Enquiries
 Impressum
 Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information

 Definitions

 For the purposes of this Form 20-F, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “we,” “us,” “our” and “the Group” mean
Credit Suisse Group and its consolidated subsidiaries.

 Sources

 Throughout this Form 20-F, we describe the position and ranking of our various businesses in certain industry and
geographic markets. The sources for such descriptions come from a variety of conventional publications generally
accepted as relevant business indicators by members of the financial services industry. These sources include:
Standard & Poor’s, Standard & Poor’s Europe Insurance Market Profile, Thomson Financial, Dealogic, the Loan
Pricing Corporation, Institutional Investor, Lipper, Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch Ratings.

 Accounting basis and reporting currency

 Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (US GAAP).

 Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in Swiss francs, or CHF. For your convenience, we have
translated certain amounts referred to in this Form 20-F from Swiss francs into US dollars, or USD, at the rate of CHF
1.00 = USD 0.7606, which was the noon buying rate for Swiss francs on December 30, 2005, in New York City as
certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. You should not construe this convenience translation as a
representation that the Swiss franc amounts actually denote the corresponding US dollar amounts or could be
converted into US dollars at the indicated rate. The assumed rate also differs from the rates used in the preparation of
the financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of operations and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005.

 Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information

 This Form 20-F contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act. In addition, in the future we, and others on our behalf, may make statements that
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constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements
relating to the following:

 – Our plans, objectives or goals;

 – Our future economic performance or prospects;

 – The potential effect on our future performance of certain contingencies; and

 – Assumptions underlying any such statements.

 Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends” and “plans” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. We do not intend to update
these forward-looking statements except as may be required by applicable securities laws.

 By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and specific,
and risks exist that predictions, forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or implied in forward-looking
statements will not be achieved. We caution you that a number of important factors could cause results to differ
materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-looking
statements. These factors include:

 – Market and interest rate fluctuations;

 – The strength of the global economy in general and the strength of the economies of the countries in which we
conduct our operations in particular;

 – The ability of counterparties to meet their obligations to us;

 – The effects of, and changes in, fiscal, monetary, trade and tax policies, and currency fluctuations;

 – Political and social developments, including war, civil unrest or terrorist activity;

 – The possibility of foreign exchange controls, expropriation, nationalization or confiscation of assets in countries in
which we conduct our operations;

 – The ability to maintain sufficient liquidity and access capital markets;

 – Operational factors such as systems failure, human error, or the failure to implement procedures properly;

 – Actions taken by regulators with respect to our business and practices in one or more of the countries in which we
conduct our operations;

 – The effects of changes in laws, regulations or accounting policies or practices;

 – Competition in geographic and business areas in which we conduct our operations;

 – The ability to retain and recruit qualified personnel;

 – The ability to maintain our reputation and promote our brand;

 – The ability to increase market share and control expenses;
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 – Technological changes;

 – The timely development and acceptance of our new products and services and the perceived overall value of these
products and services by users;

 – Acquisitions, including the ability to integrate acquired businesses successfully, and divestitures, including the
ability to sell non-core assets and businesses;

 – The adverse resolution of litigation and other contingencies; and

 – Our success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing.

 We caution you that the foregoing list of important factors is not exclusive. When evaluating forward-looking
statements, you should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events, as well as the
information set forth in Item 3 – Key Information – Risk factors.

 Item 3: Key information

 Selected financial data

 Credit Suisse Group is a global financial services company domiciled in Switzerland. In 2005, the Group’s activities
were operated and managed in six segments. The information in this Annual Report, including the operating and
financial review, reflects this operational and management structure.

 Effective January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse Group aligned its organizational structure to its new strategic orientation,
which is to focus on banking and to hold its insurance business as a financial investment.

 In its banking business, the Group launched a key strategic initiative in December 2004 to form a fully integrated
bank, with three segments: Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. These changes reflect the
increasingly complex needs and global orientation of Credit Suisse’s clients, who require sophisticated, integrated
solutions and access to a broad spectrum of products and services. They also reflect the changes in the way Credit
Suisse operates as a bank as a result of globalization and new technologies, and the growing competitive pressure in
the industry.

 As an integrated bank, Credit Suisse is committed to delivering its combined experience and expertise to clients by
drawing on its tradition of innovation across businesses and regions. With global divisions dedicated to investment
banking, private banking and asset management, Credit Suisse can now better provide more comprehensive solutions
for its clients, create synergies for revenue growth, increase efficiencies and grow shareholder value. The new regional
structure enables Credit Suisse to leverage its resources and to develop cross-divisional strategies that span the
Americas, Asia Pacific, Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) and Switzerland.

 The integration of the banking business began with the legal merger of the two Swiss banks, Credit Suisse and Credit
Suisse First Boston, on May 13, 2005.

 The newly integrated global bank was launched on January 1, 2006. It operates under a single Credit Suisse brand.
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The brand names Credit Suisse First Boston and Credit Suisse Asset Management are no longer used.

 This Form 20-F has been prepared on the basis of the structure in place for the year ended December 31, 2005. For
further information, refer to Item 4 – Information on the Company.

The following table shows the Group's condensed consolidated statements of income for the five
most recent years:
in CHF m, except where indicated 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net revenues 60,632 55,139 52,515 47,319 60,126

Total benefits, claims and credit losses 23,429 22,373 24,784 22,208 23,570
Total operating expenses 27,954 24,534 26,055 29,400 37,321

Income/(loss) from continuing
operations before taxes, minority
interests, extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting
changes 9,249 8,232 1,676 (4,289) (765)

Income tax expenses/(benefit) 1,356 1,421 (11) (127) (207)
Minority interests (including dividends
on preferred securities) 2,030 1,127 102 (60) 242

Income/(loss) from continuing
operations before extraordinary items
and cumulative effect of accounting
changes 5,863 5,684 1,585 (4,102) (800)

Income/(loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax (27) (50) (256) (424) 18
Extraordinary items, net of tax 0 0 7 18 0
Cumulative effect of accounting changes,
net of tax 14 (6) (566) 60 123

Net income/(loss) 5,850 5,628 770 (4,448) (659)

Basic earnings per share, in CHF
Income/(loss) from continuing operations
before extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes 5.18 4.85 1.34 (3.55) (0.71)
Net income/(loss) 5.17 4.80 0.64 (3.85) (0.58)

Diluted earnings per share, in CHF
Income/(loss) from continuing operations
before extraordinary items and
cumulative effect of accounting changes 5.03 4.79 1.32 (3.55) (0.71)
Net income/(loss) 5.02 4.75 0.63 (3.85) (0.58)

Dividends/repayment of capital 2.001) 1.50 0.50 0.10 2.00

Return on assets 0.5% 0.5% 0.1% (0.4%) (0.1%)
Return on equity 15.4% 15.9% 2.2% (11.4%) (1.4%)
Dividend payout ratio 38.7% 31.3% n/a (2.6%) n/a
Equity to asset ratio in % 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.3% 3.9%
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1) Proposal of the Board of Directors to the Annual General Meeting on April 28, 2006.          

The following table shows selected information of the Group for the five most recent years:
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Assets under management in
CHF bn 1,484.3 1,220.7 1,181.1 1,138.6 1,430.61)

Consolidated balance sheet in
CHF m
Total assets 1,339,052 1,089,485 1,004,308 1,027,158 1,135,109
Common shares 624 607 1,195 1,190 3,590
Total shareholders' equity 42,118 36,273 33,991 34,178 44,061

Consolidated BIS capital
ratios 2)
Risk-weighted assets in CHF m 232,891 199,249 190,761 196,486 222,874
Tier 1 ratio in % 11.3 12.3 11.7 9.0 9.5
Total capital ratio in % 13.7 16.6 17.4 14.4 15.7

Number of employees
(full-time equivalents) 63,523 60,532 60,477 78,457 80,161

Number of shares outstanding 1,125,360,183 1,110,819,481 1,130,362,948 1,116,058,305 1,120,723,235
1) Not adjusted to reflect the current presentation.          
2) All calculations through December 31, 2003, are on the basis of Swiss GAAP.          

 Exchange rate information

The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, certain information concerning the noon
buying rate for the Swiss franc expressed as USD per CHF 1.00:
Year Period end Average1) High Low

2001 0.6025 0.5910 0.6331 0.5495
2002 0.7229 0.6481 0.7229 0.5817
2003 0.8078 0.7484 0.8078 0.7052
2004 0.8763 0.8082 0.8820 0.7575
2005 0.7606 0.8010 0.8721 0.7544
1) The average of the noon buying rates on the last business day of each month during the relevant
period.        

Month High Low

March 2006 (through March, 17) 0.7756 0.7575
February 2006 0.7788 0.7575
January 2006 0.7940 0.7729
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December 2005 0.7820 0.7570
November 2005 0.7825 0.7544
October 2005 0.7855 0.7679
September 2005 0.8139 0.7712

 Risk factors

 Our businesses are exposed to a variety of risks that could adversely affect our results of operations or financial
condition, including, among others, those described below.

 Market risk

 We may incur significant losses on our trading and investment activities due to market fluctuations and volatility
 We maintain large trading and investment positions and hedges in the debt, currency, commodity and equity markets,
and in private equity, real estate and other assets. These positions could be adversely affected by volatility in financial
and other markets, that is, the degree to which prices fluctuate over a particular period in a particular market,
regardless of market levels. To the extent that we own assets, or have net long positions, in any of those markets, a
downturn in those markets could result in losses from a decline in the value of our net long positions. Conversely, to
the extent that we have sold assets that we do not own, or have net short positions, in any of those markets, an upturn
in those markets could expose us to potentially significant losses as we attempt to cover our net short positions by
acquiring assets in a rising market.

 We have risk management techniques and policies designed to manage our market risk. These techniques and
policies, however, may not be effective. For information on management of market risk, refer to Risk Management –
Market risk in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Adverse market or economic conditions may cause a decline in net revenues
 As a global financial services company, our businesses are materially affected by conditions in the financial markets
and economic conditions generally in Europe, the US and elsewhere around the world. Adverse market or economic
conditions could create a challenging operating environment for financial services companies. In particular, the impact
of oil prices, interest rates and the risk of geopolitical events could materially affect financial markets and the
economy. Movements in interest rates could affect our net interest income and the value of our trading and
non-trading fixed income portfolios, and movements in equity markets could affect the value of our trading and
non-trading equity portfolios.

 Future terrorist attacks, military conflicts and economic or political sanctions could have a material adverse effect on
economic and market conditions, market volatility and financial activity.

 Private banking, corporate and retail banking, asset management and insurance businesses
 Unfavorable market or economic conditions could affect our private banking, corporate and retail banking, asset
management and insurance businesses by reducing sales of our investment and insurance products and the volume of
our asset management activities. In addition, a market downturn could reduce our commission income and fee income
that is based on the value of our clients’ portfolios.
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 Investment banking business
 Adverse market or economic conditions could reduce the number and size of investment banking transactions in
which we provide underwriting, mergers and acquisitions advice or other services and, therefore, adversely affect our
financial advisory and underwriting fees. Such conditions could also lead to a decline in the volume of securities
trades that we execute for customers and, therefore, adversely affect the net revenues we receive from commissions
and spreads.

 Alternative Capital business
 Adverse market or economic conditions could negatively affect our private equity investments since, if a private
equity investment substantially declines in value, we may not receive any increased share of the income and gains
from such investment (to which we are entitled in certain cases when the return on such investment exceeds certain
threshold returns), may be obligated to return to investors previously received excess carried interest payments and
may lose our pro rata share of the capital invested. In addition, it could become more difficult to dispose of the
investment, as even investments that are performing well may prove difficult to exit in weak initial public offering
markets.

 In addition, we are exposed to market risk through our proprietary investments in hedge funds.

 We may incur significant losses in the real estate sector
 We finance and acquire principal positions in a number of real estate and real estate-related products, both for our
own account and for major participants in the commercial and residential real estate markets, and originate loans
secured by commercial and residential properties. We also securitize and trade in a wide range of commercial and
residential real estate and real estate-related whole loans, mortgages, and other real estate and commercial assets and
products, including residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities. These businesses could be adversely
affected by a downturn in the real estate sector.

 Our revenues may decline in line with declines in certain sectors
 Decreasing economic growth in a sector, such as the technology and telecommunications sectors, in which we make
significant commitments, for example through underwriting or advisory services, could negatively affect net revenues
of our investment banking business.

 Holding large and concentrated positions may expose us to large losses
 Concentrations of risk could increase losses at our private banking, corporate and retail banking, investment banking
and insurance businesses, which may have sizeable loans to and securities holdings in certain customers or industries.
We maintain a system of risk limits designed to control concentration risks. These controls, however, may not be
effective.

 Our hedging strategies may not prevent losses
 If any of the variety of instruments and strategies we use to hedge our exposure to various types of risk in our
businesses is not effective, we may incur losses. We may only be partially hedged, or these strategies may not be fully
effective in mitigating our risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risk. In addition, gains and
losses resulting from certain ineffective hedges may result in volatility in our reported earnings.
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 Market risk may increase the other risks that we face
 In addition to the potentially adverse effects on our businesses described above, market risk could exacerbate the
other risks that we face. For example, if we were to incur substantial trading losses, our need for liquidity could rise
sharply while access to liquidity could be impaired. In conjunction with a market downturn, our customers and
counterparties could also incur substantial losses of their own, thereby weakening their financial condition and
increasing our credit risk to them.

 Credit risk

 We may suffer significant losses from our credit exposures
 Our businesses are subject to the risk that borrowers and other counterparties will be unable to perform their
obligations. Credit exposures exist within lending relationships, commitments and letters of credit, as well as
derivative, foreign exchange and other transactions. For information on management of credit risk, refer to Risk
management – Credit risk for the banking businesses in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Banking businesses
 Our banking businesses establish provisions for loan losses at a level deemed appropriate by management.
Management’s determination of the provision for loan losses is subject to significant judgment, and our banking
businesses may need to increase their provisions for loan losses or may record losses in excess of the previously
determined provisions, and this could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. For information on
provisions for loan losses and related risk mitigation, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects –
Critical accounting policies – Contingencies and loss provisions, and Risk management – Credit risk for the banking
businesses in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Investment banking business
 In recent years, our investment banking business has significantly expanded its use of swaps and other derivatives. As
a result, our credit exposures have increased and may continue to increase in amount and duration. In addition, we
have experienced, due to competitive factors, pressure to assume longer-term credit risk, to extend credit against less
liquid collateral and to price derivative instruments more aggressively based on the credit risks that we take. An
increase in our investment bank’s provisions for credit losses, or any credit losses in excess of related provisions, could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

 Insurance businesses
 We transfer a portion of our exposure to insurance risks through reinsurance arrangements. Under these
arrangements, other insurers assume a portion of our losses and expenses associated with reported and unreported
losses in exchange for premiums, but we are not discharged from our legal duty to pay claims on reinsured policies.
Therefore, the inability of our reinsurers to meet their financial obligations could have an adverse effect on our results
of operations. For further information relating to our reinsurance arrangements, refer to Risk management – Insurance
risk – Risk structure in the insurance business in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Defaults by a large financial institution could adversely affect financial markets generally and us specifically
 Concerns about, or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other
institutions because the commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely related as a result of
credit, trading, clearing or other relationships between institutions. This risk is sometimes referred to as “systemic risk”
and may adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearinghouses, banks, securities firms
and exchanges with which we interact on a daily basis, and could adversely affect us.
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 The information that we use to manage our credit risk may be inaccurate or incomplete
 Although we regularly review our credit exposure to specific clients and counterparties and to specific industries,
countries and regions that we believe may present credit concerns, default risk may arise from events or circumstances
that are difficult to foresee or detect, such as fraud. We may also fail to receive full information with respect to the
credit or trading risks of a counterparty.

 Cross border and foreign exchange risk

 Cross border risks may increase market and credit risks we face
 Country, regional and political risks are components of market and credit risk. Financial markets and economic
conditions generally have been and may be materially affected by such risks. Economic or political pressures in a
country or region, including those arising from local market disruptions, currency crises and monetary controls, may
adversely affect the ability of clients or counterparties located in that country or region to obtain foreign exchange or
credit and, therefore, to perform their obligations to us, which in turn may have an adverse impact on our results of
operations.

 We may face significant losses in emerging markets
 As a global financial services company, we are exposed to economic instability in emerging market countries. We
monitor these risks, seek diversity in the sectors in which we invest and emphasize customer-driven business. Our
efforts at containing emerging market risk, however, may not succeed.

 Currency fluctuations may adversely affect our results of operations
 We are exposed to risk from fluctuations in exchange rates for currencies. In particular, a substantial portion of our
assets and liabilities in our investment banking, asset management and insurance businesses are denominated in
currencies other than the Swiss franc, which is the primary currency of our financial reporting. Exchange rate
volatility may have an adverse impact on our results of operations.

 Insurance underwriting risk
 Underwriting risk represents the exposure to loss resulting when actual policy experience differs from the
assumptions made in product pricing. These assumptions include mortality, morbidity, surrender rates and expenses
on life insurance products and claim frequency and severity on non-life insurance products. Earnings in our insurance
businesses depend significantly on the assumptions made in pricing insurance products and establishing the liabilities
for future benefits and claims to be paid and may be adversely affected if policy experience differs significantly from
the assumptions we make.

 In our Non-Life business, our efforts to protect ourselves against catastrophe losses, through selective underwriting,
reinsurance and monitoring of risk, may not be effective.

 For information relating to insurance underwriting risk, refer to Risk management – Insurance risk in the Credit Suisse
Group Annual Report 2005.

 Liquidity risk

 Our liquidity could be impaired if we could not access the capital markets or sell our assets
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 Liquidity, or ready access to funds, is essential to our businesses, particularly our investment banking business, which
depend on continuous access to the debt capital and money markets to finance day-to-day operations. An inability to
obtain financing in the unsecured long-term or short-term debt capital markets, or to access the secured lending
markets, could have a substantial adverse effect on our liquidity. In a time of reduced liquidity, we may be unable to
sell some of our assets, or we may need to sell assets at depressed prices, which in either case could adversely affect
our results of operations and financial condition.

 Our banking businesses may face asset-liability mismatches
 Our banking businesses meet most of their funding requirements using short-term funding sources, including
primarily deposits, inter-bank loans, time deposits and cash bonds. However, we have assets with medium- or
long-term maturities, creating a potential for funding mismatches. Although a substantial number of depositors have,
in the past, rolled over their deposited funds upon maturity and deposits have been, over time, a stable source of
funding, this may not continue to occur. In that case, our liquidity position could be adversely affected and we might
be unable to meet deposit withdrawals on demand or at their contractual maturity, to repay borrowings as they mature
or to fund new loans, investments and businesses. For further information relating to the assets and liabilities of our
banking businesses, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – Information required by Industry
Guide 3 – Selected statistical information – Investment portfolios – Deposits and – Short-term borrowings.

 Our insurance businesses may face liquidity problems
 In the case of catastrophe losses, we may need to sell substantially more liquid investment assets than planned, which
may cause us to realize a loss on those investments. In addition, our insurance businesses face a risk of asset and
liability mismatches arising from our investment activities. Premiums are paid earlier than claims are settled and these
funds must be invested in a manner that allows cash outflows at the appropriate time to meet liabilities, or it could
affect our results of operations and financial condition. For information relating to the investments of our insurance
businesses, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.

 Changes in our ratings may adversely affect our business
 Reductions in our assigned ratings, including in particular our credit ratings, could increase our borrowing costs, limit
our access to capital markets and adversely affect the ability of our businesses to sell or market their products, engage
in business transactions – particularly longer-term and derivatives transactions – and retain their customers. Ratings are
assigned by rating agencies, which may reduce, indicate their intention to reduce or withdraw the ratings at any time.
For more information relating to our credit ratings, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects –
Liquidity and capital resources.

 Operational risk

 We are exposed to a wide variety of operational risks
 Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. In general, our businesses face a wide variety of operational risks, including technology risk that
stems from dependencies on information technology and the telecommunications infrastructure and business
disruption, including the infrastructure supporting our businesses and/or the areas where our businesses or third-party
suppliers are situated. As a global financial services company, we rely heavily on our financial, accounting and other
data processing systems, which are varied and complex. If any of these systems does not operate properly or is
disabled, including as a result of terrorist attacks or other unforeseeable events, we could suffer financial loss, a
disruption of our businesses, liability to our clients, regulatory intervention or reputational damage.
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 We may suffer losses due to employee misconduct
 Our businesses are exposed to risk from potential non-compliance with policies, employee misconduct and fraud,
which could result in regulatory sanction and serious reputational or financial harm. It is not always possible to deter
employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to prevent and detect this activity may not be effective.

 Legal and regulatory risks

 Our exposure to legal liability is significant
 We face significant legal risks in our businesses, and the volume and amount of damages claimed in litigation,
regulatory proceedings and other adversarial proceedings against financial services firms are increasing.

 We and our subsidiaries are subject to a number of material legal proceedings, regulatory actions and investigations,
and an adverse result in one or more of these proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our operating results
for any particular period, depending, in part, upon our results for such period. For information relating to these and
other legal and regulatory proceedings involving our investment banking and other businesses, refer to Item 8 –
Financial Information – Legal proceedings.

 It is inherently difficult to predict the outcome of many of the legal, regulatory and other adversarial proceedings
involving our businesses, particularly those cases in which the matters are brought on behalf of various classes of
claimants, seek damages of unspecified or indeterminate amounts or involve novel legal claims. For information on
management’s judgments in relation to estimating losses and taking charges for legal, regulatory and arbitration
proceedings, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – Critical accounting policies.

 Extensive regulation of our businesses limits our activities and may subject us to significant penalties
 As a participant in the financial services industry, we are subject to extensive regulation by governmental agencies,
supervisory authorities, and self-regulatory organizations in Switzerland, Europe, the US and virtually all other
jurisdictions in which we operate around the world. Such regulation is becoming increasingly more extensive and
complex. These regulations often serve to limit our activities, including through net capital, customer protection and
market conduct requirements, and restrictions on the businesses in which we may operate or invest. Despite our best
efforts to comply with applicable regulations, there are a number of risks, particularly in areas where applicable
regulations may be unclear or where regulators revise their previous guidance or courts overturn previous rulings.
Authorities in many jurisdictions have the power to bring administrative or judicial proceedings against us, which
could result, among other things, in suspension or revocation of our licenses, cease and desist orders, fines, civil
penalties, criminal penalties or other disciplinary action which could materially adversely affect our results of
operations and seriously harm our reputation.

 Changes in laws, rules or regulations, or in their interpretation or enforcement, may adversely affect our results of
operations and capital requirements.

 For a description of our regulatory regime and capital requirements, refer to Item 4 – Information on the Company –
Regulation and supervision.

 Legal restrictions on our clients may reduce the demand for our services
 We may be materially affected not only by regulations applicable to us as a financial services company, but also by
regulations of general application. For example, the volume of our businesses in any one year could be affected by,
among other things, existing and proposed tax legislation, antitrust and competition policies, corporate governance
initiatives and other governmental regulations and policies and changes in the interpretation or enforcement of
existing laws and rules that affect business and the financial markets.
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 Competition

 We face increased competition due to consolidation and new entrants
 We face intense competition in all financial services markets and for the products and services we offer.
Consolidation, through mergers and acquisitions, alliances and cooperation, is increasing competition. Competition is
based on many factors, including the products and services offered, pricing, distribution systems, customer service,
brand recognition, perceived financial strength and the willingness to use capital to serve client needs. Consolidation
has created a number of firms that, like us, have the ability to offer a wide range of products, from insurance, loans
and deposit-taking to brokerage, investment banking and asset management services. Some of these firms may be able
to offer a broader range of products than we do, or offer such products at more competitive prices. In addition, new
lower-cost competitors may enter the market, and those competitors may not be subject to capital or regulatory
requirements and may be able to offer their products and services on more favorable terms.

 Our competitive position could be harmed if our reputation is damaged
 In the highly competitive environment arising from globalization and convergence in the financial services industry, a
reputation for financial strength and integrity is critical to our ability to attract and maintain customers. Our reputation
could be harmed if our comprehensive procedures and controls fail, or appear to fail, to address conflicts of interest as
we increase our client base and the scale of our businesses, prevent employee misconduct, produce materially accurate
and complete financial and other information or prevent adverse legal or regulatory actions.

 We must recruit and retain highly skilled employees
 Our performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals. Competition for
qualified employees is intense. We have devoted considerable resources to recruiting, training and compensating
employees. Our continued ability to compete effectively in our businesses depends on our ability to attract new
employees and to retain and motivate our existing employees.

 We face competition from new trading technologies
 Our private banking, investment banking and asset management businesses face competitive challenges from new
trading technologies. Securities and futures transactions are now being conducted through the Internet and other
alternative, non-traditional trading systems, and it appears that the trend toward alternative trading systems will
continue and probably accelerate. A dramatic increase in computer-based or other electronic trading may adversely
affect our commission and trading revenues, exclude our businesses from certain transaction flows, reduce our
participation in the trading markets and the associated access to market information and lead to the creation of new
and stronger competitors. We may also be required to make additional expenditures to develop or invest in new
trading systems or otherwise to invest in technology to maintain our competitive position.

 Financial services businesses that we acquire may not perform well or may prove difficult to integrate into our
existing operations
 Even though we review the records of companies we plan to acquire, it is generally not feasible for us to review in
detail all such records. Even an in-depth review of records may not reveal existing or potential problems or permit us
to become familiar enough with a business to assess fully its capabilities and deficiencies. As a result, we may assume
unanticipated liabilities, or an acquisition may not perform as well as expected. We also face the risk that we will not
be able to integrate acquisitions into our existing operations effectively as a result of, among other things, differing
procedures, business practices and technology systems, as well as difficulties in adapting an acquired company into
our organizational structure. We face the risk that the returns on acquisitions will not support the expenditures or

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

26



indebtedness incurred to acquire such businesses or the capital expenditures needed to develop such businesses.

 Moreover, if we fail to identify attractive businesses to acquire, we may be unable to expand our businesses as
quickly or successfully as our competitors, which could adversely affect our results of operations and reputation.

 We may fail to realize the anticipated revenue growth and cost synergies from the integration of our banking
businesses
 On the basis of our global integrated structure and single banking brand, officially launched on January 1, 2006, we
aim to achieve revenue growth and cost synergies. However, to realize the anticipated benefits from the global
integration, we must successfully combine components of our banking businesses in a manner that permits cost
savings to be achieved while enhancing revenues. For a description of our integrated global bank initiative, refer to
Information on the company – Organizational changes in 2006 in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 We may be unable to sell non-core assets at favorable prices, or at all.
 Our ability to sell non-core assets and businesses, including our insurance business, at a favorable price may be
adversely affected by poor business or market conditions. If we are delayed or precluded from selling our insurance or
other non-core assets, owing to adverse market conditions or otherwise, it may adversely affect our results of
operations and reputation.

 Item 4: Information on the company

 Information related to the business of Credit Suisse Group, the individual business segments and organizational
changes in 2006, is set forth under the caption Information on the company in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report
2005 on pages 9 to 30, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

 Regulation and supervision

 Overview
 The Group’s operations throughout the world are regulated by authorities in each of the jurisdictions in which the
Group has offices, branches and subsidiaries. Central banks and other bank regulators, insurance regulators, financial
services agencies, securities agencies and exchanges and self-regulatory organizations are among the regulatory
authorities that oversee the Group’s banking, investment banking, asset management and insurance businesses.
Changes in the supervisory and regulatory regimes of the countries in which the Group operates will determine to
some degree the Group’s ability to expand into new markets, the services and products that the Group will be able to
offer in those markets and how the Group structures specific operations.

 In recent years, a major focus of international policy and regulation, including in Switzerland, the EU (including the
UK) and the US, has been on combating money laundering and terrorist financing. Applicable regulations impose
obligations to maintain appropriate policies, procedures and controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering
and terrorist financing, including verifying the identity of customers. Failure of the Group and its subsidiaries to
maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing could have serious
legal and reputational consequences.
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 Effective May 13, 2005, the Group merged its two Swiss banks, Credit Suisse and Credit Suisse First Boston, into
one legal entity encompassing the combined operations of both banks under the name Credit Suisse.

 For a more complete description of the organizational changes, refer to Information on the company – Organizational
changes in 2006 in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 The principal regulatory structures that apply to the Group’s operations are discussed below.

 Banking

 Switzerland
 Although Credit Suisse Group is not a bank according to the Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks of
November 8, 1934, as amended (the Bank Law), and its Implementing Ordinance of May 17, 1972, as amended (the
Implementing Ordinance), it is required, pursuant to a Swiss Federal Banking Commission, or SFBC, decree, to
comply with certain requirements for banks, including with respect to capital adequacy, solvency and risk
concentration on a consolidated basis, subject to specific stipulations required by the SFBC. The Group is also subject
to certain of the reporting obligations of Swiss banks. Furthermore, the Group’s banks in Switzerland, including Credit
Suisse, are each regulated by the SFBC on a legal entity basis and, if applicable, on a consolidated basis.

 The Group’s banks in Switzerland operate under banking licenses granted by the SFBC pursuant to the Bank Law and
the Implementing Ordinance. In addition, certain of these banks hold securities dealer licenses granted by the SFBC
pursuant to the Swiss Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading of March 24, 1995, or the Stock
Exchange Act.

 The SFBC is the highest bank supervisory authority in Switzerland and is independent from the Swiss National Bank
(the National Bank). Under the Bank Law, the SFBC is responsible for the supervision of the Swiss banking system
through the issuance of ordinances and circular letters to the banks and securities dealers it oversees. The National
Bank is responsible for implementing the government’s monetary policy relating to banks and securities dealers and
for ensuring the stability of the financial system. It publishes extensive statistical data on a monthly basis.

 Under the Bank Law, a bank’s business is subject to inspection and supervision by an independent auditing firm
licensed by the SFBC. These Bank Law auditors, which are appointed by the bank’s board of directors, are required to
perform annually an audit of the bank’s financial statements and to assess whether the bank is in compliance with the
provisions of the Bank Law, the Implementing Ordinance and SFBC regulations, as well as guidelines for
self-regulation issued by the Swiss Bankers’ Association and other non-governmental organizations.

 Capital requirements
 Under the Bank Law, a bank must maintain an adequate ratio between its capital resources and its total risk-weighted
assets and, as noted above, this requirement applies to the Group on a consolidated basis. For purposes of complying
with Swiss capital requirements, bank regulatory capital is divided into three main categories:

 – Tier 1 capital (core capital);

 – Tier 2 capital (supplementary capital); and

 – Tier 3 capital (additional capital).

 Effective January 1, 2004, the Group calculates its regulatory capital on the basis of US generally accepted
accounting principles, or US GAAP, with certain adjustments required by the SFBC. With these adjustments, the
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Group’s regulatory capital calculation methodology is substantially the same as for prior years.

 The Group is required by the Bank for International Settlements, or BIS, to maintain a minimum regulatory capital
ratio of 8% measured on a consolidated basis, calculated by dividing total eligible capital – adjusted for certain
deductions, including a 100% deduction of the participation value of Winterthur, which is basically identical to
Winterthur’s equity capital (with certain modifications) – by aggregate risk-weighted assets.

 The Basel Committee introduced significant changes to existing international capital adequacy standards. These
changes are known as Basel II. Certain countries, including Switzerland, are currently in the process of modifying
their bank capital and regulatory standards to implement the new standards at the earliest at year-end 2006. The SFBC
formally announced that it intends to implement the new standards subject to a “Swiss finish.” The SFBC will
implement the new standards as of January 2007 for most Swiss banks applying the simpler methodologies of Basel II
and as of January 2008 for large Swiss banks, such as Credit Suisse, applying the advanced methodologies of Basel II.
The Group’s various banking subsidiaries will be required to comply with the new standards, but the Group cannot
predict at this time what the effect of the new regulation will be on its or its subsidiaries’ capital and capital ratios or
results of operations.

 Liquidity requirements
 Banks are required to maintain a specified liquidity ratio under Swiss law. According to the SFBC’s decree, Credit
Suisse Group is only required to maintain adequate levels of liquidity on a consolidated basis within the meaning of
the Implementing Ordinance and it is not required to comply with the detailed calculations for banks.

 Risk concentration
 Under Swiss banking law, banks and securities dealers are required to manage risk concentration within specific,
pre-defined limits. Aggregated credit exposure to any single counterparty or a group of related counterparties must
bear an adequate relationship to the bank’s eligible capital, taking into account counterparty risks and risk mitigation
instruments.

 Confidentiality Requirements
 Under the Bank Law and the Stock Exchange Act, Swiss banks and securities dealers are obligated to keep
confidential the existence and all aspects of their relationships with customers. These customer confidentality laws do
not, however, provide protection with respect to criminal offenses such as insider trading, money laundering, terrorist
financing activities or tax fraud. In particular, Swiss customer confidentality laws do not prevent the disclosure of
information to courts and administrative authorities when banks are asked to testify under applicable federal and
cantonal rules of civil or criminal procedure.

 European Union
 Since it was announced in 1999, the EU’s Financial Services Action Plan, or FSAP, has given rise to numerous
measures (both Directives and Regulations) aimed at increasing integration and harmonization in the European market
for financial services. While Regulations have immediate and direct effect in member states, Directives must be
implemented through national legislation. As a result, the terms of implementation of Directives are not always
consistent from country to country.

 The Capital Requirements Directive will implement the Basel II capital framework, for banking groups operating in
the EU, from January 2007.

 The Financial Conglomerates Directive, adopted in November 2002, applies additional prudential supervision for
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financial services groups that include regulated entities active both in the banking and/or investment services sectors
and in the insurance sector. The UK Financial Services Authority, or FSA, is the Group’s “EU coordinator” and has
determined that the SFBC exercises equivalent consolidated supervision in accordance with the directive.

 United States
 The Group’s operations are subject to extensive federal and state regulation and supervision in the US. The Group’s US
banking offices are composed of a New York branch, or the New York Branch, a US administrative office in Florida
and a representative office in New York. Each of these offices is licensed with, and subject to examination and
regulation by, the state banking authority in the state in which it is located.

 The New York Branch is licensed by the Superintendent of Banks of the State of New York (the Superintendent),
examined by the New York State Banking Department, and subject to laws and regulations applicable to a foreign
bank operating a New York branch. Under the New York Banking Law and related regulations, the New York Branch
must maintain, with banks in the State of New York, eligible high-quality assets in an amount generally equal to 1%
of its assets (up to a maximum of USD 400 million as long as the New York Branch continues to be “well-rated” by the
Superintendent). Should the New York Branch cease to be “well-rated,” the Group may need to maintain substantial
additional amounts of eligible assets. The New York Banking Law also empowers the Superintendent to establish
asset maintenance requirements for branches of foreign banks expressed as a percentage of each branch’s liabilities.
The Superintendent has not imposed such a requirement upon the New York Branch.

 The New York Banking Law authorizes the Superintendent to take possession of the business and property of a
foreign bank’s New York branch under circumstances similar to those that would permit the Superintendent to take
possession of the business and property of a New York state-chartered bank.

 In liquidating or dealing with a branch’s business after taking possession, the Superintendent would only accept for
payment the claims of creditors (unaffiliated with the foreign bank) that arose out of transactions with that branch.
After the claims of those creditors were paid out of the business and property of the bank in the State of New York,
the Superintendent would turn over the remaining assets, if any, to the foreign bank or to its duly appointed liquidator
or receiver.

 In addition, under the New York Banking Law, the New York Branch is generally subject to the same single
borrower lending limits applicable to a New York state-chartered bank. For the New York Branch, those limits, which
are expressed as a percentage of capital, are based on the worldwide capital of Credit Suisse.

 The Group’s operations are also subject to US federal banking laws. Under these laws, branches and agencies of
foreign banks in the US are subject to reporting and examination requirements similar to those imposed on domestic
banks that are owned or controlled by US bank holding companies. Accordingly, the Group’s operations are subject to
examination by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, or the Board, in its capacity as the Group’s US
“umbrella supervisor.” The New York Branch is also subject to examination by the Board. In addition, pursuant to the
Board’s regulations, the New York Branch is subject to reserve requirements on deposits and restrictions on the
payment of interest on demand deposits. Because the New York Branch does not engage in retail deposit taking, it is
not a member of, and its deposits are not insured by, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

 Among other things, US federal banking laws provide that a state-licensed branch or agency of a foreign bank may
not engage in any type of activity that is not permissible for a federally-licensed branch or agency of a foreign bank
unless the Board has determined that such activity is consistent with sound banking practice. US federal banking laws
also subject a state branch or agency to the same single borrower lending limits applicable to national banks and these
limits are based on the capital of the entire foreign bank. Furthermore, the Board may terminate the activities of a US
branch or agency of a foreign bank if it finds that:
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 – The foreign bank is not subject to comprehensive supervision on a consolidated basis in its home country; or

 – There is reasonable cause to believe that such foreign bank, or an affiliate, has violated the law or engaged in an
unsafe or unsound banking practice in the United States and, as a result, continued operation of the branch or agency
would be inconsistent with the public interest and purposes of the banking laws.

 If the Board were to use this authority to close the New York Branch, creditors of the New York Branch would have
recourse only against Credit Suisse, unless the Superintendent or other regulatory authorities were to make alternative
arrangements for the payment of the liabilities of the New York Branch.

 In recent years, a major focus of US policy and regulation relating to financial institutions has been to combat money
laundering and terrorist financing. Laws and regulations applicable to the Group and its subsidiaries impose
obligations to maintain appropriate policies, procedures and controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering
and terrorist financing, verify the identity of customers and comply with economic sanctions. The Group’s failure to
maintain and implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and terrorist financing, and violations of
such economic sanctions, laws and regulations, could have serious legal and reputational consequences for the Group.

 The Group takes its obligations to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing very seriously, while
appropriately respecting and protecting the confidentiality of clients. The Group has policies, procedures and training
intended to ensure that its employees know the Group's customers and understand the Group's criteria for when a
client relationship or business should be evaluated as higher risk for the Group. As part of its continuing evaluation of
risk, in the first quarter of 2006, the Group determined to limit the amount of business with counterparties in, or
directly relating to, Cuba, Iran, Myanmar, North Korea, Sudan and Syria, which the Group expects to become even
more limited over time. The Group's business with such counterparties includes arranging financing for import-export
contracts of primarily Swiss corporates and other multinational entities and client commodity trading. Other business
activities include correspondent banking services to banks located in such countries and private banking services for
nationals of, and clients domiciled in, such countries. The Group has a small representative office in Tehran, Iran.

 The US State Department has designated such countries as state sponsors of terrorism, and US law generally prohibits
US persons from doing business with such countries. The Group is aware of initiatives by governmental entities and
institutions in the US to adopt rules, regulations or policies prohibiting transactions with or investments in entities
doing business with such countries. The Group is a Swiss-domiciled organization and its activities with respect to
such countries are subject to policies and procedures designed to ensure that US persons are not involved and
otherwise comply with applicable laws and regulations. The Group does not believe its business activities with
counterparties in, or directly relating to, such countries are material to its business, and such activities represented a
very small part of total assets as of December 31, 2005 and total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005.

 Non-banking activities
 Federal and state banking laws, including the International Banking Act of 1978, as amended, and the Bank Holding
Company Act of 1956, as amended, restrict the Group’s ability to engage, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, in
non-banking activities in the US. The Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, or GLBA, significantly modified these
restrictions.

 Once GLBA took effect, qualifying bank holding companies and foreign banks qualifying as “financial holding
companies” were permitted to engage in a substantially broader range of non-banking activities in the US, including
insurance, securities, private equity and other financial activities. GLBA does not authorize banks or their affiliates to
engage in commercial activities that are not financial in nature or incidental thereto without other specific legal
authority or exemption.

 Certain restrictions governing the acquisition of US banks were not affected by the GLBA. Accordingly, the Group is
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required to obtain the prior approval of the Board before acquiring, directly or indirectly, the ownership or control of
more than 5% of any class of voting shares of any US bank or bank holding company. The New York Branch is also
restricted from engaging in certain “tying” arrangements involving products and services.

 Under GLBA and related Board regulations, the Group and Credit Suisse became financial holding companies
effective March 23, 2000 by certifying and demonstrating that Credit Suisse was “well capitalized” and “well managed.” If
in the future the Group or Credit Suisse ceases to be “well capitalized” or “well managed,” or otherwise fails to meet any
of the requirements for financial holding company status, then, depending on which requirement it fails to meet, it
may be required to discontinue newly authorized financial activities or terminate its New York Branch. The Group’s
ability to undertake acquisitions permitted by financial holding companies could also be adversely affected.

 GLBA and the regulations issued thereunder contain a number of other provisions that could affect the Group’s
operations and the operations of all financial institutions. One such provision relates to the financial privacy of
consumers. In addition, the so-called “push-out” provisions of GLBA narrow the exclusion of banks (including the New
York Branch) from the definitions of “broker” and “dealer” under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or Exchange Act.
The SEC has granted a series of temporary exemptions to delay the required implementation of these push-out
provisions. The narrowed “dealer” definition took effect in September 2003, and the narrowed “broker” definition is
currently expected to take effect no earlier than September 2006. As a result, it is likely that certain securities
activities currently conducted by the New York Branch will need to be restructured or transferred to one or more US
registered broker-dealer affiliates.

 United Kingdom
 The FSA is the principal statutory regulator of financial services activity in the UK, deriving its powers from the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, or the FSMA. The FSA regulates banking, insurance (long-term and
general) and investment business. Since October 2004, the FSA has also regulated the activities of mortgage
intermediaries and, since January 2005, the activities of general insurance intermediaries. In undertaking its role as
regulator, the FSA generally adopts a risk-based approach, supervising all aspects of a firm’s business, including
capital resources, systems and controls and management structures, the conduct of its business, anti-money laundering
and staff training. The FSA has wide investigatory and enforcement powers, including the power to require
information and documents from financial services businesses, appoint investigators, apply to the court for injunctions
or restitution orders, prosecute criminal offenses, impose financial penalties, issue public statements or censures and
vary, cancel or withdraw authorizations it has granted.

 As a member state of the EU, the UK is required to implement EU directives into national law. As such the regulatory
regime for banks operating in the UK conforms to required EU standards including compliance with capital adequacy
standards, customer protection requirements, conduct of business rules and anti-money laundering rules. These
standards, requirements and rules are similarly implemented, under the same directives, throughout the other member
states of the EU in which the Group operates and are broadly comparable in scope and purpose to the regulatory
capital and customer protection requirements imposed under US law.

 The London branch of Credit Suisse, Credit Suisse International and Credit Suisse (UK) Limited are authorized and
regulated by the FSA to take deposits. In deciding whether to grant authorization, the FSA first must determine
whether a firm satisfies the threshold conditions for suitability, including the requirement for the firm to be fit and
proper. In addition to regulation by the FSA, certain wholesale money markets activities are subject to the
Non-Investment Products Code, or the NIPS Code, a voluntary code of conduct published by the Bank of England.
The FSA participated in the development of the NIPS Code and expects FSA-regulated firms to take due account of it
when conducting wholesale money market business.

 The FSA cannot set capital requirements for the London Branch. The FSA does, however, require Credit Suisse
International and Credit Suisse (UK) Limited to maintain a minimum capital ratio and to monitor and report large
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exposures. Furthermore, the FSA requires banks operating in the UK to maintain adequate liquidity.

 Investment banking and asset management

 Switzerland
 The Group’s securities dealer activities in Switzerland are conducted primarily through Credit Suisse and are subject
to regulation under the Stock Exchange Act. The Stock Exchange Act regulates all aspects of the securities dealer
business in Switzerland, including regulatory capital, risk concentration, sales and trading practices, record-keeping
requirements and procedures and periodic reporting procedures. The regulatory capital requirements and risk
concentration limits for securities dealers are substantially the same as for banks. Securities dealers are supervised by
the SFBC.

 The Group’s asset management activities in Switzerland include the establishment and administration of mutual funds
registered for public distribution. In accordance with the Swiss Law on Mutual Funds (which is currently undergoing
a complete revision and is expected to be replaced by a Law on Collective Capital Investments), these activities are
conducted under the supervision of the SFBC.

 European Union
 In April 2004, as part of the FSAP, the EU adopted the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive, or MiFID. MiFID
is required to be implemented into national laws by January 2007 and to be applied to all applicable investment firms
no later than November 2007. MiFID replaces the Investment Services Directive and widens (i) the scope of
investment services, including investment advice and services and activities relating to commodity derivatives,
requiring authorization by EU member states and (ii) the range of regulated investments. In relation to these and other
investment services and activities, MiFID provides a "passport" for investment firms enabling them to conduct
cross-border activities across Europe when they have received prior authorization from their home state regulator.

 MiFID establishes high-level organizational and business conduct standards that apply to all investment firms. These
include new standards for managing conflicts of interest, best execution, customer classification and suitability
requirements for customers. MiFID also sets standards for regulated markets (i.e., exchanges) and multilateral trading
facilities and sets out pre-trade and post-trade price transparency requirements for equity trading.

 United States
 In the US, the SEC is the federal agency primarily responsible for the regulation of broker-dealers, investment
advisers and investment companies, while the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or the CFTC, is the federal
agency primarily responsible for the regulation of futures commission merchants, commodity pool operators and
commodity trading advisors. In addition, the Department of the Treasury has the authority to promulgate rules relating
to US Treasury and government agency securities, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board has the authority to
promulgate rules relating to municipal securities, and the Board promulgates regulations applicable to certain
securities credit transactions. In addition, broker-dealers are subject to regulation by industry self-regulatory
organizations, including the NASD and the NYSE, and by state authorities. For their futures activities, broker-dealers
are subject to industry self-regulatory organizations such as the National Futures Association, or the NFA, and
regulation by state authorities.

 The Group’s investment banking business includes broker-dealers registered with the SEC, all 50 states, the District of
Columbia and Puerto Rico, and futures commission merchants and commodities trading advisers registered with the
CFTC. As a result of these registrations, and memberships in self-regulatory organizations such as the NASD, the
NYSE and the NFA, the Group’s investment banking business is subject to overlapping schemes of regulation covering
all aspects of its securities and futures activities, including:
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 – Capital requirements;

 – The use and safekeeping of customers’ funds and securities;

 – Recordkeeping and reporting requirements;

 – Supervisory and organizational procedures intended to ensure compliance with securities and commodities laws and
the rules of the self-regulatory organizations;

 – Supervisory and organizational procedures intended to prevent improper trading on material non-public information;

 – Employee-related matters;

 – Limitations on extensions of credit in securities transactions;

 – Required procedures for trading on securities and commodities exchanges and in the over-the-counter market;

 – Prevention and detection of money laundering and terrorist financing;

 – Procedures relating to research analyst independence; and

 – Procedures for the clearance and settlement of trades.

 The broker-dealers’ operations are also subject to the SEC’s net capital rule, Rule 15c3-1 (the Net Capital Rule),
promulgated under the Exchange Act, which requires broker-dealers to maintain a specified level of minimum net
capital in relatively liquid form. The Group also has a “broker-dealer lite” entity, which is subject to the Net Capital
Rule but calculates its capital requirements under Appendix F. The Net Capital Rule also limits the ability of
broker-dealers to transfer large amounts of capital to parent companies and other affiliates. Compliance with the Net
Capital Rule could limit Group operations that require intensive use of capital, such as underwriting and trading
activities and the financing of customer account balances and also could restrict the Group’s ability to withdraw capital
from the Group’s broker-dealer subsidiaries, which in turn could limit the Group’s ability to pay dividends and make
payments on the Group’s debt. Certain of the Group’s broker-dealers are also subject to the net capital requirements of
various self-regulatory organizations.

 As registered futures commission merchants, certain of the Group’s broker-dealers are subject to the capital and other
requirements of the CFTC under the Commodity Exchange Act. These requirements include the provision of certain
disclosure documents, generally impose prohibitions against trading ahead of customers orders and other fraudulent
trading practices, and include provisions as to the handling of customer funds and reporting and recordkeeping
requirements.

 The investment banking and asset management businesses include legal entities registered and regulated as
investment advisers under the US Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the Advisers Act), and the SEC’s
rules and regulations thereunder. In 2004, the SEC also adopted rules that require the registration of certain hedge
fund advisers under the Advisers Act in 2006. The SEC-registered mutual funds that the Group advises are subject to
various requirements of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the SEC’s rules and regulations
thereunder. For pension fund customers, the Group is subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended, and similar state statutes. Finally, because some of the investment vehicles the Group advises are
commodity pools, the Group is subject to the Commodity Exchange Act for such vehicles.
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 United Kingdom
 The Group’s London broker-dealer subsidiaries and asset management companies are authorized under the FSMA and
are subject to regulation by the FSA. In deciding whether to authorize an investment firm in the UK, the FSA will
consider the threshold conditions for suitability set out in its rules, including the general requirement for a firm to be
fit and proper. The FSA is responsible for regulating most aspects of an investment firm’s business, including its
regulatory capital, sales and trading practices, use and safekeeping of customer funds and securities, record-keeping,
margin practices and procedures, registration standards for individuals carrying on certain functions, anti-money
laundering systems and periodic reporting and settlement procedures.

 Insurance

 Switzerland
 The Group conducts its insurance business under operating licenses that were granted by the Swiss Federal
Department of Finance (FDF). The Group’s Swiss insurance operations are subject to supervision by the Swiss Federal
Office of Private Insurance (FOPI) as lead regulator and, for certain lines of business, by the Federal Social Insurance
Office and the Swiss Federal Office of Public Health. FOPI is an administrative unit of the FDF, pursuant to the
amended Insurance Supervisory Act of 2004 that came into effect as of January 1, 2006 (the Insurance Supervisory
Act). FOPI has supervisory power as well as the authority to make decisions to the extent that the law does not
explicitly designate the FDF as the governing regulatory body. The Group’s insurance businesses are supervised on a
consolidated basis pursuant to the Insurance Supervisory Act.

 European Union
 The EU has established a regulatory framework for the insurance sector through the issuance of directives on life and
non-life insurance and on the supplementary supervision of financial conglomerates. The general objective of these
directives is to achieve a single integrated financial services market, improve standards of prudential supervision and
safeguard policyholders through harmonization of core regulatory standards and solvency requirements among EU
member states. Individual EU member states implement these directives through national legislation that may set
higher standards.

 Each insurance company in an EU member state must maintain a solvency margin (shareholders’ equity and
quasi-equity) at a level that depends on the nature of the insurers’ activity and that is calculated with reference to
certain balance sheet and income statement items, subject to an absolute minimum.

 The EU is currently designing a new solvency regime. It contains a fundamental and wide-ranging review of the
current regime in light of current developments in insurance, risk management, finance techniques and financial
reporting. One of the key objectives is to establish a solvency system that is better matched to the true risks of an
insurance company.

 Germany
 German insurance companies are subject to a comprehensive system of regulation under the German Law of the
Supervision of Insurance Undertakings, or the Insurance Supervision Law, which implements EU directives on
insurance regulation. The Federal Financial Supervisory Authority monitors and enforces compliance with German
insurance laws, applicable accounting standards, investment and technical provisions and solvency margins.

 Under the Insurance Supervision Law and related regulations and regulatory releases, German insurance companies
are subject to detailed requirements with respect to investment of their assets and liabilities and must maintain a
minimum solvency margin, including a guarantee fund equal to one third of the solvency margin.
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 Under current regulations, German insurance companies may not carry out business that is not directly related to their
insurance activities and may not offer life insurance, health insurance and property and casualty insurance within the
same legal entity. Nevertheless, holding companies can hold different types of insurance companies, and primary
insurers may write reinsurance.

 United States
 Insurance companies are subject to risk-based capital, or RBC, guidelines, which provide a method to measure the
adjusted capital that insurance companies are required to maintain for regulatory purposes, taking into account the risk
characteristics of the company ’ s investments and products. To facilitate uniform regulation of insurer solvency
across the US, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, or NAIC, has adopted a formula and model law
to implement RBC requirements for life insurance companies and most non-life insurance companies. The RBC
requirements are used as early warning tools by the NAIC and the individual state insurance departments to identify
companies that merit further regulatory action. A company’s RBC is calculated by applying factors to various asset,
premium and reserve items.

 Although the US federal government does not directly regulate the insurance business, federal legislation and
administrative policies in certain areas may significantly affect the insurance industry, including employee benefit
plan regulation, financial services regulation, federal taxation, privacy, fair credit reporting and securities laws.

 Insurance companies in the US are also subject to comprehensive and detailed regulation and supervision of their
activities under US state laws in the individual states in which they conduct business. The laws of the various states
establish insurance departments with broad powers to regulate most aspects of the insurance business, including a
change in control.

 Property and equipment

 The Group’s principal executive offices, which the Group owns, are located at Paradeplatz 8, Zurich, Switzerland. At
December 31, 2005, the Group maintained worldwide 905 offices and branches, of which approximately half were
located in Switzerland.

 As of December 31, 2005, approximately 33% of the Group’s worldwide offices and branches were owned directly by
us with the remainder being held under commercial leases, 64% of which expire after 2010. The book value of the ten
largest owned properties was approximately CHF 2.0 billion at December 31, 2005. Some of the Group’s principal
facilities are subject to mortgages and other security interests granted to secure indebtedness to certain financial
institutions. As of December 31, 2005, the total amount of indebtedness secured by these facilities was not material to
us.

 The Group believes that its current facilities are adequate for existing operations. Management regularly evaluates the
Group’s operating facilities for suitability, market presence, renovation and maintenance.

 Additional information

 For additional information relating to the Group’s principal capital expenditures and divestitures at the present time
and for the last three financial years, refer to Item 5 – Operating and Financial Review and Prospects – Liquidity and
capital resources.
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 For a breakdown of the Group’s net revenues by geographic market for each of the past three years, refer to note 5 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 For selected statistical information relating to the Group’s banking business, refer to Item 5 – Operating and financial
review and prospects – Information required by Industry Guide 3.

 Item 4A: Unresolved staff comments

 Credit Suisse Group, a well-known seasoned issuer, has no material unresolved SEC comments on its periodic reports
filed under the Exchange Act that were issued more than 180 days prior to the December 31, 2005 fiscal year end.

 Item 5: Operating and financial review and prospects

 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is set forth under Operating
and financial review and prospects in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on pages 31 to 67 and such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

 Critical accounting policies

 In order to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (US GAAP), management is required to make certain accounting estimates to
ascertain the value of assets and liabilities. These estimates are based upon judgment and the information available at
the time, and as a result actual results may differ materially from these estimates. Management believes that the
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prudent, reasonable and
consistently applied. Significant accounting policies and a discussion of new accounting pronouncements are
disclosed in notes 1 and 2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 The Group believes that the critical accounting policies discussed below involve the most complex judgments and
assessments.

 Fair value
 The fair value of the majority of the Group’s financial instruments is based on quoted market prices in active markets
or observable market parameters, or is derived from such prices or parameters. These instruments include government
and agency securities, commercial paper, most investment-grade corporate debt, most high-yield debt securities,
exchange traded and certain over-the-counter (OTC) derivative instruments, most collateralized debt obligations
(CDOs), most mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, certain residential mortgage whole loans and listed equity
securities.

 In addition, the Group holds financial instruments that are thinly traded or for which no market prices are available,
and which have little or no price transparency. For these instruments the determination of fair value requires
subjective assessment and varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, pricing assumptions
and the risks affecting the specific instrument. In such circumstances, valuation is determined based on management’s
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best estimate of fair value. These instruments include certain investment-grade corporate debt securities, certain
high-yield debt securities, distressed debt securities, certain mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, certain
CDOs, certain OTC derivatives, non-traded equity securities and private equity and other long-term investments.
Valuation techniques for certain of these instruments are described more fully below.

 Controls over the fair valuation process
 Control processes are applied to ensure that the fair value of the financial instruments reported in the consolidated
financial statements, including those derived from pricing models, are appropriate and determined on a reasonable
basis. The Group determines fair value using observable market prices or market-based parameters whenever possible.
In the absence of observable market prices or market-based parameters in an active market, observable prices or
market-based parameters of comparable market transactions, or other observable data supporting an estimation of fair
value using a valuation model at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the transaction price. Control
processes are designed to assure that the valuation approach is appropriate and the assumptions are reasonable.

 These control processes include the review and approval of new instruments, review of profit and loss at regular
intervals, risk monitoring and review, price verification procedures and reviews of models used to estimate the fair
value of financial instruments by senior management and personnel with relevant expertise who are independent of
the trading and investment functions.

 The Group also has agreements with certain counterparties to exchange collateral based on the fair value of
derivatives contracts. Through this process, one or both parties provide the other party with the fair value of these
derivatives contracts in order to determine the amount of collateral required. This exchange of information provides
additional support for valuation of certain derivatives contracts. The Group and other participants in the OTC
derivatives market provide pricing information to aggregation services that compile this data and provide this
information to subscribers. This information is considered in the determination of fair value for certain OTC
derivatives.

 For further discussion of the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, refer to Risk management in the
Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Price transparency of financial instruments recorded at fair value
 Financial instruments recorded on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet at fair value have been categorized based
upon the transparency of the pricing information available.

 The categories of pricing transparency have been broadly segregated as follows:

 Quoted market prices or observable market parameters: these financial instruments are valued based upon directly
observable market prices or through the use of valuation models and techniques for which the required parameters are
directly observable.

 Reduced or no observable market parameters: these financial instruments are priced using management’s best
estimate of fair value applying valuation techniques that are based on significant judgment since observable,
market-based data is not generally available.

The following table sets forth a summary of the fair value methodology applied to the Group’s financial instruments at
December 31, 2005:

December 31, 2005, in CHF m
Quoted market prices or observable market

parameters
Reduced or no observable market

parameters
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Assets
Trading assets
Money market instruments 17,160 0
Trading securities 311,155 27,059
Derivatives  1) 263,159 10,720
Other 20,335 4,349

Total trading assets 611,809 42,128

Investment securities
Available-for-sale securities 109,150 318

Total investment securities 2) 109,150 318

Other investments and other
assets
Private equity and other long-term
investments 495 8,935
Derivative instruments used for
hedging 3,517 137

Total other investments and other
assets 4,012 9,072

Liabilities
Trading liabilities
Financial instruments sold, not yet
repurchased 137,265 353
Derivatives 1) 250,998 24,264

Total trading liabilities 388,263 24,617

Other liabilities
Derivative instruments used for
hedging 2,368 16

Total other liabilities 2,368 16
1) Based on gross mark-to-market valuations of the Group's derivative positions prior to netting of CHF 218.7 billion. 

2) Excludes debt securities held-to-maturity of CHF 12.1 billion, which are carried at amortized cost, net of any
amortized premium or discount.    

 Trading assets and liabilities

 Money market instruments
 Traded money market instruments include instruments such as bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit,
commercial paper, book claims, treasury bills and other rights, which are held for trading purposes. Valuations of
traded money market instruments are generally based on market prices or market parameters, and therefore typically
do not require significant judgment.

 Trading securities
 The Group’s trading securities consist of interest-bearing securities and rights and equity securities. Interest-bearing
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securities and rights include debt securities, residential and commercial mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
securities and CDOs. Equity securities include common equity shares, convertible bonds and separately managed
funds.

 For debt securities for which market prices are not available, valuations are based on yields reflecting the perceived
risk of the issuer and the maturity of the security, recent disposals in the market or other modeling techniques, which
may involve judgment.

 Values of residential and commercial mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities are generally
available through quoted market prices, which are often based on market information of the prices at which similarly
structured and collateralized securities trade between dealers and to and from customers. Values of residential and
commercial mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities for which there are no significant observable
market parameters are valued using valuation models incorporating prepayment scenarios and Monte Carlo
simulations.

 Collateralized debt, bond and loan obligations are split into various structured tranches, and each tranche is valued
based upon its individual rating and the underlying collateral supporting the structure. Values are derived by using
valuation models to calculate the internal rate of return of the estimated cash flows.

 The majority of the Group’s positions in equity securities are traded on public stock exchanges, for which daily quoted
market prices are available. Fair values of preferred shares are determined by their yield and the subordination relative
to the issuer’s other credit obligations. Convertible bonds are generally valued using direct pricing sources. For a small
number of convertible bonds no direct prices are available and valuation is determined using internal and external
models, for which the key input parameters include stock price, dividend rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates,
prepayment rates and equity market volatility.

 The fair values of positions in separately managed funds, which include debt and equity securities, are determined on
a regular basis by independent fund administrators. As valuations are not provided on a daily basis, models are used to
estimate changes in fair value between such determination dates.

 Derivatives
 Positions in derivatives held for trading purposes include both OTC and exchange-traded derivatives. The fair values
of exchange-traded derivatives are typically derived from the observable exchange prices and/or observable market
parameters. Fair values for OTC derivatives are determined on the basis of internally developed proprietary models
using various input parameters. The input parameters include those characteristics of the derivative that have a bearing
on the economics of the instrument and market parameters.

 The determination of the fair value of many derivatives involves only a limited degree of subjectivity because the
required input parameters are observable in the marketplace. The pricing of these instruments is referred to as “direct.”
For other more complex derivatives, subjectivity relating to the determination of input parameters reduces price
transparency. The pricing of these instruments is referred to as “indirect.” Specific areas of subjectivity include
estimating long-dated volatility assumptions on OTC option transactions and recovery rate assumptions for credit
derivative transactions. Uncertainty of pricing assumptions and liquidity are also considered as part of the valuation
process. Under US GAAP, the Group does not recognize a dealer profit or loss, unrealized gain or loss at inception of
a derivative transaction, or day one profit/loss unless the valuation underlying the unrealized gain or loss is evidenced
by (i) quoted market prices in an active market, (ii) observable prices of other current market transactions or (iii) other
observable data supporting a valuation technique. The deferred profit or loss is amortized over either the life of the
derivative or the period until which observable data is available.

 Derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting under US GAAP are valued at fair value but are reported in Other assets
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or Other liabilities rather than in Trading assets or Trading liabilities. Fair values for these instruments are determined
in the same manner as for derivatives held for trading purposes.

 For further information on the fair value of derivatives as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, see note 33 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

 Other trading assets
 Other trading assets primarily include residential mortgage loans that are purchased with an intent to securitize.
Valuations for traded residential mortgage loans are based on pricing factors specific to loan level attributes, such as
loan-to-value ratios, current balance and liens. In addition, current written offers or contract prices are considered in
the valuation process.

 Investment securities
 Investment securities recorded at fair value include debt and equity securities classified as available-for-sale. These
debt and equity securities are quoted on public exchanges or liquid OTC markets where the determination of fair value
involves relatively little judgment. These instruments include government and corporate bonds held for asset and
liability management or other medium-term business strategies. As discussed in note 1 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, unrealized gains and losses on securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded
in Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI); however, recognition of an impairment loss is recorded if a
decline in fair value below carrying value is considered to be other than temporary. The risks inherent in the
assessment methodology for impairments include the risk that market factors may differ from the Group’s
expectations, that the Group may decide to sell a security for unforeseen liquidity needs or that the credit assessment
or equity characteristics may change from the Group’s original assessment.

 Other investments
 The Group’s other investments include items for which the determination of fair value is generally more subjective,
including private equity and other alternative capital investments.

 Private equity and other long-term investments include direct investments and investments in partnerships that make
private equity and related investments in various portfolio companies and funds. Private equity investments and other
long-term investments consist of both publicly traded securities and private securities. Publicly traded investments are
valued based upon readily available market quotes with appropriate adjustments for liquidity as a result of holding
large blocks and/or having trading restrictions. Private securities, which generally have no readily available market or
may be otherwise restricted as to resale, are valued taking into account a number of factors, such as the most recent
round of financing involving unrelated new investors, earnings multiple analyses using comparable companies or
discounted cash flow analysis.

The following table sets forth the fair value of our private equity investments by category:
2005 2004

December 31, in CHF m, except where
indicated Fair value Percent of total Fair value Percent of total

Credit Suisse managed funds 7,952 73.4% 7,794 81.2%
Direct investments 148 1.4% 106 1.1%
Funds managed by third parties 2,735 25.2% 1,704 17.7%

Total 10,835 100.0% 9,604 100.0%
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Internally-managed funds include partnerships and related direct investments for which the Group acts as the fund’s
adviser and makes investment decisions. Internally-managed funds principally invest in private securities and, to a
lesser extent, publicly traded securities and fund of funds partnerships. The fair value of investments in
internally-managed fund of funds partnerships is based on the valuation received from the underlying fund manager
and reviewed by us, and is reflected in “Reduced or no observable market parameters” in the table above. The fair value
of investments in other internally managed funds is based on the Group’s valuation. Balances reported in
internally-managed funds also include amounts relating to the consolidation of private equity funds under FIN 46R,
which are described in further detail in note 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. A substantial
portion of the private equity funds consolidated primarily under FIN 46R are reflected in “Reduced or no observable
market parameters” in the table above. Funds managed by third parties include investments in funds managed by an
external fund manager. The fair value of these funds is based on the valuation received from the general partner of the
fund and reviewed by us.

 Provisions from the insurance business

 Future policyholder benefits
 The provision for future policyholder benefits for traditional life and health products is computed using the net level
premium method, which represents the present value of estimated future policy benefits to be paid less the present
value of estimated future net premiums to be collected from policyholders. This method uses best estimate
assumptions for mortality, morbidity, expected investment yields, lapses/surrenders and expenses at the policy
inception date, which remain locked in thereafter. When applicable, the provision is adjusted for adverse deviation to
provide a margin for fluctuation and uncertainty inherent in the assumption-setting process.

 The provision for future policyholder benefits for traditional participating life products is computed using the net
level premium method. This method uses best estimate assumptions for mortality, morbidity and interest rates that are
guaranteed in the contract or are used in determining the dividends. The provision for future policyholder benefits for
non-traditional life products is equal to the account balance, which represents premiums received and allocated
investment return credited to the policyholder less deductions for mortality costs and expenses. The provision for
future policyholder benefits also includes liabilities for guaranteed minimum death and similar mortality and
morbidity benefits, annuitization options and sales inducements based on contractual obligations using actuarial
assumptions.

 Best estimate assumptions include, but are not limited to, interest, expenses, lapses/surrenders, mortality/morbidity
and future bonuses. Current and historical client data and industry data are used to determine these assumptions.
Assumptions for interest reflect expected earnings on assets backing the future policyholder benefits. Economic
assumptions such as the expected long-term earned investment rate are derived centrally based on current market
yields of bonds adjusted for long-term asset allocation targets, which are set by the Investment Committee. The
guidance used by the Group’s qualified actuaries in setting such assumptions includes, but is not limited to, pricing
assumptions, available experience studies, profitability analysis and embedded value assumptions, in consultation with
independent consultants where appropriate.

 Provisions for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
 A provision for unpaid losses, including estimates of costs for losses relating to insured events that have occurred but
have not been reported, and a provision for loss adjustment expenses (LAE) are accrued for when insured events
occur. The provisions for unpaid losses are derived from best estimate assumptions and appropriate actuarial methods.
The provisions for unpaid losses are based on the estimated ultimate cost of settling claims, using past experience
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adjusted for current and expected future trends and any other factors that would modify past experience. Provisions for
unpaid losses and LAE reserves are established locally by the business units and subject to review by an actuarial
team in the Winterthur Corporate Center. Local management determines its best estimate using actuarial methods such
as Chain Ladder, Bornhuetter-Ferguson and Frequency-Severity. Management considers the nature of the business
written, the available historical data, past experience and expected future trends in selecting the method used to
determine the best estimate. For example, the Chain Ladder method is used to estimate the provisions for unpaid
losses and LAE for businesses with stable claims development. For businesses with significant changes in historical
experience such as material changes in case reserves or in the speed of claims settlement, a best estimate based on
case reserves plus pure Incurred But Not Reported for late claims, or a best estimate based on more specific actuarial
methods, may be considered more appropriate.

 The Group routinely evaluates the potential for changes in loss estimates with the support of qualified actuaries and
uses the results of these evaluations to adjust recorded provisions. However, the provision for unpaid losses and LAE
are only estimates of future activity and are subject to variability. The assumptions underlying the provision may not
materialize as expected, and even if future conditions do develop as anticipated, events may occur which lead to
different results than originally estimated. Any subsequent adjustments are recorded in the period in which they are
determined. Certain provisions for unpaid losses and LAE for which the payment pattern and the ultimate cost are
fixed and can be reliably determined on an individual claim basis are discounted at the rate used for statutory
accounting but not exceeding the long-term risk free rate.

 For further information on the provision for unpaid losses and LAE, refer to notes 21 and 22 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

 Deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC)
 DAC on non-life products are amortized over the periods in which the related premiums are earned. DAC on
traditional life and health products are amortized over the premium paying period of the related policies in proportion
to the net level premium using assumptions consistent with those used in computing the provision for future
policyholder benefits. The methods use best estimate assumptions for mortality, morbidity, expected investment
yields, terminations and expenses at the policy inception date and remain locked in.

 DAC on participating traditional life products are amortized over the expected life of the contracts in proportion to
the estimated gross margins. The present value of estimated gross margins is computed using the expected investment
yield. Estimated gross margins include estimates of premiums to be received, expected earned investment income,
benefits to be paid, administration costs, changes in reserve for death and other future policyholder benefits and
expected annual policyholder dividends. Estimates of expected gross margins are determined on a best estimate basis
without provisions for adverse deviation and are evaluated on a regular basis when actual margins replace estimated
margins to reflect actual profits.

 DAC on non-traditional life products are amortized over the expected life of the contracts as a constant percentage of
estimated gross profits. The present value of estimated gross profits is computed using the interest that accrues to the
policyholders, known as the contract rate. Estimated gross profits include estimates regarding mortality,
administration costs, expected investment income less interest credited to policyholders and surrender charges.

 The basis for the assumptions and estimates used will impact the current earnings and the emergence of future profits.
The Group regularly reviews the assumptions and estimates used in the estimated gross margins and estimated gross
profits. The adjustment to these assumptions is referred to as “unlocking” and consists of two components:

 – Retrospective unlocking, which consists of adjustments for actual experience. These adjustments involve the
computation and use of actual gross profit in lieu of the amount originally estimated for that period in the amortization
of DAC; and
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 – Prospective unlocking, which consists of adjustments to future assumptions. Prospective unlocking involves the
replacement of future assumptions with updated best estimates.

 For both components, a new DAC amortization pattern is calculated and the impact is included in the current period
income statement.

 The Group also regularly evaluates whether the net GAAP liability, which represents benefit reserves less DAC and
PVFP, is adequate to cover all future policy commitments. The net GAAP liability is compared to the present value of
future benefits and expenses less the present value of future gross premiums (the Gross Premiums Valuation, or GPV).
The GPV is calculated using best estimate assumptions as of the issue date for initial recoverability and valuation for
ongoing loss recognition testing. If the GPV is greater than the net GAAP liability, a recoverability issue exists or a
loss recognition event is deemed to have occurred. The GPV then becomes the new net GAAP liability by first writing
off DAC and then increasing the benefit reserve once the DAC has been written down to zero.

 For further information on DAC as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, see note 19 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 Present value of future profits (PVFP)
 Expected future profits used in determining PVFP are based on actuarial determinations of future premium collection,
mortality, morbidity, surrenders, operating expenses and yields on assets supporting the policy liabilities. The discount
rate used to determine the PVFP is the rate of return required to be able to invest in the portfolio being acquired.
Additionally, the PVFP asset is adjusted for the impact of estimated gross margins or profits of net unrealized gains
and losses on securities.

 Establishing PVFP is an inherently uncertain process involving complex judgments and estimates, and currently
established PVFP may not be fully realized. If the present value of future net cash flows is insufficient to recover
PVFP, the difference is charged to the income statement as an additional PVFP write-off, which could be material to
the results of operations.

 For further information on PVFP as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, see note 17 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 Contingencies and loss provisions
 A contingency is an existing condition that involves a degree of uncertainty that will ultimately be resolved upon the
occurrence of future events.

 Litigation contingencies
From time to time, the Group and its subsidiaries are involved in a variety of legal, regulatory and arbitration matters
in connection with the conduct of its businesses. It is inherently difficult to predict the outcome of many of these
matters, particularly those cases in which the matters are brought on behalf of various classes of claimants, seek
damages of unspecified or indeterminate amounts or involve novel legal claims. In presenting the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, management makes estimates regarding the outcome of legal, regulatory and arbitration matters
and takes a charge to income when losses with respect to such matters are probable and can be reasonably estimated.
Charges, other than those taken periodically for costs of defense, are not established for matters when losses cannot be
reasonably estimated. Estimates, by their nature, are based on judgment and currently available information and
involve a variety of factors, including but not limited to the type and nature of the litigation, claim or proceeding, the
progress of the matter, the advice of legal counsel and other advisers, the Group’s defenses and its experience in
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similar cases or proceedings as well as the Group’s assessment of matters, including settlements, involving other
defendants in similar or related cases or proceedings. For more information on legal proceedings, see Item 8 – Financial
Information — Legal proceedings and note 42 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 Allowances and provisions for losses
 As a normal part of its business, the Group is exposed to credit risks through its lending relationships, commitments
and letters of credit and as a result of counterparty risk on derivatives, foreign exchange and other transactions. Credit
risk is the risk that a borrower or counterparty is unable to meet its financial obligations. In the event of a default, the
Group generally incurs a loss equal to the amount owed by the counterparty, less a recovery amount resulting from
foreclosure, liquidation of collateral or restructuring of the counterparty’s obligation. Allowances for loan losses are
maintained, as discussed in notes 1 and 13 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, which are considered
adequate to absorb credit losses existing at the balance sheet date. These allowances are for probable credit losses
inherent in existing exposures and credit exposures specifically identified as impaired.

 Inherent loan loss allowance
 The inherent loss allowance is for all credit exposures not specifically identified as impaired and that, on a portfolio
basis, are considered to contain probable inherent loss. The loan valuation allowance is established by analyzing
historical and current default probabilities, historical recovery assumptions and internal risk ratings. During 2003, the
Group refined the inherent loss reserving methodology applied to the Institutional Securities segment to provide more
weight to the effects of the current economic environment on its credit portfolio than was used previously. The refined
methodology for this segment adjusts the rating-specific default probabilities to incorporate not only historic
third-party data over a period but also those implied from current quoted credit spreads.

 Many factors are evaluated in estimating probable credit losses inherent in existing exposures. These factors include:
the volatility of default probabilities; rating changes; the magnitude of the potential loss; internal risk ratings;
geographic, industry and other environmental factors; and imprecision in the methodologies and models used to
estimate credit risk. Overall credit risk indicators are also considered, such as trends in internal risk-rated exposures,
classified exposure, cash-basis loans, recent loss experience and forecasted write-offs, as well as industry and
geographic concentrations and current developments within those segments or locations. The Group’s current business
strategy and credit process, including credit approvals and limits, underwriting criteria and workout procedures, are
also important factors.

 Significant judgment is exercised in the evaluation of these factors. For example, estimating the amount of potential
loss requires an assessment of the period of the underlying data. Data that does not capture a complete credit cycle
may compromise the accuracy of loss estimates. Determining which external data relating to default probabilities
should be used, and when they should be used, also requires judgment. The use of market indices and ratings that do
not sufficiently correlate to the Group’s specific exposure characteristics could also affect the accuracy of loss
estimates. Evaluating the impact of uncertainties regarding macroeconomic and political conditions, currency
devaluations on cross-border exposures, changes in underwriting criteria, unexpected correlations among exposures
and other factors all require significant judgment. Changes in the Group’s estimates of probable credit losses inherent
in the portfolio could have an impact on the provision and result in a change in the allowance.

 Specific loan loss allowances
 The Group makes provisions for specific credit losses on impaired loans based on regular and detailed analysis of
each loan in the portfolio. This analysis includes an estimate of the realizable value of any collateral, the costs
associated with obtaining repayment and realization of any such collateral, the counterparty’s overall financial
condition, resources and payment record, the extent of the Group’s other commitments to the same counterparty and
prospects for support from any financially responsible guarantors. For further information on specific loan loss
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allowances, refer to notes 1 and 13 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 The methodology for calculating specific allowances involves judgments at many levels. First, it involves the early
identification of deteriorating credits. Extensive judgment is required in order to properly evaluate the various
indicators of financial condition of a counterparty and likelihood of repayment. The failure to identify certain
indicators or give them proper weight could lead to a different conclusion about the credit risk. The assessment of
credit risk is subject to inherent limitations with respect to the completeness and accuracy of relevant information (for
example, relating to the counterparty, collateral or guarantee) that is available at the time of the assessment.
Significant judgment is exercised in determining the amount of the provision. Whenever possible, independent,
verifiable data or the Group’s own historical loss experience is used in models for estimating loan losses. However, a
significant degree of uncertainty remains when applying such valuation techniques. Under the Group’s loans policy,
the classification of loan status also has a significant impact on the subsequent accounting for interest accruals.

 For loan portfolio disclosures, valuation adjustment disclosures and certain other information relevant to the
evaluation of credit risk and credit risk management, refer to Risk Management in the Credit Suisse Group Annual
Report 2005.

 Goodwill impairments
 As a result of acquisitions, the Group has recorded goodwill as an asset on its consolidated balance sheet, the most
significant components of which arose from the acquisitions of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Inc. (DLJ) and
Winterthur. Goodwill was CHF 12.9 billion and CHF 11.6 billion as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Changes in the balance of goodwill in 2005 and 2004 were caused primarily by foreign exchange fluctuations in
goodwill denominated in US dollars.

 The recorded goodwill is reviewed for possible impairments on an annual basis and at any other time that events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Circumstances that could trigger
an impairment test include but are not limited to: a significant adverse change in the business climate or legal factors;
an adverse action or assessment by a regulator; unanticipated competition; loss of key personnel; the likelihood that a
reporting unit or significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or otherwise disposed of; results of testing for
recoverability of a significant asset group within a reporting unit; and recognition of a goodwill impairment loss in the
financial statements of a subsidiary that is a component of a reporting unit.

 For the purpose of testing goodwill for impairment, each reporting unit is assessed individually. Reporting units equal
the Group’s operating segments. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, there is no goodwill
impairment. Factors considered in determining fair value of reporting units include, among other things, an evaluation
of recent acquisitions of similar entities in the market-place; current share values in the market place for similar
publicly traded entities, including price multiples; recent trends in the Group’s share price and those of competitors;
estimates of the Group’s future earnings potential; and the level of interest rates.

 Estimates of the Group’s future earnings potential, and that of the reporting units, involves considerable judgment,
including management’s view on future changes in market cycles, the anticipated result of the implementation of
business strategies, competitive factors and assumptions concerning the retention of key employees. Adverse changes
in the estimates and assumptions used to determine the fair value of the Group’s segments may result in a goodwill
impairment charge in the future.

 During 2005 and 2004 no goodwill impairment charges were recorded. For further information on goodwill, refer to
note 15 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 Income taxes
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 Deferred tax valuation allowances
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of operating loss carry-forwards
and temporary differences between the carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases
at the balance sheet date.

 The realization of deferred tax assets on temporary differences is dependent upon the generation of taxable income
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The realization of such deferred tax assets
on net operating losses is dependent upon the generation of taxable income during the periods prior to their expiration,
if applicable. Management periodically evaluates whether deferred tax assets can be realized. If management
considers it more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized, a corresponding
valuation allowance is established. In evaluating whether deferred tax assets can be realized, management considers
projected future taxable income, the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and tax planning strategies.

 This evaluation requires significant management judgment, primarily with respect to projected taxable income. The
estimate of future taxable income can never be predicted with certainty. It is derived from budgets and strategic
business plans but is dependent on numerous factors, some of which are beyond management’s control. Substantial
variance of actual results from estimated future taxable profits, or changes in the Group’s estimate of future taxable
profits, could lead to changes in deferred tax assets being realizable or considered realizable, and would require a
corresponding adjustment to the valuation allowance.

 As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Group had deferred tax assets resulting from temporary differences and from
net operating losses that could reduce taxable income in future periods. The consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 included gross deferred tax assets of CHF 11.7 billion and CHF 10.3 billion,
respectively, and gross deferred tax liabilities of CHF 6.4 billion and CHF 6.0 billion, respectively. Due to uncertainty
concerning the Group’s ability to generate the necessary amount and mix of taxable income in future periods, a
valuation allowance was recorded against deferred tax assets in the amount of CHF 1,225 million and CHF 1,543
million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which related primarily to deferred tax assets on net
operating loss carry-forwards. The increase in deferred tax assets of CHF 1.4 billion includes the benefit relating to an
increase in the reserve for certain private litigation matters and a change in the Group's accounting for share-based
compensation. The decrease in the valuation allowance of CHF 318 million during 2005 is attributable to the
realization of previously unrecognized tax benefits on tax loss carry-forwards as a result of ordinary income, as well
as changes in management's judgment about taxable income and tax planning strategies in future periods.

 For further information on deferred tax assets, refer to note 29 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 Tax contingencies
 Significant judgment is required in determining the effective tax rate and in evaluating certain tax positions. The
Group accrues for tax contingencies when, despite the belief that its tax return positions are fully supportable, certain
positions could be challenged and the Group’s positions may not be fully sustained. Once established, tax contingency
accruals are adjusted due to changing facts and circumstances, such as case law, progress of audits or when an event
occurs requiring a change to the tax contingency accruals. Management regularly assesses the likelihood of adverse
outcomes to determine the appropriateness of provisions for income taxes. Although the outcome of any dispute is
uncertain, management believes that it has appropriately accrued for any unfavorable outcome.

 Pension plans
 The Group covers pension requirements, in both Swiss and non-Swiss locations, through various defined benefit
pension plans and defined contribution pension plans.
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 The Group’s funding policy with respect to the non-Swiss pension plans is consistent with local government and tax
requirements. In certain non-Swiss locations, the amount of the Group contribution to defined contribution pension
plans is linked to the return on equity of the respective segments and, as a result, the amount of the Group’s
contribution may differ materially from year to year.

 The calculation of the expense and liability associated with the defined benefit pension plans requires an extensive
use of assumptions, which include the discount rate, expected return on plan assets and rate of future compensation
increases as determined by the Group. Management determines these assumptions based upon currently available
market and industry data and historical performance of the plans and their assets. Management also consults with an
independent actuarial firm to assist in selecting appropriate assumptions and valuing its related liabilities. The
actuarial assumptions used by the Group may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and
economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life spans of the participants. Any such
differences could have a significant impact on the amount of pension expense recorded in future years.

 As of December 31, 2005, the Group’s Swiss defined benefit pension plans accounted for approximately 80% of the
projected benefit obligations while the international defined benefit pension plans accounted for approximately 20%
of the projected benefit obligations. The annual amount contributed to the Swiss plans and international plans over the
last three years averaged CHF 447 million and CHF 289 million, respectively. In 2005, contributions of CHF 421
million were made to the Swiss plans and CHF 135 million were made to the international plans. The Group expects
to make total contributions to the Swiss and international plans of approximately CHF 500 million in 2006.

 The projected benefit obligations of the Group’s total defined benefit pension plans include an amount related to
future salary increases of CHF 1,814 million. On the basis of the accumulated benefit obligation, which is defined as
the projected benefit obligation less the amount related to future salary increases, the under-funded status of the plans
was CHF 597 million for 2005.

 The Group is required to estimate the expected return on plan assets, which is then used to compute pension cost
recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Estimating future returns on plan assets is particularly subjective,
as the estimate requires an assessment of possible future market returns based on the plan asset mix and observed
historical returns. In calculating pension expense and in determining the expected rate of return, the Group uses the
market-related value of assets.

 At December 31, 2005, the Swiss plans’ assets were allocated 13.1% to equity securities, 32.6% to debt securities,
25.4% to insurance, 12.2% to real estate, 11.5% to liquidity and 5.2% to alternative investments. The Swiss plans’
assets at December 31, 2004 were allocated 13.5% to equity securities, 33.1% to debt securities, 26.4% to insurance,
13.1% to real estate, 10.2% to liquidity and 3.7% to alternative investments. Liquidity investments are mainly cash
and cash equivalents, and alternative investments may include private equity investments, hedge funds and
commodities. The year-end allocations were within the plans’ target ranges.

 The plan assets for the international plans at December 31, 2005 were allocated 47.7% to equity securities, 18.1% to
debt securities, 21.2% to insurance, 3.1% to real estate, 5.5% to liquidity and 4.4% to alternative investments. The
plan assets for the international plans at December 31, 2004 were allocated 43.6% to equity securities, 18.4% to debt
securities, 23.0% to insurance, 1.2% to real estate, 7.2% to liquidity and 6.6% to alternative investments. The year-end
allocations were within the plans’ target ranges.

 The expected rate of return on plan assets in Switzerland decreased 0.5% to 4.7% at December 31, 2005 from 5.2% at
December 31, 2004, due mainly to a deterioration in expected rates of return from the Swiss debt markets. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, if the expected rate of return had been increased by 1%, net pension expense for the
Swiss plans would have decreased by CHF 148 million and net pension expense for the international plans would
have decreased by CHF 29 million.
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 The discount rate used in determining the benefit obligation is based either upon high-quality corporate bond rates or
government bond rates plus a premium in order to approximate high-quality corporate bond rates. In estimating the
discount rate, the Group takes into consideration the relationship between the corporate bonds and the timing and
amount of the future cash outflows of its benefit payments. The average discount rate used for Swiss plans decreased
0.8% from 3.8% at December 31, 2004 to 3.0% at December 31, 2005, due mainly to a decrease in Swiss bond market
rates. The average discount rate used for international plans decreased 0.6% from 5.4% at December 31, 2004 to 4.8%
at December 31, 2005, due mainly to a decrease in bond market rates in the European Union. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, a 1% decline in the discount rate for the Swiss plans would have resulted in an increase in benefit
obligations of CHF 131 million, and a 1% increase in the discount rate would have resulted in a decrease in benefit
obligations of CHF 23 million. For the year ended December 31, 2005, a 1% decline in the discount rate for the
international plans would have resulted in an increase in benefit obligations of CHF 94 million, and a 1% increase in
the discount rate would have resulted in a decrease in benefit obligations of CHF 59 million.

 Unrecognized actuarial losses are amortized over the average remaining service period of active employees expected
to receive benefits under the plan, which is approximately 10 years for the Swiss plans and 7 to 16 years for the
international plans. The expense associated with the amortization of unrecognized net actuarial losses for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was CHF 54 million and CHF 42 million, respectively. The amortization of
unrecognized actuarial losses for the year ending December 31, 2006, which is assessed at the beginning of the plan
year, is expected to be CHF 133 million. The amount by which the actual return on plan assets differs from the Group’s
estimate of the expected return on those assets further impacts the amount of net unrecognized actuarial losses,
resulting in a higher or lower amount of amortization expense in periods after 2006.

 For further information on the Group’s pension benefits, refer to note 32 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

 Off-balance sheet arrangements

 Credit Suisse Group enters into off-balance sheet arrangements in the ordinary course of business. Off-balance sheet
arrangements are transactions or other contractual arrangements with, or for the benefit of, an entity that is not
consolidated with an issuer, and which include guarantees and similar arrangements, retained or contingent interests in
assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity, and obligations and liabilities (including contingent obligations and
liabilities) under material variable interests in unconsolidated entities for the purpose of providing financing, liquidity,
market risk or credit risk support.

 Guarantees
 In the ordinary course of business, guarantees and indemnifications are provided that contingently obligate the Group
to make payments to the guaranteed or indemnified party based on changes in an asset, liability or equity security of
the guaranteed or indemnified party. The Group may be contingently obligated to make payments to a guaranteed
party based on another entity’s failure to perform, or the Group may have an indirect guarantee of the indebtedness of
others. Guarantees provided include customary indemnifications to purchasers in connection with the sale of assets or
businesses; to investors in private equity funds sponsored by the Group regarding potential obligations of its
employees to return amounts previously paid as carried interest; to investors in Group securities and other
arrangements to provide “gross up” payments if there is a withholding or deduction because of a tax assessment or other
governmental charge; and to counterparties in connection with securities lending arrangements.

 In connection with the sale of assets or businesses, the Group sometimes provides the acquiror with certain
indemnification provisions. These indemnification provisions vary by counterparty in scope and duration and depend
upon the type of assets or businesses sold. These indemnification provisions generally shift the potential risk of certain
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unquantifiable and unknowable loss contingencies (e.g. relating to litigation, tax, intellectual property matters and
adequacy of claims reserves) from the acquirer to the seller. The Group closely monitors all such contractual
agreements to ensure that indemnification provisions are adequately provided for in the Group’s financial statements.

 In respect of the dispute between XL Insurance (Bermuda) Limited (XL or the purchaser) and Winterthur relating to
the sale of Winterthur International in 2001, the Independent Actuary reached a final conclusion on December 5,
2005. According to the report released by the Independent Actuary, the estimates presented by Winterthur came closer
to the amounts determined by the Independent Actuary both for the seasoned net reserve amount (SNRA) and for the
seasoned net premiums receivables (SNPR) received from XL. Accordingly, Winterthur’s estimates, already provided
for in the Winterthur accounts, became the final and relevant SNRA and SNPR. For additional information relating to
contingencies involving this sale, see notes 34 and 42 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 In September 2003, the Group sold Churchill Insurance Group, plc (Churchill), its UK non-life insurance operations,
to the Royal Bank of Scotland (the purchaser). In accordance with the terms of the SPA for Churchill, the Group is
required to reimburse the purchaser for a proportion of any losses in one line of business. Profits in this one line of
business are shared under similar terms. The amount payable or receivable under the provisions of the Churchill SPA
is determined based primarily on actuarial valuations, which are updated and settled quarterly, with an independent
actuarial valuation of the provisions performed regularly as agreed by Winterthur and the purchaser.

 Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45), requires disclosure of our
maximum potential payment obligations under certain guarantees to the extent that it is possible to estimate them and
requires recognition of a liability for the fair value of guaranteed obligations for guarantees issued or amended after
December 31, 2002. The recognition of these liabilities did not have a material effect on our financial position or
results of operations. For disclosure of our estimable maximum payment obligations under certain guarantees and
related information, see note 34 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 Retained or contingent interests in assets transferred to unconsolidated entities
 The Group originates and purchases commercial and residential mortgages for the purpose of securitization. These
assets are sold directly, or through affiliates, to special purpose entities that are, in most cases, qualified special
purpose entities (QSPEs) that are not consolidated by the Group. These QSPEs issue securities that are backed by the
assets transferred to the QSPEs and pay a return based on the returns of those assets. Investors in these
mortgage-backed securities typically have recourse to the assets in the QSPE; however, neither the investors nor the
QSPEs have recourse to the Group’s assets. The Group is an underwriter of, and makes a market in, these securities.

 Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, a replacement of FASB Statement No. 125” (SFAS 140), a QSPE is not
required to be consolidated with the transferor. The Group’s mortgage-backed securitization activities are generally
structured to use QSPEs, and the assets and liabilities transferred to QSPEs are not included in the Group’s financial
statements.

 The Group may retain interests in these securitized assets in connection with its underwriting and market-making
activities. Retained interests in securitized financial assets are included at fair value in trading assets in the
consolidated balance sheet. Any changes in the fair value of these retained interests are recognized in the consolidated
income statement. The Group engages in these securitization activities to meet the needs of clients as part of its fixed
income activities, to earn fees and to sell financial assets. These securitization activities do not provide a material
source of liquidity, capital resources, credit risk or market risk support to the Group. See note 35 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, which includes quantitative information on the Group’s securitization activities and
retained interests.
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 Variable interest entities
 FASB Interpretation No. 46 (Revised) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – An Interpretation of ARB No. 51”
(FIN 46R), requires the Group to consolidate all variable interest entities (VIEs) for which it is the primary
beneficiary, defined as the entity that will absorb a majority of expected losses, receive a majority of the expected
residual returns, or both. As of December 31, 2005, the Group consolidated all VIEs for which it is the primary
beneficiary.

 As a normal part of its business, the Group engages in transactions with various entities that may be deemed to be
VIEs, including VIEs that issue CDOs.

 The Group purchases loans and other debt obligations from and on behalf of clients for the purpose of securitization.
The loans and other debt obligations are sold to QSPEs or VIEs that issue CDOs. VIEs issue CDOs to fund the
purchase of assets such as investment-grade and high-yield corporate debt instruments. The Group engages in CDO
transactions to meet the needs of clients, to earn fees and to sell financial assets.

 The Group acts as the administrator and provider of liquidity and credit enhancement facilities for several commercial
paper conduit vehicles (CP conduits). These CP conduits purchase assets, primarily receivables, from clients and
provide liquidity through the issuance of commercial paper backed by these assets. The clients provide credit support
to investors of the CP conduits in the form of over-collateralization and other asset-specific enhancements as
described below. The Group does not sell assets to the CP conduits and does not have any ownership interest in the
CP conduits. Several CP conduits were restructured and combined in 2003 and the combined CP conduit transferred
the risk relating to a majority of its expected losses to a third-party.

 The Group’s commitments to CP conduits consist of obligations under liquidity agreements and credit enhancement.
The liquidity agreements are asset-specific arrangements, which require the Group to purchase assets from the CP
conduits in certain circumstances, such as if the CP conduits are unable to access the commercial paper markets.
Credit enhancement agreements, which may be asset-specific or program-wide, require the Group to purchase certain
assets under any condition, including default. In entering into such agreements, the Group reviews the credit risk
associated with these transactions on the same basis that would apply to other extensions of credit.

 The Group has significant involvement with VIEs in its role as a financial intermediary on behalf of clients. These
activities include the use of VIEs to structure various fund-linked products to provide clients with investment
opportunities in alternative investments. In addition, the Group provides financing to client sponsored VIEs,
established to purchase or lease certain types of assets. For certain products, structured to provide clients with
investment opportunities, a VIE holds underlying investments and issues securities that provide investors with a return
based on the performance of those investments. The investors typically retain the risk of loss on such transaction, but
the Group may provide principal protection on the securities to limit the investors’ exposure to downside risk. As a
financial intermediary, the Group may administer or sponsor the VIE, transfer assets to the VIE, provide collateralized
financing, act as a derivatives counterparty, advise on the transaction, act as investment adviser or investment
manager, act as underwriter or placement agent or provide credit enhancement, liquidity or other support to the VIE.
The Group also owns securities issued by the VIEs, structured to provide clients with investment opportunities, for
market-making purposes and as investments.

 See note 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

 Contractual obligations and other commercial commitments

 In connection with its operating activities, the Group enters into certain contractual obligations, as well as
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commitments to fund certain assets. Total obligations increased in 2005, primarily reflecting an increase in long-term
debt obligations. Long-term debt increased from CHF 106.3 billion in 2004 to CHF 133.0 billion in 2005 due to an
increase in senior debt issued, mainly to fund the issuance of structured products. Similarly, short-term contractual
obligations increased from CHF 490.4 billion in 2004 to CHF 601.0 billion in 2005, primarily reflecting increases in
deposits and trading account liabilities. The increase in deposits related partly to the strengthening of the US dollar
against the Swiss franc and partly to increased market activity, resulting in an increase in time deposits and certificates
of deposits. Trading account liabilities increased in line with the increase in trading assets, reflecting market
opportunities and an increase in the prime brokerage business.

 See note 34 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information relating to commitments.

The following table sets forth future cash payments associated with our contractual obligations on a
consolidated basis:

Payments due by period

December 31, 2005, in CHF m Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years More than 5 years Total

Long-term debt obligations 15,296 42,384 32,996 42,299 132,975
Capital lease obligations 6 10 12 209 237
Operating lease obligations 738 1,285 1,086 5,523 8,632
Purchase obligations 414 448 150 34 1,046
Other long-term liabilities reflected on
the balance sheet 169 13 0 0 182

Total obligations 16,623 44,140 34,244 48,065 143,072

The following table sets forth our consolidated short-term contractual obligations:
December 31, 2005 2004

Deposits 364,238 299,341
Short-term borrowings 19,472 15,343
Brokerage payables 23,068 25,623
Trading account liabilities 194,225 150,130

Total short-term contractual obligations 601,003 490,437

 Derivatives

 The Group enters into derivative contracts in the normal course of business for market-making, positioning and
arbitrage purposes, as well as for its own risk management needs, including mitigation of interest rate, foreign
currency and credit risk.

 Derivatives are generally either privately negotiated OTC contracts or standard contracts transacted through regulated
exchanges. The most frequently used freestanding derivative products include interest rate, cross-currency and credit
default swaps, interest rate and foreign currency options, foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign currency and
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interest rate futures.

 The replacement values of derivative financial instruments correspond to the fair values on the balance sheet date and
which arise from transactions for the account of customers and our own accounts. Positive replacement values
constitute a receivable. The fair value of a derivative is the amount for which that derivative could be exchanged
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arms’ length transaction. Fair value does not indicate future gains or
losses, but rather the unrealized gains and losses from marking to market all derivatives at a particular point in time.
The fair values of derivatives are determined using various methodologies including quoted market prices, where
available, prevailing market rates for instruments with similar characteristics and maturities, net present value analysis
or other pricing models, as appropriate.

 The credit risk on derivative receivables is reduced by the use of legally enforceable netting agreements and collateral
agreements. Netting agreements allow the Group to net the effect of derivative assets and liabilities when transacted
with the same counterparty, when those netting agreements are legally enforceable and there is an intent to settle net
with the counterparty. Replacement values are disclosed net of such agreements on the balance sheet. Collateral
agreements are entered into with certain counterparties based upon the nature of the counterparty and/or the
transaction and require the placement of cash or securities with the Group. Collateral received is only recognized on
the balance sheet to the extent the counterparty has defaulted in its obligation to the Group and is no longer entitled to
have the collateral returned.

The following table sets forth details of trading and hedging derivative instruments:
Trading Hedging

December 31, 2005, in
CHF bn

Notional
amount

Positive
replacement

value

Negative
replacement

value
Notional
amount

Positive
replacement

value

Negative
replacement

value

Forwards and forward rate
agreements 2,096.7 1.7 1.8 0.4 0.1 0.0
Swaps 12,781.7 170.1 164.5 92.5 2.1 1.2
Options bought and sold
(OTC) 1,973.9 21.7 24.2 12.6 0.2 0.1
Futures 1,001.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Options bought and sold
(traded) 712.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Interest rate products 18,566.4 193.6 190.6 105.5 2.4 1.3

Forwards 1,000.2 12.4 12.2 35.3 0.6 1.0
Swaps 635.1 18.5 19.3 2.8 0.6 0.1
Options bought and sold
(OTC) 483.7 5.3 6.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Futures 10.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Options bought and sold
(traded) 7.5 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

Foreign exchange
products 2,136.8 36.3 37.7 38.1 1.2 1.1

Forwards 8.9 1.2 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
Swaps 2.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Options bought and sold
(OTC) 4.5 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Futures 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
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Options bought and sold
(traded) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Precious metals products 15.5 1.3 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0

Forwards 14.6 4.9 6.4 0.0 0.0 0.0
Swaps 190.1 1.7 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
Options bought and sold
(OTC) 480.9 22.1 20.8 0.0 0.0 0.0
Futures 57.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Options bought and sold
(traded) 333.6 1.7 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

Equity/index-related
products 1,076.4 30.5 31.6 0.0 0.0 0.0

2005 2004

December 31, in CHF bn
Positive re-

placement value
Negative re-

placement value
Positive re-

placement value
Negative re-

placement value

Replacement values (trading and
hedging) before netting 277.5 277.5 248.1 249.3

Replacement values (trading and
hedging) after netting 58.8 58.8 58.3 59.5

 Freestanding derivatives
 A description of the key features of freestanding derivative instruments and the key objectives of holding or issuing
these instruments is set out below.

 Swaps
 The Group’s swap agreements consist primarily of interest rate, equity and credit default swaps. The Group enters into
swap agreements for trading and risk management purposes. Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements to
exchange interest rate payments based on agreed notional amounts and maturity. Equity swaps are contractual
agreements to receive the appreciation or depreciation in value based on a specific strike price on an equity instrument
in exchange for paying another rate, which is usually based on an index or interest rate movements. Credit default
swaps are contractual agreements in which the buyer of the swap pays a periodic fee in return for a contingent
payment by the seller of the swap following a credit event of a reference entity. A credit event is commonly defined as
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, material adverse restructuring of debt or failure to meet payment obligations
when due.

 Options
 The Group writes option contracts specifically designed to meet the needs of customers and for trading purposes.
These written options do not expose the Group to the credit risk of the customer because the Group, not its
counterparty, is obligated to perform. At the beginning of the contract period, the Group receives a cash premium.
During the contract period, the Group bears the risk of unfavorable changes in the value of the financial instruments
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underlying the options. To manage this market risk, the Group purchases or sells cash or derivative financial
instruments on a proprietary basis. Such purchases and sales may include debt and equity securities, forward and
futures contracts, swaps and options.

 The Group also purchases options to meet customer needs, for trading purposes and for hedging purposes. For
purchased options, the Group obtains the right to buy or sell the underlying instrument at a fixed price on or before a
specified date. During the contract period, the Group’s risk is limited to the premium paid. The underlying instruments
for these options typically include fixed income and equity securities, foreign currencies and interest rate instruments
or indices. Counterparties to these option contracts are regularly reviewed to assess creditworthiness.

 Forwards and futures
 The Group enters into forward purchase and sale contracts for mortgage-backed securities, foreign currencies and
commitments to buy or sell commercial and residential mortgages. In addition, the Group enters into futures contracts
on equity-based indices and other financial instruments, as well as options on futures contracts. These contracts are
typically entered into to meet the needs of customers, for trading purposes and for hedging purposes.

 Forward contracts expose the Group to the credit risk of the counterparty. To mitigate this credit risk, the Group
limits transactions with specific counterparties, regularly reviews credit limits and adheres to internally established
credit extension policies.

 For futures contracts and options on futures contracts, the change in the market value is settled with a clearing broker
in cash each day. As a result, the credit risk with the clearing broker is limited to the net positive change in the market
value for a single day.

 Risk management
 The Group uses derivatives to meet its own risk management needs, including mitigation of interest rate, foreign
currency and credit risk. A description of the Group’s hedging activities is set out below.

 Economic hedges
 Economic hedges arise when the Group enters into derivative contracts for its own risk management purposes, but the
contracts entered into do not qualify for hedge accounting under US GAAP. These economic hedges include interest
rate derivatives to manage net interest rate risk on certain core banking business assets and liabilities, and credit
derivatives to manage the credit risk on certain of the Group’s loan portfolios. While the respective risks on the
underlying assets have been hedged, an element of volatility is experienced in the accounting results because in many
cases the expenses and revenue streams generated by the underlying assets are accounted for on an accruals basis,
while the derivatives are accounted for at fair value.

 Fair value hedges
 The Group’s interest rate risk management strategy incorporates the use of derivative instruments to minimize
fluctuations in earnings that are caused by interest rate volatility. Interest rate sensitivity is managed by modifying the
repricing or maturity characteristics of certain assets and liabilities so that movements in interest rates do not
significantly affect net interest income. As a result of interest rate fluctuations, the fair value of hedged assets and
liabilities will appreciate or depreciate.

 In addition, the Group uses cross-currency swaps to convert foreign currency denominated fixed rate assets or
liabilities to floating rate functional currency assets or liabilities, and foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the
foreign currency risk associated with available-for-sale-securities.
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 Derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at fair
value with the carrying value of underlying hedged items also adjusted to fair value for the risk being hedged.
Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recorded in the same line item of the consolidated income statement
as the change in fair value of the risk being hedged for the hedged assets or liabilities to the extent the hedge is
effective. The change in fair value representing hedge ineffectiveness is recorded separately in trading revenues.

 Cash flow hedges
 Cash flow hedging strategies are used to mitigate exposure to variability of cash flows. This is achieved by using
interest rate swaps to convert variable rate assets or liabilities, such as loans, deposits and other debt obligations, to
fixed rates. The Group also uses cross-currency swaps to convert foreign currency denominated fixed and floating rate
assets or liabilities to fixed rate Swiss franc assets or liabilities.

 Further, the Group uses derivatives to hedge the cash flows associated with forecasted transactions. For these hedges,
the maximum length of time over which the Group hedges its exposure to the variability in future cash flows,
excluding those forecasted transactions related to the payment of variable interest on existing financial instruments, is
15 years.

 The effective portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow
hedge is recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI). These amounts are reclassified into earnings
when the variable cash flow from the hedged item impacts earnings. The ineffective portion of the change in the fair
value of a cash flow hedging derivative is recorded in trading revenues.

 Net investment hedges
 The Group typically uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge selected net investments in foreign operations
in order to protect against adverse movements in foreign exchange rates.

 The change in the fair value of a derivative used as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is recorded in
AOCI, to the extent the hedge is effective. The change in fair value representing hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in
trading revenues.

 Over-the-counter derivatives
 The Group’s positions in derivatives include both OTC and exchange-traded derivatives. OTC derivatives include
forwards, swaps and options on foreign exchange, interest rates, equity securities and credit instruments.

The following table sets forth the distributions, by maturity, of the Group's exposure with respect to OTC
derivative receivables:

December 31, 2005, in CHF bn Less than 1 year 1-5 years
More than 5

years
Positive replacement

value

Interest rate products 12.9 62.3 120.7 195.9
Foreign exchange products 20.5 9.8 7.1 37.4
Precious metals products 0.5 0.8 0.0 1.3
Equity/index-related products 7.9 18.5 2.3 28.7
Credit derivatives 0.3 8.2 3.2 11.7
Other products 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.5

Total derivative instruments 42.2 100.0 133.3 275.5
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Netting agreements 1) (218.7)

Total derivative instruments, net
positive replacement value 1) 56.8
1) Taking into account legally enforceable netting agreements.        

The following table sets forth the Group's exposure with respect to OTC derivatives by counterparty credit
rating. Credit ratings are determined by external rating agencies or by equivalent ratings used by our
internal credit department.
December 31, 2005, in CHF bn Net positive replacement value

AAA 21.5
AA 15.0
A 6.4
BBB 6.9
BB or lower 7.0

Total derivative instruments, net positive replacement
value 56.8

For further information on derivatives, refer to note 33 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements and Item
7 - Major shareholders and related party transactions.

 Related party transactions

 The Group enters into related party transactions with its directors, officers and employees and those of its
subsidiaries. For further information relating to these transactions, refer to note 31 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 Recently issued accounting standards

 For a discussion of recently issued accounting standards, refer to notes 1 and 2 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 Liquidity and capital resources

 Credit Suisse Group consolidated and Credit Suisse Group legal entity

 Organization
 In its banking business, the Group launched a key strategic initiative in December 2004 to form a fully integrated
bank, with three segments: Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. The integration of the

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

57



banking business began with the legal merger of the two Swiss banks, Credit Suisse and Credit Suisse First Boston, on
May 13, 2005. The newly integrated global bank was launched on January 1, 2006. The following discussion reflects
the organizational structure in place throughout 2005, as described in Item 4 – Information on the company in the
Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 The Group’s liquidity and capital needs are addressed at the consolidated and legal entity level. Each of the principal
legal entities, Credit Suisse Group, Credit Suisse and Winterthur, finances its operations in a manner consistent with
its business mix, capitalization and ratings and in line with its asset and liability and risk management policies.
Liquidity and capital management is coordinated at the Group level through the Capital Allocation and Risk
Management Committee (CARMC). CARMC has primary oversight responsibility for liquidity, capital and funding.
This committee, which meets on a quarterly basis, includes the Chief Excutive Officers (CEOs) of the Group, the
banking divisions and Winterthur; the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the Chief Risk Officers (CROs) of Credit
Suisse Group and Credit Suisse, as well as the Chief Operating Officer (COO) of Credit Suisse and its Treasurer.
CARMC reviews the capital situation, balance sheet development and current and prospective funding, and defines
and monitors adherence to internal Treasury risk limits and capital and liquidity targets. Implementation of CARMC
decisions is updated in regular monthly sessions with the CRO, CFO, Treasurer and other senior management.

 Funding sources and strategy

 At the Credit Suisse Group consolidated level
 The Group’s funding requirements, including any supplementary capital needs, are based on regulatory requirements,
liquidity requirements, rating agency criteria, economic capital optimization, taxation and other considerations.
Sources of funding are diversified in liability type, currency, investor and geographic distribution. Given the depth of
its private and retail banking businesses, the Group accesses core deposit funding from an international customer base
that has proven to be a stable source of funds over time. This is augmented by the use of institutional market funding
on both an unsecured and secured basis. Access by the various legal entities of Credit Suisse Group to the institutional
market is coordinated globally in an effort to ensure optimal distribution and placement of the Group’s securities.

 At the Credit Suisse Group legal entity level
 Credit Suisse Group is a holding company, and its primary cash requirements result from the payment of dividends to
shareholders, the servicing of Group-issued debt, the purchase of Credit Suisse Group common shares and, from time
to time, the acquisition of new businesses. Generally, Credit Suisse Group does not serve as a financing conduit for
those operating subsidiaries that have direct access to external sources of funding. It does, however, issue
medium-term and long-term debt for general corporate purposes in Switzerland and through finance subsidiaries for
general corporate purposes outside Switzerland. In addition, Credit Suisse Group is the provider of capital and thus is
the issuer of most hybrid Tier 1 capital instruments through special purpose subsidiaries. Proceeds from these
capital-related offerings are typically provided to one of the Group’s operating subsidiaries on a matched basis so that
the Group has limited currency, interest rate or liquidity risk. Equity investments in subsidiaries are generally funded
with equity capital. Double leverage, which compares the amount of equity at the holding company level to the
amount of equity investment in subsidiaries, is actively managed and constitutes an integral part of the Group’s capital
management strategy.

 Credit Suisse Group expects to receive total dividends of approximately CHF 2,800 million for the 2005 financial
year, compared with CHF 2,778 million for the 2004 financial year and CHF 960 million for the 2003 financial year.

 At the Annual General Meeting on April 29, 2005, the Group’s shareholders approved the launch of a share
repurchase program of up to CHF 6 billion over a maximum period of two years. The registered shares, repurchased
via a second trading line on virt-x, will be cancelled, subject to shareholders’ approval. Through March 21, 2006, the
Group repurchased CHF 1.9 billion of shares under the program. In addition, on December 23, 2005, the Group’s CHF
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1.25 billion, 6% Subordinated Mandatory Convertible Securities were redeemed through conversion into
approximately 33.7 million Credit Suisse Group common shares under the terms of the notes. Until the date of
conversion the convertible securities formed part of long-term debt. From time to time the Group also repurchases its
own shares for the purpose of satisfying its obligations under its employee benefit plans.

 In respect of the 2005 financial year, subject to shareholder approval, the Group will make a dividend payment in the
amount of CHF 2.00 for each share ranking for dividends, or a total of approximately CHF 2,400 million. For the
2004 financial year, the Group paid dividends of CHF 1,821 million, and for the 2003 financial year, the total capital
repayment, in lieu of a dividend, amounted to CHF 599 million.

 At December 31, 2005, Credit Suisse Group and its finance subsidiaries had borrowings of CHF 13.5 billion, a
decrease of CHF 2.0 billion compared to year-end 2004. During the third quarter of 2005, the Group issued EUR 850
million 3.125 per cent Guaranteed Notes due in 2012, and EUR 900 million 3.625 per cent Step-up Callable
Subordinated Guaranteed Notes due in 2020. These notes are quoted on the Swiss Exchange (SWX) and the proceeds
were used to repay or repurchase other outstanding notes and bonds. In January 2006, Credit Suisse Group, through
one of its special purpose vehicles, issued EUR 1 billion of subordinated bonds, due in 2018. The proceeds were used
for general corporate purposes outside of Switzerland.

 The cost of servicing debt and preferred securities issued by Credit Suisse Group and its finance subsidiaries, after
taking swap transactions into consideration, was CHF 725 million in 2005, CHF 693 million in 2004 and CHF 711
million in 2003.

 Credit Suisse Group maintains a shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, which allows it to issue, from time
to time, senior and subordinated debt securities, trust preferred securities and warrants to purchase equity, debt or
other securities. The shelf registration statement also allows the Group to guarantee securities issued by a finance
subsidiary.

 Factors that may affect liquidity and capital resources
 The subsidiaries of Credit Suisse Group are generally subject to legal restrictions on the amount of dividends they can
pay. For example, article 675, in conjunction with article 671, of the Swiss Code of Obligations provides that Credit
Suisse and Winterthur may pay dividends only if and to the extent: (i) they have earned a profit during a given
financial year or previously established reserves for the payment of dividends; (ii) the required portion of annual profit
has been allocated to reserves as prescribed by law, the articles of association or a resolution of the general meeting of
shareholders; and (iii) allocation and payment of the dividends has been approved at the general meeting of
shareholders. Credit Suisse Group does not believe that legal or regulatory restrictions constitute a material limitation
on the ability of its subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Group. The amount of dividends paid by operating subsidiaries
is determined after considering the expectations for future results and growth of the operating businesses.

 Credit ratings
 The Group’s access to the debt capital markets and its borrowing costs depend significantly on its credit ratings.
Rating agencies take many factors into consideration in determining a company’s rating and may raise, lower or
withdraw their ratings, or publicly announce an intention to raise or lower their ratings, at any time. Such factors
include earnings performance, business mix, market position, ownership, financial strategy, level of capital, risk
management policies and practices and management team and the broader outlook for the financial services industry.
Credit ratings do not indicate a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities of the Group.

 On January 26, 2006, Standard & Poor's changed its outlook on Credit Suisse Group to positive from stable. At the
same time, it affirmed the 'A/A-1' long- and short-term counterparty credit ratings.
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The credit rating and ratings outlook assigned to the senior debt of Credit Suisse Group, on a
standalone basis, as of March 21, 2006 were as follows:

Short-Term Long-Term Outlook

Fitch F1+ AA- Stable
Moody's - Aa3 Stable
Standard & Poor's A-1 A Positive

In addition the Group’s principal subsidiaries, Credit Suisse and Winterthur, have their own ratings, which are
described below.

 Capital resources and capital adequacy
 The Group’s capital needs are a function of various factors, including economic, market and, on a consolidated basis,
regulatory requirements. The economic capital requirement is defined as that amount of capital needed to continue to
operate the Group’s business franchise under extremely adverse conditions. This is measured through the use of
internally developed statistically based models designed to quantify potential risk exposure. The Group is also subject,
on a consolidated basis, to regulatory capital requirements and the risk-based capital guidelines which are set forth in
the Implementing Ordinance issued by the SFBC. The Group also adheres to the risk-based capital guidelines set forth
by the BIS. These guidelines take account of the credit and market risk associated with balance sheet assets and
certain off-balance sheet transactions. All calculations through December 31, 2003 were performed on the basis of
financial reporting under Swiss GAAP, the basis for the capital supervision by the Swiss regulator. As of January 1,
2004, the Group based its capital adequacy calculations on financial reporting under US GAAP, which is in
accordance with SFBC newsletter 32 (dated December 18, 2003). The SFBC has advised the Group that it may
continue to include as Tier 1 capital equity from special purpose entities, which are deconsolidated under FIN 46R, in
the amount of CHF 2.2 billion and CHF 2.1 billion as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For further
information about our risk-based capital guidelines, refer to Item 4 – Information on the company – Regulation and
supervision.

 The risk and capital position of the insurance business is considered when calculating the consolidated capital ratios.
Pursuant to the SFBC’s 2003 Decree on the capital treatment of Winterthur, the capital charge for the insurance
business is reflected as a reduction to the relevant regulatory capital amounts.

 For details on the components of our consolidated capital structure, refer to note 40 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table sets forth the Group's consolidated capital and BIS capital ratios:
December 31, in CHF m, except where indicated 2005 2004

Tier 1 capital 26,348 24,596
of which non-cumulative perpetual
preferred securities 2,170 2,118

Total capital 31,918 33,121
BIS Tier 1 capital ratio 11.3% 12.3%
BIS total capital ratio 13.7% 16.6%
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From time to time, the SFBC and BIS propose amendments to, and issue interpretations of, risk-based capital
guidelines and reporting regulations. Such proposals or interpretations could, if implemented in the future, affect our
capital ratios and the measurement of our risk-weighted assets.

 In addition, various subsidiaries engaged in both banking and broker-dealer activities are regulated by the local
regulators in the jurisdictions in which they operate.

 Certain Group broker-dealer subsidiaries are subject to capital adequacy requirements. As of December 31, 2005, the
Group and its subsidiaries complied with all applicable regulatory capital adequacy requirements.

 Contractual cash obligations and other commercial commitments
 The Group has contractual obligations to make future payments under long-term bonds and mortgage-backed bonds,
medium-term notes, long-term, non-cancelable lease agreements and other long-term obligations. Refer to Contractual
obligations and other commercial commitments for further information on future cash payments associated with our
contractual obligations pursuant to certain medium- and long-term debt operating leases on a consolidated basis as of
December 31, 2005.

 For additional information on our off-balance sheet commitments, refer to note 34 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

 Credit Suisse legal entity

 Organization
 The Credit Suisse legal entity is comprised of the former Credit Suisse First Boston and former Credit Suisse legal
entities, which were merged on May 13, 2005, as part of the Group’s strategy of forming a fully integrated bank.
Following the merger, the liquidity and capital of the combined entity is managed on a collective basis.

 Credit Suisse believes that maintaining access to liquidity is fundamental for firms operating in the financial services
industry. Credit Suisse includes the private and retail banking, institutional securities and asset management
businesses. Liquidity is managed on both a consolidated and legal entity basis within the international organizational
structure.

 Credit Suisse’s Treasury department is responsible for the day-to-day management of capital, liquidity and funding, as
well as for relationships with creditor banks and fixed income investors. It also maintains regular contact with rating
agencies and regulators on liquidity and capital issues.

 Liquidity management
 Credit Suisse manages liquidity so as to ensure that sufficient funds are either on-hand or readily available on short
notice in the event that it experiences any impairment in its ability to borrow in the unsecured debt markets. In this
way, Credit Suisse seeks to ensure that, even in the event of a liquidity dislocation, it has sufficient funds to repay
maturing liabilities and other obligations so that it is able to carry out its business plans with as little disruption as
possible.

 Credit Suisse’s liquidity management structure operates at two levels, the “bank franchise” and the “non-bank franchise.”

 The “bank franchise” comprises Credit Suisse and its regulated subsidiaries and has access to funds raised directly by
Credit Suisse from stable deposit-based core funds, the interbank markets and secured funding through the repurchase
and securities lending markets. Historically, Credit Suisse’s deposit base has proven extremely stable and is comprised
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of a diversified customer base, including retail and private bank deposits, and wholesale and institutional deposits. In a
stressed liquidity environment, Credit Suisse’s broker-dealer subsidiaries would directly access the secured funding
markets to replace unsecured borrowings from the parent bank.

 For the “non-bank franchise,” where access to parent bank funding is limited, Credit Suisse aims to maintain sufficient
liquidity so that in the event that it is unable to access the unsecured capital markets, it will have cash and liquid assets
sufficient to repay maturing liabilities for a minimum period of one year. When assessing the amount of cash and
liquid assets, consideration is given to any regulatory restrictions that limit the amount of cash that could be
distributed upstream by Credit Suisse’s principal broker-dealer subsidiaries to their unregulated parent entities.

 The majority of Credit Suisse’s assets are held in its bank franchise. A substantial portion of these assets – principally
trading inventories that support its institutional securities business – are highly liquid, consisting of securities
inventories and collateralized receivables, which fluctuate depending on the levels of proprietary trading and customer
business. Collateralized receivables consist primarily of securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities
borrowed, both of which are primarily secured by government and agency securities, and marketable corporate debt
and equity securities. In addition, Credit Suisse has significant receivables from customers and broker-dealers that turn
over frequently. To meet client needs as a securities dealer, Credit Suisse may carry significant levels of trading
inventories.

 As part of its Swiss domestic business, Credit Suisse provides residential and commercial mortgages and secured and
unsecured advances to a wide range of borrowers, including individuals, small- and medium-sized corporate entities
and utilities in Switzerland, Swiss public entities and local and regional governments. These assets are generally in the
form of fixed customer-based term loans and loans callable on demand after a contractual notice period. These assets,
which are all held in the bank franchise, are well diversified by geography, customer type and instrument. Other assets
financed by the bank franchise include loans to corporate and other institutional clients, money market holdings and
foreign exchange positions held directly on Credit Suisse’s balance sheet.

 Assets held in Credit Suisse’s non-bank franchise include less-liquid assets such as certain mortgage whole loans,
distressed securities, high-yield debt securities, asset-backed securities and private equity and other long-term
investments. These assets may be relatively illiquid at times, especially during periods of market stress. The non-bank
franchise also provides most of the regulatory capital (equity and subordinated debt) in Credit Suisse’s broker-dealer
and bank subsidiaries.

 The principal measure used to monitor the liquidity position at each of the funding franchises of Credit Suisse is the
“liquidity barometer,” which estimates the time horizon over which the adjusted market value of unencumbered assets
(including cash) exceeds the aggregate value of maturing unsecured liabilities plus a conservative forecast of
anticipated contingent commitments. Credit Suisse’s objective, as mandated by CARMC, is to ensure that the liquidity
barometer for each of the funding franchises is maintained at a sufficient level to ensure that, in the event that Credit
Suisse is unable to access unsecured funding, it will have sufficient liquidity for an extended period.

 For the non-bank franchise, Credit Suisse’s objective is to ensure that the liquidity barometer equals or exceeds a time
horizon of one year. In the case of the bank franchise, the objective is to ensure the liquidity barometer equals or
exceeds 120 days. The different time horizons reflect the relative stability of the unsecured funding base of each
funding franchise. In the non-bank franchise, liabilities are measured at their contractual maturities because
historically, investors in publicly issued debt securities and commercial paper are highly sensitive to liquidity events,
such that Credit Suisse believes access to these markets would be quickly diminished. Conversely, the bank franchise’s
retail and institutional deposit base is measured using contractual maturities that have been adjusted to reflect
behavioral stability. Historically, this core deposit base has proven extremely stable, even in stressed markets. The
conservative parameters Credit Suisse uses in establishing the time horizons in the funding franchises assume that
assets will not be sold to generate cash, no new unsecured debt can be issued, and funds that are assumed to be
trapped because of regulatory restrictions are not available to be distributed upstream in a stressed liquidity
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environment. Contingent commitments include such things as commitments to invest in private equity funds, letters of
credit, credit rating-related collateralization requirements, backup liquidity lines provided to asset-backed commercial
paper conduits and committed credit facilities to clients that are currently undrawn. The adjusted market value of
unencumbered assets includes a conservative reduction from market value, or “haircut,” reflecting the amount that could
be realized by pledging an asset as collateral to a third-party lender in a secured funding transaction. Credit Suisse
regularly stress tests its liquidity resources using scenarios designed to represent highly adverse conditions.

 The bank franchise maintains two large secondary sources of liquidity. The first is via a large portfolio of liquid fixed
income securities, which is segregated and managed to provide for emergency liquidity needs only. This liquidity
portfolio is maintained at a level well beyond regulatory requirements and could provide a significant source of
liquidity for an extended period in the event of stressed market conditions. In addition to these assets held directly in
Credit Suisse, the bank franchise maintains another large source of secondary liquidity through Credit Suisse’s
principal broker-dealers and other regulated entities. The bank franchise has historically been able to access significant
liquidity through the secured funding markets (securities sold under agreements to repurchase, securities loaned and
other collateralized financing arrangements), even in periods of market stress. Credit Suisse continually monitors its
overall liquidity by tracking the extent to which unencumbered marketable assets and alternative unsecured funding
sources exceed both contractual obligations and anticipated contingent commitments.

 Credit Suisse’s liquidity contingency plan focuses on the specific actions that would be taken in the event of a crisis,
including a detailed communication plan for creditors, investors and customers. The plan, which is regularly updated,
sets out a three-stage process of the specific actions that would be taken.

 – Stage I – Market disruption

 – Stage II – Unsecured markets partially inaccessible

 – Stage III – Unsecured markets fully inaccessible

 In the event of a liquidity crisis, a meeting of the Liquidity Crisis Committee would be convened by Treasury to
activate the contingency plan. The Liquidity Crisis Committee’s membership includes senior business line, funding
and finance department management. This committee would meet frequently throughout the crisis to ensure the plan is
executed.

 Credit Suisse, through various broker-dealer and bank subsidiaries, has negotiated secured bilateral committed credit
arrangements with various third party banks. As of December 31, 2005, Credit Suisse maintained ten such credit
facilities that collectively totaled USD 4.5 billion. These facilities require Credit Suisse’s various broker-dealer and
bank subsidiaries to pledge unencumbered marketable securities to secure any borrowings. Borrowings under each
facility would bear interest at short-term rates related to either the Federal Funds rate, LIBOR or other money market
indices and can be used for general corporate purposes. The facilities contain customary covenants that Credit Suisse
believes will not impair its ability to obtain funding.

 Funding sources and strategy
 The bank franchise’s assets are principally funded with a mixture of unsecured and secured funding. Unsecured
funding is primarily accessed through Credit Suisse’s substantial retail and private bank deposit base, which is well
diversified across customer categories, funding types and geography. The retail and private bank funding base is
primarily comprised of time deposits and deposits callable on demand. While the contractual maturity of these
deposits is typically under three months, they have historically shown remarkable stability even under extreme market
conditions. Additional unsecured funding is accessed via borrowings in the wholesale and institutional deposit
markets. Secured funding consists of collateralized short-term borrowings, which include securities sold under
agreements to repurchase and securities loaned. Additional funding is also sourced via short-term intercompany
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borrowings from other Credit Suisse Group entities on both a secured and unsecured basis.

 The non-bank funding franchise’s assets are also funded with a mixture of secured and unsecured sources. Secured
funding consists of collateralized short-term borrowings, while unsecured funding includes principally long-term
borrowings and, to a lesser extent, commercial paper. Credit Suisse typically funds a significant portion of less-liquid
assets, such as private equity investments, with long-term capital markets borrowings and shareholders’ equity.
Unsecured liabilities are issued through various debt programs. For information on these debt programs, refer to
Funding activity highlights below.

 Other significant funding sources include financial instruments sold not yet purchased, payables to customers and
broker-dealers and shareholders’ equity.

 Short-term funding is generally obtained at rates related to the Federal Funds rate, LIBOR or other money market
indices, while long-term funding is generally obtained at fixed and floating rates related to US Treasury securities,
LIBOR or other interest rate benchmark, depending upon prevailing market conditions. Credit Suisse continually aims
to broaden its funding base by geography, investor and funding instrument.

 Credit Suisse lends funds as needed to its operating subsidiaries and affiliates on both a senior and subordinated basis,
the latter typically to meet capital requirements in regulated subsidiaries. Credit Suisse generally tries to ensure that
loans to its operating subsidiaries and affiliates have maturities equal to or shorter in tenor than the maturities of its
market borrowings. As such, senior funding to operating subsidiaries and affiliates is typically extended on a demand
basis. Subordinated financing to regulated subsidiaries is extended on a term basis and Credit Suisse structures its
long-term borrowings with maturities that extend beyond those of its subordinated advances to subsidiaries and
affiliates.

 In addition, Credit Suisse generally funds investments in subsidiaries with shareholders’ equity. To satisfy the Swiss
and local regulatory capital needs of its regulated subsidiaries, Credit Suisse enters into subordinated long-term
borrowings. At December 31, 2005, Credit Suisse had consolidated long-term debt of approximately CHF 125.9
billion, including approximately CHF 13.5 billion of subordinated debt.

 Funding activity highlights
 In the non-bank funding franchise, Credit Suisse (USA), Inc. (CS USA) issues long-term debt through US and
Euromarket medium-term note programs, as well as syndicated and privately placed offerings around the world.

 CS USA maintains a shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, which was established in February 2006 and
allows it to issue, from time to time, senior and subordinated debt securities and warrants to purchase such securities.

 For the year ended December 31, 2005, CS USA issued USD 1.8 billion of 5.125% notes due 2015, USD 1.0 billion
of 4.875% notes due 2010, USD 1.3 billion of floating rate notes due 2010 and USD 4.3 billion of floating rate notes
due 2008 under its shelf registration statement and USD 217 million of structured notes. CS USA did not issue any
medium-term notes under its USD 5 billion Euromarket program established in July 2001.

 During the year ended December 31, 2005, CS USA repaid approximately USD 2.1 billion of medium-term notes,
USD 1.0 billion of senior notes and USD 56 million of structured notes.

 Credit ratings
 Although retail and private bank deposits are generally less sensitive to changes in a bank’s credit ratings, the cost and
availability of other sources of unsecured external funding is generally a function of credit ratings. Credit ratings are
especially important to Credit Suisse when competing in certain markets and when seeking to engage in longer-term
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transactions, including OTC derivatives.

 A reduction in credit ratings could limit Credit Suisse’s access to capital markets, increase its borrowing costs, require
it to post additional collateral or allow counterparties to terminate transactions under certain of its trading and
collateralized financing contracts. This, in turn, could reduce its liquidity and negatively impact its operating results
and financial position. Its liquidity planning takes into consideration those contingent events associated with a
reduction in its credit ratings.

 Standard and Poor’s revised the outlooks on Credit Suisse Group’s core operating subsidiaries Credit Suisse, Credit
Suisse (International) Holding AG, CS USA, Credit Suisse Holdings (USA) Inc. and Credit Suisse International to
positive from stable and affirmed the 'A+/A-1' long- and short-term counterparty credit ratings on these subsidiaries.

The credit rating and ratings outlook assigned to the senior debt of Credit Suisse and
CS USA as of March 21, 2006 were as follows:

Short-Term Long-Term Outlook

Credit Suisse
Fitch F1+ AA- Stable
Moody's P-1 Aa3 Stable
Standard & Poor's A-1 A+ Positive
CS USA
Fitch F1+ AA- Stable
Moody's P-1 Aa3 Stable
Standard & Poor's A-1 A+ Positive

 Capital resources and capital adequacy
 Certain of Credit Suisse’s businesses are capital intensive. Capital is required to cover risks (economic and regulatory)
on various asset classes, including but not limited to, securities inventories, loans and other credit products, private
equity investments and investments in fixed assets. Credit Suisse’s overall capital needs are continually reviewed to
ensure that its capital base can appropriately support the anticipated needs of its business and the regulatory capital
requirements of its subsidiaries. Based upon these analyses, Credit Suisse believes that its capital base is adequate for
current operating levels.

 As a Swiss bank, Credit Suisse is subject to regulation by the SFBC. These regulations include risk-based capital
guidelines set forth in the Implementing Ordinance. Credit Suisse also adheres to the risk-based capital guidelines set
forth by the BIS. The SFBC has advised the Group that Credit Suisse may continue to include as Tier 1 capital CHF
6.5 billion of equity from special purpose entities that are deconsolidated under FIN 46R.

 At Credit Suisse, the regulatory guidelines are used to measure capital adequacy. These guidelines take account of the
credit and market risk associated with balance sheet assets as well as certain off-balance sheet transactions. All
calculations through December 31, 2003 were performed on the basis of financial reporting under Swiss GAAP. As of
January 1, 2004, Credit Suisse performed all its capital adequacy calculations on the basis of financial reporting under
US GAAP, which is in accordance with the SFBC newsletter 32 (dated December 18, 2003).

The following table sets forth Credit Suisse's consolidated capital and BIS capital ratios:
December 31, in CHF m, except where indicated 2005 2004

Tier 1 capital 20,563 19,247
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of which non-cumulative perpetual
preferred securities

1,044 1,005

Total capital 29,815 30,563
BIS Tier 1 capital ratio 9.6% 10.7%
BIS total capital ratio 14.0% 17.0%

For further information on regulatory capital requirements, refer to Item 4 – Information on the company – Regulation
and supervision.

 Winterthur legal entity

 Organization
 Winterthur generally manages its liquidity and capital resources on an independent basis. These treasury operations
are the responsibility of the Chief Investment Officer, or CIO, of Winterthur. Local country CIOs and treasurers work
within the guidelines set by the Winterthur head office and report to their Winterthur head office counterparts.

 Liquidity management
 Overall liquidity needs are typically met through active day-to-day cash management that seeks to match anticipated
cash inflows with budgeted cash requirements. In addition, Winterthur’s liquidity needs are taken into account in the
strategic asset allocation of its investment portfolios, which is based on asset and liability management considerations.

 Funding sources and strategy
 The principal sources of funds for Winterthur are premiums from the insurance businesses, deposits and charges on
policies, investment income, proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments and, to a lesser extent, external
borrowings. The liquidity requirements of Winterthur include benefits, surrenders and claims, operating expenses,
interest and borrowings, purchases of investments and dividends to Credit Suisse Group. Winterthur did not pay a
dividend to Credit Suisse Group in 2005.

 See note 24 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for information relating to outstanding long-term
debt.

 Credit ratings
 Rating agencies can assign two types of ratings to insurance companies: Insurer Financial Strength (IFS) ratings and
credit ratings.

 IFS ratings provide an assessment of the financial strength of a company and its capacity to meet senior obligations to
policyholders and contract holders on a timely basis. IFS ratings are assigned to the company itself, and no liabilities
or obligations of the insurer are specifically rated unless otherwise stated. Because an insurer’s obligation to pay its
claim and benefit obligations ranks senior to all other obligations, the IFS rating is typically the highest rating
assigned within the organization.

 Insurance agents and brokers, risk managers, financial planners, pension fund advisors, individual policyholders and
claimants may use these ratings as an unbiased viewpoint as to Winterthur’s financial viability.
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 In contrast, borrowing costs and, when required, access to debt capital markets, depend significantly on credit ratings.
These ratings provide an assessment of overall credit quality at the unsecured senior level and the ability of an insurer
to meet related obligations.

 In 2005, Standard & Poor’s affirmed the A-/Stable IFS rating for Winterthur. A.M. Best & Co. affirmed Winterthur’s
A- (Excellent) IFS rating. Fitch Ratings affirmed Winterthur’s A+ IFS rating and removed it from Rating Watch
Negative, on which Winterthur had been placed earlier in the year. Moody’s changed the outlook on Winterthur’s A1
IFS rating to negative from stable.

Winterthur's IFS ratings as of March 21, 2006 were as follows:
Insurer financial strength Outlook

A.M. Best A- Stable
Fitch IBCA Ltd. A+ Stable
Moody's A1 Negative
Standard & Poor's A- Stable

 Solvency and capital adequacy
 Winterthur’s capital requirements incorporate a combination of regulatory, market and economic requirements.
Winterthur’s overall capital needs are continually reviewed to ensure that its capital base can appropriately support
anticipated business and operational requirements. The economic capital requirement is defined by Credit Suisse
Group’s internal standards. In order to fulfill regulatory requirements, all of Winterthur’s operating subsidiaries
calculate their solvency on a local country level, generally on an annual basis. Internally, the solvency position is
reviewed on a quarterly basis. At December 31, 2005, all of Winterthur’s insurance subsidiaries met their local
solvency requirements.

 As an insurance company, Winterthur is subject to supervision by the Swiss insurance regulator, the Bundesamt für
Privatversicherungen (BPV) on a consolidated basis, as well as in respect of the individual Swiss operating
companies. During 2003, Winterthur became subject to a new consolidated supervision decree with the BPV, which
covers the provision of information and reporting of Winterthur group’s solvency position. The BPV group solvency
calculation, which came into force on January 1, 2004 and replaced the group solvency under the European Union
(EU) Group solvency directive, is very similar in concept to the EU Group model, but differs in detail, with the aim of
reducing complexity. The available capital under the new model is based on US GAAP consolidated equity. The
capital requirements follow Swiss statutory requirements, which are identical to those of the EU. As of December 31,
2005, the Group’s BPV available solvency capital exceeded the minimum required solvency margin.

 Information required by Industry Guide 3

 Selected statistical information
 The tables below set forth selected statistical information extracted from the consolidated financial statements.

 Average balances and interest rates
The following tables set forth average interest-earning assets, average interest-bearing liabilities and average rates for
the years presented. Month-end balances were predominantly used in computing the averages disclosed below. The

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

67



Group believes these amounts approximate daily averages.
2005 2004 2003

Year ended December 31, in CHF
m except where indicated

Average
balance

Interest
income

Average
rate in

%
Average
balance

Interest
income

Average
rate in

%
Average
balance

Interest
income

Average
rate in

%

Assets
Cash and due from banks

Switzerland 2,220 35 1.58% 1,843 24 1.30% 6,569 42 0.64%
Foreign 18,440 421 2.28% 15,326 243 1.59% 12,948 94 0.73%

Interest bearing deposits with
banks

Switzerland 335 5 1.49% 237 1 0.42% 851 12 1.41%
Foreign 5,004 114 2.28% 4,260 73 1.71% 1,553 34 2.19%

Central bank funds sold, securities
purchased under resale
agreements and securities
borrowing transactions

Switzerland 16,555 423 2.56% 11,266 298 2.65% 7,955 220 2.77%
Foreign 333,454 12,263 3.68% 289,178 6,438 2.23% 252,621 5,032 1.99%

Trading assets
Switzerland 9,687 680 7.02% 6,665 398 5.97% 9,841 273 2.77%
Foreign 336,796 13,464 4.00% 286,063 12,168 4.25% 228,068 10,501 4.60%

Investment securities
Switzerland 43,289 1,501 3.47% 41,394 1,551 3.75% 38,161 1,530 4.01%
Foreign 67,813 2,571 3.79% 61,200 2,384 3.90% 62,018 2,613 4.21%

Loans
Switzerland 126,839 3,947 3.11% 122,904 3,635 2.96% 120,876 4,106 3.40%
Foreign 69,754 2,807 4.02% 61,883 2,395 3.87% 60,847 2,728 4.48%

Other interest-earning assets
Switzerland 3,211 156 4.86% 3,809 148 3.89% 5,013 108 2.15%
Foreign 62,307 2,541 4.08% 47,753 1,217 2.55% 36,629 1,069 2.92%

Interest-earning assets 1,095,704 40,928 3.74% 953,781 30,973 3.25% 843,950 28,362 3.36%

Specific allowance for losses (3,774) (4,935) (7,347)
Non-interest-earning assets 162,939 173,547 208,922

Total assets 1,254,869 1,122,393 1,045,525

Percentage of assets attributable to
foreign activities 79.12% 78.73% 76.84%

2005 2004 2003

Year ended December 31, in
CHF m except where indicated

Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in

%
Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in

%
Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in

%

Liabilities
Deposits of banks

Switzerland 4,727 97 2.05% 5,420 45 0.83% 19,446 161 0.83%

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

68



Foreign 76,575 2,243 2.93% 66,330 1,357 2.05% 37,620 932 2.48%
Deposits of non-banks

Switzerland 102,732 829 0.81% 98,754 605 0.61% 85,267 557 0.65%
Foreign 145,597 4,352 2.99% 114,784 2,028 1.77% 91,045 1,754 1.93%

Central bank funds purchased,
securities sold under repurchase
agreements and securities
lending transactions

Switzerland 27,916 536 1.92% 19,657 345 1.76% 19,617 278 1.42%
Foreign 285,393 11,139 3.90% 247,585 5,543 2.24% 215,431 4,377 2.03%

Trading liabilities
Switzerland 2,559 0 0.00% 2,020 22 1.09% 5,005 105 2.10%
Foreign 125,453 4,845 3.86% 109,263 5,242 4.80% 119,733 4,723 3.94%

Short-term borrowings
Switzerland 671 18 2.68% 1,903 35 1.84% 1,264 41 3.24%
Foreign 15,143 337 2.23% 13,648 208 1.52% 11,601 298 2.57%

Long-term debt
Switzerland 12,207 468 3.83% 11,553 384 3.32% 11,290 420 3.72%
Foreign 108,315 3,528 3.26% 89,078 2,590 2.91% 79,304 2,388 3.01%

Other interest-bearing liabilities
Switzerland 2,700 60 2.22% 2,919 38 1.30% 3,281 75 2.29%
Foreign 21,671 884 4.08% 16,690 565 3.39% 7,818 528 6.75%

Interest-bearing liabilities 931,659 29,336 3.15% 799,604 19,007 2.38% 707,722 16,637 2.35%

Non-interest-bearing liabilities 282,352 286,393 302,922

Total liabilities 1,214,011 1,085,997 1,010,644

Shareholders' equity 40,858 36,396 34,881

Total liabilities and
shareholders' equity 1,254,869 1,122,393 1,045,525

Percentage of liabilities
attributable to foreign activities 79.28% 78.53% 76.02%

The following table sets forth net interest income and the interest rate spread:
2005 2004 2003

Year ended December 31

Net interest
income in
CHF m

Interest rate
spread in %

Net interest
income in
CHF m

Interest rate
spread in %

Net interest
income in
CHF m

Interest
rate

spread
in %

Switzerland 4,739 2.00% 4,581 2.20% 4,654 2.20%
Foreign 6,853 0.30% 7,385 0.60% 7,071 0.70%

Total net 11,592 0.60% 11,966 0.80% 11,725 1.00%
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The average rates earned and paid on related assets and liabilities can fluctuate within wide ranges and are influenced
by several key factors. The most significant factor is changes in global interest rates. Additional factors include
changes in the geographic and product mix of the Group’s business and foreign exchange rate movements between the
Swiss franc and the currency of the underlying individual assets and liabilities.

The following table shows selected margin information:
Average rate

Year ended December 31 2005 2004 2003

Switzerland 2.34% 2.44% 2.46%
Foreign 0.77% 0.96% 1.08%

Net interest margin 1.06% 1.25% 1.39%

The US Federal Reserve continued to increase short-term interest rates throughout 2005, raising short-term rates to
4.25% in December 2005. The yield curve continued to flatten throughout the year, ending 2005 inverted, with
long-term interest rates falling below short-term rates.

 During the fourth quarter of 2005, the European Central Bank raised its benchmark interest rate for the first time in
five years. The Bank of England reduced its benchmark rate once during 2005 while the Bank of Japan kept its rates
stable throughout the year.

 The Swiss National Bank sets a target range for 3-month Swiss franc Libor in order to manage money supply. On
December 15, 2005, the Swiss National Bank increased the target range for the three-month Libor by 0.25 percentage
points to 0.50–1.50%. This was the first change in the target range announced during 2005.

 Analysis of changes in net interest income
The following tables allocate, by categories of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, changes in net
interest income due to changes in volume and in rates for 2005 compared to 2004 and for 2004 compared to 2003.
Volume and rate variances have been calculated in movements in average balances and changes in average rates.
Changes due to a combination of volume and rate have been allocated to the change due to average rate.

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

Increase/(decrease)
due to
changes in

Increase/(decrease)
due to changes in

Year ended December 31, in CHF m
Average
volume

Average
rate

Net
change

Average
volume

Average
rate

Net
change

Cash and due from banks
Switzerland 5 6 11 (30) 12 (18)
Foreign 50 128 178 17 132 149

Interest-bearing deposits with banks
Switzerland 0 4 4 (9) (2) (11)
Foreign 13 28 41 59 (20) 39

Central bank funds sold, securities purchased
under resale agreements, and securities borrowing
transactions

Switzerland 140 (15) 125 92 (14) 78
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Foreign 987 4,838 5,825 727 679 1,406
Trading assets

Switzerland 180 102 282 (88) 213 125
Foreign 2,156 (860) 1,296 2,668 (1,001) 1,667

Investment securities
Switzerland 71 (121) (50) 130 (109) 21
Foreign 258 (71) 187 (34) (195) (229)

Loans
Switzerland 116 196 312 69 (540) (471)
Foreign 305 107 412 46 (379) (333)

Other interest-earning assets
Switzerland (23) 31 8 (26) 66 40
Foreign 371 954 1,325 325 (177) 148

Interest-earning assets
Switzerland 489 203 692 138 (374) (236)
Foreign 4,140 5,124 9,264 3,808 (961) 2,847

Change in interest income 4,629 5,327 9,956 3,946 (1,335) 2,611

2005 vs. 2004 2004 vs. 2003

Increase/(decrease) due to
changes in

Increase/(decrease) due to
changes in

Year ended December 31, in CHF m
Average
volume

Average
rate

Net
change

Average
volume

Average
rate

Net
change

Deposits of banks
Switzerland (6) 58 52 (116) 0 (116)
Foreign 210 676 886 712 (287) 425
Deposits of non-banks
Switzerland 24 200 224 88 (40) 48
Foreign 545 1,779 2,324 458 (184) 274
Central bank funds purchased, securities sold under
repurchase agreements, and securities lending
transactions
Switzerland 145 46 191 1 66 67
Foreign 847 4,749 5,596 653 513 1,166
Trading liabilities
Switzerland 6 (28) (22) (63) (20) (83)
Foreign 777 (1,174) (397) (413) 932 519
Short-term borrowings
Switzerland (23) 6 (17) 21 (27) (6)
Foreign 23 106 129 53 (143) (90)
Long-term debt
Switzerland 22 62 84 10 (46) (36)
Foreign 560 378 938 294 (92) 202
Other interest-bearing liabilities
Switzerland (3) 25 22 (8) (29) (37)
Foreign 169 150 319 599 (562) 37
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Interest bearing liabilities
Switzerland 165 369 534 (67) (96) (163)
Foreign 3,131 6,664 9,795 2,356 177 2,533

Change in interest expense 3,296 7,033 10,329 2,289 81 2,370

Change in net interest income
Switzerland 324 (166) 158 205 (278) (73)
Foreign 1,009 (1,540) (531) 1,452 (1,138) 314

Total change in net interest income 1,333 (1,706) (373) 1,657 (1,416) 241

 Deposits
 Deposits by foreign depositors in Swiss offices amounted to CHF 42.5 billion, CHF 37.2 billion and CHF 40.2 billion
as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table presents information on deposits for the years indicated. Designation of Switzerland versus
Foreign was based upon the location of the office recording the deposit. Month-end balances were predominantly
used in computing the averages disclosed below. The Group believes these amounts approximate daily averages.

2005 2004 2003

Year ended December 31, in
CHF m except where
indicated

Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in %

Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in %

Average
balance

Interest
expense

Average
rate in %

Noninterest-bearing demand 12,691 – – 10,246 – – 17,369 – –
Interest-bearing demand 47,428 196 0.4% 52,183 139 0.3% 38,388 129 0.3%
Savings deposits 44,389 255 0.6% 43,605 257 0.6% 41,773 282 0.7%
Time deposits 37,630 572 1.5% 31,641 359 1.1% 32,216 350 1.1%

Switzerland 142,138 1,023 0.7% 137,675 755 0.5% 129,746 761 0.6%

Noninterest-bearing demand 1,194 – – 1,396 – – 1,391 – –
Interest-bearing demand 12,308 297 2.4% 9,023 116 1.3% 6,471 91 1.4%
Savings deposits 26 0 0.0% 12 0 0.0% 11 0 0.0%
Time deposits 187,850 6,200 3.3% 148,824 3,164 2.1% 114,519 2,552 2.2%

Foreign 201,378 6,497 3.2% 159,255 3,280 2.1% 122,392 2,643 2.2%

Total deposits 343,516 7,520 2.2% 296,930 4,035 1.4% 252,138 3,404 1.4%

The following table presents the aggregate of individual time deposits issued in Switzerland and in
Foreign offices in the CHF equivalent amounts of USD 100,000 or more, together with their
remaining maturities:
December 31, 2005, in CHF m Switzerland Foreign Total

3 months or less 11 27,808 27,819
Over 3 through 6 months 8 8,032 8,040
Over 6 through 12 months 13 16,591 16,604
Over 12 months 26 3,371 3,397
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Certificates of deposit 58 55,802 55,860

3 months or less 43,788 126,081 169,869
Over 3 through 6 months 2,419 3,705 6,124
Over 6 through 12 months 1,792 2,684 4,476
Over 12 months 1,179 6,770 7,949

Other time deposits 49,178 139,240 188,418

Total time deposits 49,236 195,042 244,278

 Short-term borrowings
 The short-term borrowings of the Group’s operations consist of central bank funds purchased, securities sold under
repurchase agreements, commercial paper and other short-term borrowings. Generally, original maturities of securities
sold under repurchase agreements are less than six months, commercial paper are less than nine months and other
short-term borrowings are one year or less.

The following table shows details of the Group’s significant short-term borrowings:
Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003

Central bank funds purchased and securities
sold under repurchase agreements and
securities lending transactions
Outstanding as of December 31 309,803 239,724 236,847
Maximum amount outstanding at any
month-end during the year 373,987 309,555 255,022
Approximate average amount outstanding
during the year 313,309 267,242 235,048
Interest expense for the year ended December
31 11,675 5,888 4,655
Approximate weighted-average interest rate
during the year 3.7% 2.2% 2.0%
Approximate weighted-average interest rate at
year-end 3.0% 2.4% 1.9%

Commercial papers
Outstanding as of December 31 10,376 8,518 7,306
Maximum amount outstanding at any
month-end during the year 10,376 17,636 14,753
Approximate average amount outstanding
during the year 7,122 9,357 6,674
Interest expense for the year ended December
31 232 148 134
Approximate weighted-average interest rate
during the year 3.3% 1.6% 2.0%
Approximate weighted-average interest rate at
year-end 1.4% 2.7% 1.0%

Other short-term borrowings
Outstanding as of December 31 9,096 6,825 4,191

10,248 7,518 18,540
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Maximum amount outstanding at any
month-end during the year
Approximate average amount outstanding
during the year 8,692 6,194 6,191
Interest expense for the year ended December
31 123 96 205
Approximate weighted-average interest rate
during the year 1.4% 1.5% 3.3%
Approximate weighted-average interest rate at
year-end 1.5% 1.3% 3.3%

 Investment portfolio

 Investment strategy
 Our investment strategy is determined within the respective asset and liability management committee of each
business. Exposures to market and interest rate risk are managed by modifying the components of the investment
portfolio, either directly or through the use of derivatives. For additional information, refer to Risk management –
Market risk in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

The following table presents the carrying value of financial investments:
December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003

Debt securities issued by the Swiss federal,
cantonal or local government entities 12,636 12,937 11,840
Debt securities issued by foreign governments 42,873 28,360 34,661
Corporate debt securities 41,364 42,119 43,667
Other 15,612 10,934 9,828

Total debt securities 112,485 94,350 99,996

The following table presents the maturities and weighted-average yields of debt securities included in financial
investments:

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years Total

December 31, 2005
Amount

in CHF m
Yield
in %

Amount
in CHF m

Yield
in %

Amount
in CHF m

Yield
in %

Amount
in CHF m

Yield
in %

Amount
in CHF

m

Debt securities issued by the
Swiss federal, cantonal or local
government entities 669 1.79% 2,543 2.08% 3,870 2.39% 5,031 2.98% 12,113
Debt securities issued by
foreign governments 5,214 2.40% 12,911 3.08% 16,377 3.63% 7,254 4.20% 41,756
Corporate debt securities 1,923 2.74% 14,696 3.81% 12,418 5.83% 11,395 4.75% 40,432
Other 290 2.39% 4,320 3.62% 7,860 1.66% 2,576 2.69% 15,046

Total debt securities 8,096 2.43% 34,470 3.39% 40,525 3.80% 26,256 4.06% 109,347
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Since substantially all investment securities are taxable securities, the yields presented above are on a tax equivalent
basis.

As of December 31, 2005, the aggregate investments in debt securities from two specific counterparties were each in
excess of 10% of consolidated shareholders’ equity. Aggregate investments in debt securities issued by two European
governments represented approximately 23% and 12% of the December 31, 2005 balance of consolidated
shareholders’ equity. The Standard & Poor’s ratings for these were AAA and AA.

 Loan portfolio
The following table shows the movements in the allowance for loan losses:
in CHF m, except where indicated 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Balance January 1 3,038 4,646 7,427 9,348 10,906

Switzerland 262 360 958 1,263 961
Foreign 291 456 728 1,931 1,713

New provisions 553 816 1,686 3,194 2,674

Switzerland (366) (295) (548) (383) (439)
Foreign (321) (442) (523) (307) (563)

Releases of provisions (687) (737) (1,071) (690) (1,002)

Net additions charged to income statement (134) 79 615 2,504 1,672

Commercial (515) (663) (1,418)
Consumer (140) (197) (315)
Public authorities (3) (88) 0
Lease financings (10) 6 (7)

Switzerland (668) (942) (1,740)
Banks 0 (1) (55)
Commercial (269) (811) (1,511)
Consumer (8) (13) (22)
Public authorities 0 (5) (5)
Lease financings (22) (9) 0

Foreign (299) (839) (1,593)

Gross write-offs 1) (967) (1,781) (3,333) (3,692) (3,720)

Commercial 27 22 28
Consumer 2 2 3

Switzerland 29 24 31
Banks 2 2 0
Commercial 102 32 17
Consumer 3 0 0

Foreign 107 34 17

Recoveries 1) 136 58 48 61 48

Net write-offs (831) (1,723) (3,285) (3,631) (3,672)

Allowances acquired/(deconsolidated) 0 (24) 26 4 2
Provisions for interest 67 92 155 187 400

101 (32) (292) (985) 40
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Foreign currency translation impact and other
adjustments, net

Balance December 31 2,241 3,038 4,646 7,427 9,348

Average loan balance 196,593 184,787 181,723 184,299 198,624
Ratio of net write-offs to average loans 0.42% 0.93% 1.81% 1.97% 1.85%
1) The split of gross write-offs and recoveries by Switzerland and foreign was implemented in 2003, and
has not been applied retroactively.          

The following table shows the analysis of the allowance for loan losses by region and sector:
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

December 31

in
CHF
m

% of
allowance
in each
category
to total
loans

in
CHF
m

% of
allowance
in each
category
to total
loans

in
CHF
m

% of
allowance
in each
category
to total
loans

in
CHF
m

% of
allowance
in each
category
to total
loans

in
CHF
m

% of
allowance
in each
category
to total
loans

Banks 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 1 0.0% 2 0.0%
Commercial 1,091 0.5% 1,704 0.9% 2,339 1.3% 3,365 1.9% 4,797 2.6%
Consumer 418 0.2% 537 0.3% 694 0.4% 927 0.5% 840 0.5%
Public authorities 4 0.0% 11 0.0% 29 0.0% 24 0.0% 27 0.0%
Lease financings 45 0.0% 60 0.0% 21 0.0% 22 0.0% 24 0.0%

Switzerland 1,558 0.8% 2,312 1.2% 3,083 1.7% 4,339 2.4% 5,690 3.1%

Banks 10 0.0% 8 0.0% 9 0.0% 4 0.0% 7 0.0%
Commercial 628 0.3% 655 0.4% 1,496 0.9% 3,011 1.7% 3,527 1.9%
Consumer 39 0.0% 49 0.0% 51 0.0% 59 0.0% 116 0.1%
Public authorities 6 0.0% 5 0.0% 7 0.0% 14 0.0% 8 0.0%
Lease financings 0 0.0% 9 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Foreign 683 0.3% 726 0.4% 1,563 0.9% 3,088 1.7% 3,658 2.0%

Total allowance for loan
losses 2,241 1.1% 3,038 1.6% 4,646 2.6% 7,427 4.1% 9,348 5.1%

of which on principal 1,917 0.9% 2,526 1.4% 3,837 2.2% 6,331 3.5% 7,630 4.2%
of which on interest 324 0.2% 512 0.3% 809 0.5% 1,096 0.6% 1,718 0.9%

The following table summarizes gross write-offs of loans by industry:
Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Financial services 80 34 411 135 377
Real estate companies 91 144 321 712 738
Other services 82 131 106 298 523
Manufacturing 150 298 897 590 349
Wholesale and retail trade 208 492 188 320 263
Construction 21 58 101 173 316
Transportation 42 89 316 70 384
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Health and social services 9 3 29 15 80
Hotels and restaurants 39 41 48 80 120
Agriculture and mining 7 13 51 177 31
Telecommunications 55 169 459 451 9
Non-profit and international organizations 0 2 2 2 8

Commercial 784 1,474 2,929 3,023 3,198

Banks 0 1 55 2 12
Consumer 148 210 337 661 510
Public authorities 3 93 5 0 0
Lease financings 32 3 7 6 0

Total gross write-offs 967 1,781 3,333 3,692 3,720

The following table sets forth details of the domestic (Switzerland) and foreign loan portfolio:
December 31, in CHF m, except where
indicated 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Banks 1,801 1,558 1,254 1,416 1,877
Commercial 43,972 43,000 42,811 47,693 58,030
Consumer 81,388 76,010 70,932 65,029 58,664
Public authorities 3,481 3,894 3,419 3,107 3,898
Lease financings 2,979 2,696 3,481 3,230 2,915

Switzerland 133,621 127,158 121,897 120,475 125,384

Banks 8,555 7,233 7,876 8,841 11,941
Commercial 46,110 33,873 31,264 38,648 34,709
Consumer 18,398 18,248 19,741 18,330 17,465
Public authorities 1,026 679 797 1,586 1,769
Lease financings 138 130 144 165 175

Foreign 74,227 60,163 59,822 67,570 66,059

Loans, gross 207,848 187,321 181,719 188,045 191,443

Deferred expenses, net 64 116 106 179 267
Allowance for loan losses (2,241) (3,038) (4,646) (7,427) (9,348)

Total loans, net 205,671 184,399 177,179 180,797 182,362

Percentage of allowance for loan losses 1.1% 1.6% 2.6% 4.1% 5.1%

The following table sets forth details of the loan portfolio by industry:
December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004

Financial services 23,967 20,830
Real estate companies 18,900 17,411
Other services 13,123 11,052
Manufacturing 9,563 8,910
Wholesale and retail trade 8,001 7,025
Construction 2,686 3,002
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Transportation 4,453 3,005
Health and social services 2,184 1,428
Hotels and restaurants 1,161 1,439
Agriculture and mining 4,557 1,943
Telecom 1,222 559
Non-profit and international organizations 265 269

Commercial 90,082 76,873

Car leasing 935 922
Real estate leasing 575 621
Leasing of capital goods 1,607 1,283

Lease financings 3,117 2,826

Banks 10,356 8,791
Consumers 99,786 94,258
Public authorities 4,507 4,573

Loans, gross 207,848 187,321

Deferred expenses, net 64 116
Allowance for loan losses (2,241) (3,038)

Total loans, net 205,671 184,399

The following table sets forth details of the loan portfolio by time remaining until contractual maturity:

December 31, 2005, in CHF m
1 year
or less

1 year to
5 years

After 5
years

Loans with no
stated

maturity1)

Self-
amortizing

loans2) Total

Banks 68 1,167 566 0 0 1,801
Commercial 20,031 13,911 2,982 6,295 753 43,972
Consumer 24,794 42,984 6,466 5,795 1,349 81,388
Public authorities 597 1,845 1,010 29 0 3,481
Lease financings 0 0 0 0 2,979 2,979

Switzerland 45,490 59,907 11,024 12,119 5,081 133,621

Banks 1,410 962 6,167 16 0 8,555
Commercial 27,716 10,987 5,406 1,767 234 46,110
Consumer 11,111 2,638 3,541 873 235 18,398
Public authorities 251 148 627 0 0 1,026
Lease financings 0 0 29 0 109 138

Foreign 40,488 14,735 15,770 2,656 578 74,227

Loans, gross 85,978 74,642 26,794 14,775 5,659 207,848

of which fixed rate 56,950 66,981 23,036 0 5,446 152,413
of which variable rate 29,028 7,661 3,758 14,775 213 55,435

Deferred expenses, net 64
Allowance for loan losses (2,241)

Total loans, net 205,671
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1) Loans with no stated maturity include primarily certain loan products within Switzerland without a stated maturity
within the original loan agreement.            
2) Self-amortizing loans include loans with monthly interest and principal payments. These loans are principally
consumer loans and lease financings.            

 Non-performing loans
 For additional information about non-performing loans refer to Risk management – Credit risk for the banking
businesses in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

The following table sets forth management’s estimate of non-performing loans, without giving effect to
available security or related specific allowances:

Interest
income which
would have

been
recognized

Interest
income which

was
recognized

December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2005 2004 2005 2004

Switzerland 1,031 1,423 1,893 3,888 5,029 43 67 16 17
Foreign 292 348 1,084 2,485 2,989 21 39 10 2

Non-performing loans 1,323 1,771 2,977 6,373 8,018 64 106 26 19

Switzerland 760 1,237 1,619 1,986 2,261 55 83 0 0
Foreign 85 44 150 340 547 7 4 0 0

Non-interest earning loans 845 1,281 1,769 2,326 2,808 62 87 0 0

Total non-performing loans 2,168 3,052 4,746 8,699 10,826 126 193 26 19

 Potential problem loans
 For additional information about potential problem loans refer to Risk management – Credit risk for the banking
businesses in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Switzerland 700 1,012 1,636 1,810 2,183
Foreign 374 491 542 1,774 2,691

Total potential problem loans 1,074 1,503 2,178 3,584 4,874

 Restructured loans
Interest

income which
would have

Interest
income which

was
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been
recognized

recognized

December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2005 2004 2005 2004

Switzerland 21 95 21 52 114 1 5 1 3
Foreign 56 22 262 231 0 3 3 3 1

Total restructured loans 77 117 283 283 114 4 8 4 4

 Cross-border outstandings
 Cross-border outstandings represent net claims against non-local country counterparties. These include loans plus
accrued interest, acceptances, interest earning deposits with other banks, other interest earning investments and any
other monetary assets, including securities. To the extent material local currency outstandings are hedged or are
funded by local currency borrowings, such amounts are not included as cross-border outstandings.

The following table represents cross-border outstandings as of the end of each of the last three years, stating the name
of the country and the aggregate amount of cross-border outstandings to borrowers in each foreign country where
such outstandings exceed 0.75% of total assets as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Deducted from the gross
outstandings are guaranteed or secured loans, provided the political and transfer risks are also covered explicitly by
the guarantee or security.

in CHF m Banks

Commercial
(includes lease

financing) Consumer
Public

authorities Subtotal

Net local
country

assets over
liabilities

Commit-
ments Total

December 31, 2005
US 30,023 36,991 93 1,285 68,392 30,428 122,019 220,839

Germany 15,849 11,453 555 13,925 41,782 0 2,141 43,923
UK 6,193 9,141 323 210 15,867 0 25,134 41,001
France 13,217 9,922 119 8,309 31,567 0 4,671 36,238
The Netherlands 12,550 10,703 3,283 3,381 29,917 0 2,338 32,255
Cayman Islands 2,295 17,082 583 0 19,960 0 935 20,895
Italy 3,124 5,866 309 6,723 16,022 3 548 16,573
Japan 2,129 3,808 21 1,906 7,864 5,493 915 14,272
Luxembourg 2,080 8,460 40 211 10,791 1,631 494 12,916
Ireland 5,329 5,728 3 72 11,132 0 320 11,452

December 31, 2004
US 25,062 40,866 942 1,786 68,656 0 68,547 137,203
Germany 21,217 8,786 956 8,476 39,435 0 4,629 44,064
France 10,551 10,437 385 6,032 27,405 320 3,628 31,353
UK 7,868 9,437 1,433 1,017 19,755 0 5,650 25,405
The Netherlands 8,213 8,389 3,534 1,002 21,138 0 2,353 23,491
Italy 7,936 3,790 334 8,246 20,306 292 844 21,442
Cayman Islands 337 10,483 77 11 10,908 0 1,853 12,761
Luxembourg 2,195 4,431 809 170 7,605 1,731 677 10,013
Spain 2,432 1,495 64 4,790 8,781 0 308 9,089
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December 31, 2003
US 12,421 32,198 780 842 46,241 0 81,841 128,082
Germany 23,703 8,518 1,078 8,890 42,189 916 3,666 46,771
France 7,441 7,392 341 4,156 19,330 953 2,584 22,867
UK 8,103 6,916 1,049 377 16,445 0 4,758 21,203
The Netherlands 6,386 8,016 3,699 865 18,966 396 1,510 20,872
Italy 6,334 3,944 215 7,538 18,031 384 1,166 19,581
Cayman Islands 824 6,923 73 0 7,820 126 1,559 9,505
Spain 1,994 1,373 53 5,419 8,839 0 413 9,252
Japan 486 3,371 125 699 4,681 4,322 195 9,198

 Item 6: Directors, senior management and employees

 Information on Credit Suisse Group’s directors, senior management and employees is set forth under Corporate
governance in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on pages 197 to 232 and such information is incorporated
herein by reference.

 For information on compensation please refer to notes 30 and 31 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements
in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.

 Item 7: Major shareholders and related party transactions

 Information on Credit Suisse Group’s Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions is set forth under Corporate
governance on pages 197 to 232 in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005, in particular page 200, Major
Shareholders, and note 31 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, and such information is incorporated
herein by reference.

 Item 8: Financial information

 Consolidated financial statements

 Please refer to the section Financial information of the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005.
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 Legal proceedings

 The Group is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory and arbitration proceedings (including those described
below) concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct of its businesses. Some of these actions have been
brought on behalf of various classes of claimants and seek damages of material and/or indeterminate amounts. The
Group believes, based on currently available information and advice of counsel, that the results of such proceedings,
in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition but might be material to operating
results for any particular period, depending, in part, upon the operating results for such period. See note 42 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements. For additional information about legal proceedings involving CS USA,
please refer to the Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K
filed by CS USA with the SEC.

 In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” the Group recorded in 2005 a CHF 960 million (USD
750 million) charge before tax, CHF 624 million after tax, in Institutional Securities, to increase the reserve for private
litigation involving Enron, certain IPO allocation practices, research analyst independence and other related litigation.
The charge was in addition to the reserve for these private litigation matters of CHF 702 million (USD 450 million)
before tax originally established in 2002 and brings the total reserve for these private litigation matters to CHF 1.4
billion (USD 1.1 billion) after deductions for settlements.

 World War II settlement
 In November 2000, following the Group’s and another Swiss bank’s USD 1.25 billion global settlement with various
Jewish groups and US class action plaintiffs relating to the World War II era, the Group paid the final installment into
an escrow fund, which was subsequently transferred to a settlement fund that is fully under the control of the court and
class plaintiffs’ counsel. Although the Group and the other Swiss bank resolved all pending issues with the plaintiff
settlement class in June 2004, the settlement funds have yet to be distributed in full.

 In 1997, a class action lawsuit, referred to as the Cornell case, was filed against 16 European insurance companies,
including Winterthur Life, which did not receive a release under the Swiss banking settlement described above, in the
US District Court for the Southern District of New York (SDNY). The plaintiffs claimed that these companies failed
or refused to pay out benefits, particularly in connection with life policies, to which victims or survivors of the
Holocaust were entitled. In January 1999, Winterthur Life was named as a defendant in a second class action lawsuit,
also in the SDNY, referred to as the Winters/Schenker case, which asserts the same or similar claims. In January 2000,
the Cornell case was dismissed. In July 2002, the Winters/Schenker case was also dismissed.

 In response to actions by various US insurance regulators, in August 1998, an agreement was reached with the
regulators, Jewish organizations and other European insurers, establishing a common procedure for the filing and
processing of life insurance claims related to the Holocaust. The organization established for this purpose, the
International Commission on Holocaust Era Insurance Claims (ICHEIC), has initiated procedures for claims outreach,
claims handling, the publication of lists of policyholders, the auditing of the insurers and similar matters. Winterthur
Life has an active role in ICHEIC.

 XL insurance claims
 In December 2005, the Independent Actuary under the sale and purchase agreement entered into in 2001 in
connection with the sale of Winterthur International to XL Insurance (Bermuda) Limited (XL) concluded that the
Seasoned Net Reserve Amount payable to XL was closer to the estimate submitted by Winterthur, which was already
provided for in the Winterthur accounts. This brought the seasoning process to completion. XL has also submitted
various claims relating to alleged breach of warranties by Winterthur under the terms of the Winterthur International
sale and purchase agreement. For further details on Winterthur International sale-related contingencies, see note 34 of
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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 South Africa litigation
 Two purported class action lawsuits were filed in the SDNY, in June 2002 and August 2002, respectively, alleging
that Credit Suisse Group and numerous other defendants are liable under international and US law by virtue of having
conducted business in South Africa during the apartheid era prior to 1995. In one of these cases, the complaint has
since been amended to delete the Group as a defendant. In addition, another case that is not a class action was filed in
the US District Court for the Eastern District of New York (EDNY) in November 2002 in respect of the same
allegations. These cases (and similar cases against others) have been transferred to the SDNY for coordinated pre-trial
proceedings. The Group has been served with process in the non-class action case, and joined in a motion to dismiss
that case. Motions to dismiss these three cases were fully briefed and argued. Both the South African government and
the US government filed papers supporting dismissal of the plaintiffs’ claims. In November 2004, the court granted the
motions to dismiss. Plaintiffs in all three cases have appealed to the Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (Second
Circuit). The appeal was argued in early 2006, and a decision from the Appeals Court is expected in 2006.

 Another case that is not a class action was filed in the EDNY in March 2003 and names a number of corporate
defendants, including Credit Suisse, which has been served. This case was transferred to the SDNY and has
effectively been stayed pending resolution of matters in the earlier-filed cases discussed above.

 Litigation relating to IPO allocation
 Since January 2001, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (CSS LLC), one of its affiliates and several other
investment banks have been named as defendants in a large number of putative class action complaints filed in the
SDNY concerning IPO allocation practices. In April 2002, the plaintiffs filed consolidated amended complaints
alleging various violations of the federal securities laws resulting from alleged material omissions and misstatements
in registration statements and prospectuses for the IPOs and, in some cases, follow-on offerings, and with respect to
transactions in the aftermarket for those offerings. The complaints contain allegations that the registration statements
and prospectuses either omitted or misrepresented material information about commissions paid to investment banks
and aftermarket transactions by certain customers that received allocations of shares in the IPOs. The complaints also
allege that misleading analyst reports were issued to support the issuers’ allegedly manipulated stock price and that
such reports failed to disclose the alleged allocation practices or that analysts were allegedly subject to conflicts of
interest.

 In October 2004, the SDNY granted in substantial part plaintiffs’ motion for class certification in each of six “focus”
cases. The district court stated that the order “is intended to provide strong guidance, if not dispositive effect, to all
parties when considering class certification in the remaining actions.” In June 2005, the Second Circuit granted the
underwriter defendants permission to appeal the class certification order; that appeal is now fully briefed. Separately,
in February 2005, the SDNY preliminarily approved a settlement between plaintiffs and the issuer defendants and the
issuers’ officers and directors.

 Since March 2001, CSS LLC and several other investment banks have been named as defendants in a number of
putative class actions filed with the SDNY, alleging violations of the federal and state antitrust laws in connection
with alleged practices in allocation of shares in IPOs in which such investment banks were a lead or co-managing
underwriter. The amended complaint in these lawsuits, which have now been consolidated into a single action, alleges
that the underwriter defendants engaged in an illegal antitrust conspiracy to require customers, in exchange for IPO
allocations, to pay non-competitively determined commissions on transactions in other securities, to purchase an
issuer’s shares in follow-on offerings, and to commit to purchase other less desirable securities. The complaint also
alleges that the underwriter defendants conspired to require customers, in exchange for IPO allocations, to agree to
make aftermarket purchases of the IPO securities at a price higher than the offering price, as a precondition to
receiving an allocation. These alleged “tie-in” arrangements are further alleged to have artificially inflated the market
price for the securities.
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 In November 2003, the SDNY dismissed the action with prejudice as to all defendants. In September 2005, the
Second Circuit vacated the SDNY’s dismissal of the action and remanded the case to the SDNY for further
proceedings. The underwriter defendants have filed a motion in the Second Circuit to stay the issuance of the mandate
and remand the cases to the district court pending the filing of a petition for writ of certiorari to the US Supreme
Court. That motion remains pending.

 In November 2002, CS USA was sued in the SDNY on behalf of a putative class of issuers in IPOs for which an
affiliate of CS USA acted as underwriter. The complaint alleged that the issuers’ IPOs were underpriced, and that CS
USA’s affiliate allocated the underpriced IPO stock to certain of its favored clients and subsequently shared in portions
of the profits of such favored clients pursuant to side agreements or understandings. This purported conduct was
alleged to have been in breach of the underwriting agreements between CS USA’s affiliate and those issuers. In
December 2005, CS USA entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiffs, and a stipulation of dismissal was
filed with the SDNY.

 Research-related litigation
 Putative class action lawsuits were filed against CSS LLC in the wake of publicity surrounding the 2002
industry-wide governmental and regulatory investigations into research analyst practices. Currently, four federal class
action cases remain pending. These cases were brought on behalf of purchasers of shares of AOL Time Warner Inc.,
Razorfish, Inc., Lantronix, Inc. and Winstar, Inc. Class certification has been granted in the Winstar and Razorfish
matters.

 In September 2005, the US District Court for the District of Massachusetts granted CSS LLC’s motion to dismiss the
complaint brought on behalf of purchasers of shares of AOL Time Warner Inc. but allowed plaintiffs to file an
amended complaint. In February 2006, CSS LLC and other defendants moved to dismiss plaintiffs’ amended
complaint.

 CSS LLC was also named as a defendant in a class action filed in California state court in June 2003 on behalf of
residents of California who held shares in certain issuers for which CSS LLC had issued research reports. Plaintiffs
appealed the lower court’s dismissal of that case to the Supreme Court of California, and in February 2006, the
Supreme Court of California denied that appeal.

 Enron-related litigation and inquiries
 Numerous actions have been filed against CSS LLC and certain affiliates relating to Enron Corp. or its affiliates
(Enron). In April 2002, CSS LLC and certain of its affiliates and certain other investment banks were named as
defendants along with, among others, Enron, Enron executives and directors, and external law and accounting firms in
a putative class action complaint filed in the US District Court for the Southern District of Texas (Newby, et al. v.
Enron, et al.). The Newby action was filed by purchasers of Enron securities and alleges violations of the federal
securities laws. In May 2003, the lead plaintiff in Newby filed an amended complaint that, among other things, named
as defendants additional Credit Suisse entities, expanded the putative class to include purchasers of certain
Enron-related securities, and alleged additional violations of the federal securities laws. Lead plaintiff’s motion for
class certification in Newby is pending.

 In April 2005, the bank defendants in the Newby action, including CSS LLC and its affiliates, filed a cross-claim
against Arthur Andersen LLP, and cross-claims or third-party claims against certain former Enron executives, for
contribution in the event that the bank defendants are found liable on any of the plaintiffs’ claims. Arthur Andersen and
certain former Enron executives have moved to dismiss the cross-claims or third-party claims asserted against them by
the banks, and those motions are pending. Arthur Andersen also filed a counterclaim against the bank defendants,
including CSS LLC and its affiliates, seeking contribution in the event it is found liable either to the plaintiffs or to
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any of the bank defendants. CSS LLC and its affiliates and other banks moved to dismiss the counterclaim. That
motion was granted and Arthur Andersen has filed a motion seeking reconsideration of that dismissal.

 Certain Enron-related actions, filed against CSS LLC and certain of its affiliates, were not consolidated or
coordinated with the Newby action. The only one of these actions that is still pending is a suit by a sub-group of the
limited partners in LJM2 Co-Investment, L.P., or LJM2, a now bankrupt limited partnership, against the other limited
partners of LJM2 and LJM2’s lenders, including certain affiliates of CSS LLC. Several other actions filed against CSS
LLC and certain of its affiliates and other parties have been consolidated or coordinated with the Newby action and
stayed as to the filing of amended or responsive pleadings pending the district court’s decision on class certification in
Newby. Several actions against Arthur Andersen LLP, in which Andersen brought claims for contribution against CSS
LLC and its affiliates and other parties as third-party defendants, have been similarly consolidated or coordinated with
Newby and stayed. During the course of 2005, various Enron-related actions, some coordinated with the Newby
action and some not, have been settled or otherwise dismissed, at least as they related to CSS LLC and its affiliates.

 In December 2001, Enron filed a petition for Chapter 11 relief in the US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District
of New York. In November 2003, a court-appointed bankruptcy examiner filed a final report that contained the
examiner’s conclusions with respect to several parties, including CSS LLC and certain of its affiliates. Enron brought
four adversary proceedings against CSS LLC and certain of its affiliates (the principal adversary proceeding has been
amended several times, as recently as January 2005) seeking avoidance and recovery of various alleged preferential,
illegal and fraudulent transfers; disallowance and equitable subordination of CSS LLC and its affiliates’ claims in the
bankruptcy proceedings; recharacterization of one transaction as a loan and related declaratory relief, avoidance of
security interests and turnover and recovery of property; and damages, attorneys’ fees and costs for alleged aiding and
abetting of fraud and breaches of fiduciary duty by Enron employees and civil conspiracy.

 Other than the principal adversary proceeding, the three other adversary proceedings brought by Enron relate to (i)
E-Next Generation LLC (E-Next), (ii) a transaction known as Project Nile and (iii) certain equity forward and swap
transactions. In May 2005, the adversary proceeding relating to E-Next was dismissed with prejudice pursuant to a
settlement agreement. In June 2005, the adversary proceeding relating to Project Nile was consolidated into the
principal adversary proceeding. In July 2005, the US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York denied
CSS LLC’s and an affiliate’s motion to dismiss Enron’s claims to recover certain payments made in connection with the
equity forward and swap transactions. In September 2005, CSS LLC filed a motion with the SDNY for leave to
appeal, which motion is pending.

 CSS LLC and certain of its affiliates have received periodic requests for information and/or subpoenas from certain
governmental and regulatory agencies, including the Enron Task Force (a joint task force of the US Department of
Justice and the SEC), regarding Enron and its affiliates. CSS LLC and its affiliates have cooperated with such
inquiries and requests.

 NCFE-related litigation
 Since February 2003, lawsuits have been filed against CSS LLC with respect to services that it provided to National
Century Financial Enterprises, Inc. and its affiliates (NCFE). From January 1996 to May 2002, CSS LLC acted as a
placement agent for bonds issued by NCFE that were to be collateralized by health-care receivables, and in July 2002,
as a placement agent for a sale of NCFE preferred stock. NCFE filed for bankruptcy protection in November 2002. In
these lawsuits, which have since been consolidated in the US District Court for the Southern District of Ohio and are
known as the MDL cases, investors in NCFE’s bonds and preferred stock have sued numerous defendants, including
the founders and directors of NCFE, the trustees for the bond issuances, NCFE’s auditors and law firm, the rating
agencies that rated NCFE’s bonds, and NCFE’s placement agents, including CSS LLC. The allegations include claims
for breach of contract, negligence, fraud and violation of federal and state securities laws.

 In addition, in November 2004, the trust created through NCFE’s confirmed bankruptcy plan commenced two actions
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against CSS LLC and certain affiliates. The trust filed an action in the US District Court for the Southern District of
Ohio asserting common law claims similar to those asserted in the MDL cases against several of the same defendants,
and it also alleged statutory claims under the Ohio Corrupt Practices Act, claims for professional negligence and
claims under the US Bankruptcy Code. The trust also filed an action in the US Bankruptcy Court for the Southern
District of Ohio objecting to the proofs of claim filed by CSS LLC and its affiliates in NCFE’s bankruptcy and seeking
disgorgement of amounts previously distributed to CSS LLC and its affiliates under the bankruptcy plan. A claims
trust has also commenced a suit in the bankruptcy court against certain affiliates of CS USA seeking to recover an
alleged preference payment from NCFE prior to its bankruptcy filing.

 Refco-related litigation
 In October 2005, CSS LLC was named, along with other financial services firms, accountants, officers, directors and
controlling persons, as a defendant in several federal class action and derivative lawsuits filed in the SDNY relating to
Refco Inc. The actions allege that CSS LLC, and other underwriters, violated federal securities laws and state laws in
connection with the sale of Refco securities, including in the Refco IPO in August 2005. CSS LLC and certain of its
affiliates have received subpoenas and requests for information from certain regulators, including the SEC, regarding
Refco. CSS LLC and its affiliates have cooperated with such inquiries and requests.

 Parmalat-related legal proceedings
 Credit Suisse International (CS International) is the subject of legal proceedings commenced in August 2004 before
the Court of Parma in Italy by Dr. Enrico Bondi, as extraordinary administrator, on behalf of Parmalat SpA (in
extraordinary administration), relating to an agreement entered into between CS International and Parmalat SpA in
December 2001. The extraordinary administrator seeks to have the agreement set aside and demands repayment by CS
International of approximately EUR 248 million.

 The extraordinary administrator also commenced two further actions before the Court of Parma against (i) CS
International, seeking damages on the basis of allegations that through the 2001 transaction CS International delayed
the insolvency of Parmalat Participacoes of Brazil and consequently of Parmalat SpA, with the result that Parmalat’s
overall loss increased by approximately EUR 7.1 billion between January 2002 and the declaration of its insolvency in
December 2003 and (ii) CS International and certain other banks, seeking damages on the basis of allegations that
through various derivatives transactions in 2003 CS International and those other banks delayed the insolvency of
Parmalat SpA with the result that its overall loss increased by approximately EUR 2 billion between July and
December 2003.

 Proceedings have also been brought in the SDNY by Parmalat investors against various defendants including Credit
Suisse seeking unquantified damages. The allegations against Credit Suisse make reference to the December 2001
transaction. The claims against Credit Suisse have been dismissed except to the extent that they are brought by US
investors.

 CS International has made a claim in the reorganization proceedings of Parmalat Participacoes of Brazil in respect of
EUR 500 million of bonds issued by that entity and held by CS International. This claim has so far been rejected by
the trustee. CS International has also made a claim in the same proceedings in relation to a USD 5 million promissory
note guaranteed by Parmalat and assigned to Credit Suisse. This claim has so far been admitted by the trustee.
Parmalat Participacoes has made a claim in response alleging that the debts represented by the bonds and note have
already been paid and asserting that it is therefore entitled under Brazilian law to twice the amount of the debt claimed
by CS International.

 In connection with two loans granted to Parmalat Participacoes of Brazil evidenced by promissory notes and
guaranteed by Parmalat SpA, Credit Suisse has brought claims in the amount of USD 38 million in Brazilian and
Italian courts for its recognition as a creditor in the insolvency proceedings of the two entities. To date, the recognition
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has been challenged by the Extraordinary Commissioner in Italy, was rejected by Italian courts and has been appealed
by Credit Suisse. A decision by Brazilian courts regarding the application of Credit Suisse is still pending.

 Dividend policy

 Under Swiss law, dividends may be paid out only if and to the extent the corporation has distributable profits from
previous business years, or if the free reserves of the corporation are sufficient to allow distribution of a dividend.
Within these legal constraints, we maintain a flexible dividend policy.

 For 2005, Credit Suisse Group’s Board of Directors will propose a dividend of CHF 2.00 per share to the Annual
General Meeting on April 28, 2006. This compares with a dividend of CHF 1.50 per share in 2004. If approved by the
Annual General Meeting 2006, the dividend will be paid out on May 4, 2006.

The following table outlines the dividends paid for the years ended December 31:
Dividend per ordinary share USD1) CHF

2004 1.20 1.50
2003 2) 0.40 0.50
2002 0.07 0.10
2001 3) 1.20 2.00
2000 4) 1.23 2.00
1) For details of the period end exchange rates used, please refer to Item 3 – Key Information –
Exchange rate information.    
2) Repayment out of share capital as approved on April 30, 2004, in lieu of a dividend for financial
year 2003.    
3) Repayment out of share capital as approved on May 31, 2002, in lieu of a dividend for financial
year 2001.    
4) Repayment out of share capital as approved on June 1, 2001, in lieu of a dividend for financial
year 2000.    

 Item 9: The offer and listing

 Listing details

 Credit Suisse Group’s shares are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (SWX). Since June 25, 2001, the principal
trading market for the Group’s shares has been Virt-x. The Group’s American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, are traded
on the New York Stock Exchange.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the reported highest and lowest closing
prices for one share on the SWX or from June 25, 2001, Virt-x, and the average daily trading volume
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as reported by the SWX or Virt-x:
Shares in CHF

Period Average trading volumes High Low

2006
March (through, March 21) 6,890,048 74.0 70.7
February 7,014,151 78.5 72.2
January 4,847,658 74.7 68.3
2005 5,509,548 68.5 46.9
Fourth quarter 5,431,395 68.5 54.4

December 4,797,694 68.5 65.9
November 5,652,002 65.4 57.5
October 5,833,983 58.4 54.4

Third quarter 5,271,434 58.4 50.1
Second quarter 5,865,559 53.0 47.9
First quarter 5,481,944 53.0 46.9
2004 5,687,787 49.5 37.4
Fourth quarter 5,291,224 48.2 39.7
Third quarter 5,132,031 44.5 37.4
Second quarter 5,688,911 46.4 42.6
First quarter 6,678,070 49.5 43.0
2003 6,599,622 48.7 20.7
2002 6,828,666 73.6 20.6
2001 1) 5,501,908 87.0 44.8
1) Volume and price information have been adjusted retroactively to reflect the share split on August
15, 2001.      

The Group’s shares are registered with a par value of CHF 0.50 per share.

 Official trading of the Group’s shares in the form of ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange began on September 25,
2001, under the symbol “CSR.”

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the reported highest and lowest closing prices
of ADSs, each representing one share, on the New York Stock Exchange, and the average daily
trading volume as reported by the New York Stock Exchange:

American
Depositary

Shares in USD

Period Average trading volumes High Low

2006
March (through, March 21) 374,380 57.3 53.5
February 434,468 60.2 55.1
January 302,285 58.5 53.4
2005 215,985 52.9 38.8
Fourth quarter 296,321 52.9 42.1

December 294,781 52.9 50.1
November 312,700 49.7 44.5
October 281,481 44.7 42.1
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Third quarter 161,584 46.6 38.8
Second quarter 182,372 44.3 38.9
First quarter 225,359 45.9 39.5
2004 173,123 42.5 30.0
Fourth quarter 205,556 42.5 32.6
Third quarter 163,261 35.6 30.0
Second quarter 148,798 36.5 33.0
First quarter 174,540 40.4 33.6
2003 193,805 36.4 15.9
2002 111,352 44.6 13.7
2001 18,829 43.0 32.6

 Trading in our own shares
 The Group buys and sells its own shares and derivatives on its own shares within its normal trading and
market-making activities mainly through its Swiss broker-dealer operations. In the Swiss market, the Group buys and
sells its shares and derivatives on these shares to facilitate customer orders, to provide liquidity as a market maker and
to hedge derivative instruments.

 The net long or short position held by the Group’s Swiss bank subsidiaries in the Group’s own shares has been at
non-material levels relative to the number of the Group’s outstanding shares, due in part to SFBC regulations requiring
a 100% capital charge to the relevant legal entity for the entire net position in the Group’s shares. In addition to SFBC
rules, the Group’s trading in its own shares in the Swiss market is subject to regulation under the Stock Exchange Act,
the rules of the SWX and the EUREX electronic exchange, and the SBA Code of Conduct for Securities Dealers.
Trading is also limited by the Group’s risk management limits, internal capital allocation rules, balance sheet
requirements, counterparty restrictions and other internal regulations and guidelines. Swiss law further limits the
Group’s ability to hold or repurchase its own shares. Refer to Item 10 – Additional information – Repurchase of shares.

 The Group may from time to time place orders for its own shares to satisfy obligations under various employee and
management incentive plans, and potentially for shares to be used as payment in acquisitions. In addition, the Group
may purchase shares with the intent of cancellation. Typically in Switzerland, the purchase of shares for cancellation
is done under a separate program from the repurchase of shares to be re-issued under employment and management
plans.

 Following the approval by the Annual General Meeting 2005, the Group commenced a share repurchase program for
a value of up to CHF 6 billion. The program will last for a maximum of two years. The registered shares, repurchased
via a second trading line on Virt-x, will be cancelled.

 For additional information related to share repurchases, see Item 16E – Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
and Affiliated Purchasers.

 Item 10: Additional information
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 Articles of association

 For a summary of the material provisions of the Group’s Articles of Association, or AoA, and the Swiss Code of
Obligations (Schweizerisches Obligationenrecht) as they relate to the Group’s shares, refer to the summaries contained
in the sections Corporate governance – Shareholders and – Changes of control and defense measures on pages 227 and
230, respectively, of the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005. That description does not purport to be complete
and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Swiss Code of Obligations and to the AoA, copies of which are
available at the Group’s principal executive office, Paradeplatz 8, P.O. Box 1, CH 8070 Zurich, Switzerland or on our
website www.credit-suisse.com.

 Registration and business purpose

 The Group is registered as a Swiss corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) in the Commercial Register of the Canton of
Zurich under the registration number CH-020.3.906.075-9 and has its registered offices in Zurich, Switzerland. The
Group’s business purpose, as set forth in Article 2 of its AoA, is to hold direct or indirect interests in all types of
businesses in Switzerland and abroad, in particular in the areas of banking, finance, asset management and insurance.
The Group has the power to establish new businesses, acquire a majority or minority interest in existing businesses
and provide related financing. The Group also has the power to acquire, mortgage and sell real estate properties both
in Switzerland and abroad.

 Directors

 The Swiss Code of Obligations requires directors and members of senior management to safeguard the interests of the
corporation and, in connection with this requirement, imposes a duty of care and a duty of loyalty on directors and
members of senior management. While Swiss law does not have a general provision on conflicts of interest, the duties
of care and loyalty are generally understood to disqualify directors and members of senior management from
participating in decisions that could directly affect them. Directors and members of senior management are personally
liable to the corporation for any breach of these provisions. In addition, Swiss law contains a provision, pursuant to
which payments made to a shareholder or a director or any person associated with them (for example, family
members, business partners, agents, or financing providers), other than at arms’ length, must be repaid to the
corporation if the shareholder or director was acting in bad faith. The Group’s AoA provide that the Board of Directors
determines the yearly remuneration of the directors. Such remuneration is determined by the Group’s Board upon
recommendation of the Compensation Committee of the Group’s Board.

 The Group’s AoA provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of a minimum of seven members. The members of
the Group’s Board are elected for a period of three years and are eligible for re-election, without any term limitations.
According to the Regulations Governing the Conduct of Business of Credit Suisse Group (OGR), the age limit for
members of the Board is 70.

 Neither Swiss law nor the AoA restrict in any way the Group’s power to borrow and raise funds. The decision to
borrow funds is passed by or under the direction of the Group’s Board of Directors, with no shareholders’ resolution
required.

 Dividends
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 Under Swiss law, dividends may be paid out only if and to the extent the corporation has distributable profits from
previous business years, or if the free reserves of the corporation are sufficient to allow distribution of a dividend. In
addition, at least 5% of the annual net profits must be retained and booked as general legal reserves for so long as
these reserves amount to less than 20% of the paid-in share capital. The Group’s reserves currently exceed this 20%
threshold. Furthermore, dividends may be paid out only after approval at the shareholders’ meeting. The Board of
Directors may propose that a dividend be paid out, but cannot itself set the dividend. The auditors must confirm that
the dividend proposal of the Board conforms to statutory law. In practice, the shareholders usually approve the
dividend proposal of the Board of Directors. Dividends are usually due and payable after the shareholders’ resolution
relating to the allocation of profits has been passed. Under Swiss law, the statute of limitations in respect of dividend
payments is five years.

 Pre-emptive subscription rights

 Under Swiss law, any share issue, whether for cash or non-cash consideration or no consideration, is subject to the
prior approval of the shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders of a Swiss corporation have certain pre-emptive subscription
rights to subscribe for new issues of shares in proportion to the nominal amount of shares held. A resolution adopted
at a shareholders’ meeting with a supermajority may, however, limit or suspend preferential subscription rights in
certain limited circumstances.

 Repurchase of shares

 Swiss law limits a corporation’s ability to hold or repurchase its own shares. The Group may only repurchase shares if
it has sufficient free reserves to pay the purchase price, and if the aggregate nominal value of the repurchased shares
does not exceed 10% of the Group’s nominal share capital. Furthermore, the Group must create a special reserve on its
balance sheet in the amount of the purchase price of the acquired shares. Shares repurchased by the Group do not
carry any voting rights at shareholders’ meetings. Refer to Item 16E – Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and
affiliated purchasers for a description of the Group’s recent share repurchases.

 Notices

 Notices to shareholders are made by publication in the Swiss Official Commercial Gazette ( Schweizerisches
Handelsamtsblatt) . The Board of Directors may designate further means of communication for publishing notices to
shareholders. Notices required under the listing rules of the SWX will either be published in two Swiss newspapers in
German and French and sent to the SWX or otherwise be communicated to the SWX in accordance with applicable
listing rules. The SWX may disseminate the relevant information on its online exchange information system
“Newsboard.”

 Liquidation and merger

 Under Swiss law and the Group’s AoA, the Group may be dissolved at any time by a shareholders’ resolution which
must be passed by (i) a supermajority of at least three quarters of the votes cast at the meeting in the event the Group
is to be dissolved by way of liquidation, or (ii) a supermajority of at least two-thirds of the votes represented and an
absolute majority of the par value of the shares represented at the meeting in other events. Dissolution by court order
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is possible if the Group becomes bankrupt. Under Swiss law, any surplus arising out of liquidation (after the
settlement of all claims of all creditors) is distributed to shareholders in proportion to the paid-up par value of shares
held.

 Disclosure of principal shareholders

 Under the applicable provisions of the Stock Exchange Act, persons acting individually or in concert who acquire or
dispose of shares and thereby reach, exceed or fall below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 20%, 33  1/3%, 50%
or 66  2/3% of the total voting rights of a Swiss listed corporation must notify the corporation and the SWX of such
transactions, whether or not the voting rights can be exercised. Following receipt of such notification, the corporation
has the obligation to inform the public. In addition, pursuant to the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Group must
disclose in the notes to its annual financial statements the identity of any shareholders who own in excess of 5% of the
Group’s shares.

 Exchange controls

 There are no restrictions presently in force under the Group’s AoA or Swiss law that limit the right of non-resident or
foreign owners to hold the Group’s securities freely or, when entitled, to vote our securities freely. Other than in
connection with government sanctions imposed on Iraq, Liberia, Myanmar, Zimbabwe, Sierra Leone, Ivory Coast,
Sudan, Democratic Republic of Congo, Usbekistan, certain persons with links to former Serb President Mr. Milosevic,
persons or organizations with links to Osama bin Laden, the “al Qaeda” group or the Taliban, and certain persons linked
to the murderer of former Lebanese Prime Minister Rafik Hariri, there are currently no Swiss exchange control laws
or laws restricting the import or export of capital, including but not limited to, the remittance of dividends, interest or
other payments to non-resident holders of the Group’s securities.

 Indemnification

 Neither the Group’s AoA nor Swiss statutory law contain provisions regarding the indemnification of directors and
officers. According to general principles of Swiss employment law, an employer may, under certain circumstances, be
required to indemnify an employee against losses and expenses incurred by such person in the execution of such
person’s duties under an employment agreement, unless the losses and expenses arise from the employee’s gross
negligence or willful misconduct. It is the Group’s policy to indemnify its current or former directors and/or employees
against certain losses and expenses in respect of service as a director or employee of the Group, one of the Group’s
affiliates or another entity, which the Group has approved, subject to specific conditions or exclusions. The Group
maintains directors’ and officers’ insurance for its directors and officers.

 American Depositary Shares

 Under Swiss law, holders of ADSs are not shareholders and are not recorded in the Group’s share register. A nominee
for the ADS depositary is the registered holder of the shares underlying the ADSs. Rights of ADS holders to exercise
voting rights, receive dividends and other matters are governed by the deposit agreement pursuant to which their
ADSs are issued. For further information relating to our ADSs, please refer to the Registration Statement on Form F-6
filed with the SEC. Subject to any applicable law to the contrary, with respect to ADSs for which timely voting
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instructions are not received by the ADS depositary in relation to any proposed resolution or for which voting
instructions are received by the ADS depositary but do not specify how the ADS depositary shall vote in relation to
any proposed resolution, the ADS depositary shall, or shall instruct the nominee to, vote such shares underlying the
ADSs in favor of such resolution if it has been proposed by the Board of Directors or otherwise in accordance with the
recommendation of the Board of Directors.

 Taxation

 The following summary contains a description of the principal Swiss and US federal income tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of our shares or American Depositary Receipts, which we refer to collectively as
Shares, but it does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant
to a decision to own or dispose of Shares. In particular, the summary is directed only to holders that hold Shares as
capital assets, and does not address tax considerations applicable to investors that may be subject to special tax rules,
such as banks, tax-exempt entities, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities
electing to mark to market, persons that actually or constructively own 10% or more of our voting stock, persons that
hold Shares as a position in a “straddle” or “conversion” transaction, or as part of a “synthetic security” or other integrated
financial transaction, or persons that have a “functional currency” other than CHF or USD.

 This summary is based on the current tax laws of Switzerland and the United States, including the current Convention
Between the United States of America and the Swiss Confederation for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with
Respect to Taxes on Income, or the Treaty, the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, existing
and proposed regulations thereunder, published rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to change,
possibly with retroactive effect.

 This discussion does not generally address any aspects of US taxation other than federal income taxation or any
aspects of Swiss taxation other than income and capital taxation. Prospective investors are urged to consult their tax
advisors regarding the US federal, state and local, Swiss and other tax consequences of owning and disposing of
Shares.

 Swiss taxation

 Withholding tax on dividends and similar distributions
 Dividends paid and other similar cash, in-kind taxable distributions made by us to a holder of Shares (including
dividends on liquidation proceeds and stock dividends) and taxable income resulting from partial liquidation as
referred to below under Capital gains tax realized on shares are subject to a federal withholding tax at a rate of 35%.
The withholding tax will be withheld by us on the gross distributions and will be paid to the Swiss Federal Tax
Administration.

 Swiss resident recipients
 Swiss resident individuals or legal entities are generally entitled to a full refund or tax credit for the withholding tax if
they are the beneficial owners of such distributions at the time the distribution is due and duly report the receipt
thereof in the relevant income tax return.

 Non-resident recipients
 The recipient of a taxable distribution who is an individual or a legal entity not resident in Switzerland for tax
purposes may be entitled to a total or partial refund of the withholding tax if the country in which such recipient
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resides for tax purposes has entered into a bilateral treaty for the avoidance of double taxation with Switzerland and
the further conditions of such treaty are met. Holders of Shares not resident in Switzerland should be aware that the
procedures for claiming treaty benefits (and the time frame required for obtaining a refund) may differ from country to
country. Holders of Shares not resident in Switzerland should consult their own legal, financial or tax advisors
regarding receipt, ownership, purchases, sales or other dispositions of Shares and the procedures for claiming a refund
of the withholding tax.

 Residents of the United States
 A non-Swiss resident holder who is a resident of the United States for purposes of the Treaty is eligible for a reduced
rate of withholding tax on dividends equal to 15% of the dividend, provided that such holder (i) qualifies for benefits
under the Treaty, (ii) holds, directly or indirectly, less than 10% of our voting stock and (iii) does not conduct business
through a permanent establishment or fixed base in Switzerland to which Shares are attributable. Such an eligible US
holder may apply for a refund of the amount of the withholding tax in excess of the 15% Treaty rate. The claim for
refund must be filed on Swiss Tax Form 82 (82C for corporations; 82I for individuals; 82E for other entities), which
may be obtained from any Swiss consulate general in the United States or from the Federal Tax Administration of
Switzerland at the address below, together with an instruction form. Four copies of the form must be duly completed,
signed before a notary public of the United States, and sent to the Federal Tax Administration of Switzerland,
Eigerstrasse 65, CH 3003, Berne, Switzerland. The form must be accompanied by suitable evidence of deduction of
Swiss tax withheld at source, such as certificates of deduction, signed bank vouchers or credit slips. The form may be
filed on or after July 1 or January 1 following the date the dividend was payable, but no later than December 31 of the
third year following the calendar year in which the dividend became payable.

 Income and profit tax on dividends and similar distributions

 Individuals
 An individual who is a Swiss resident for tax purposes, or who is a non-Swiss resident holding Shares as part of a
Swiss business operation or Swiss permanent establishment, is required to report the receipt of taxable distributions
received on the Shares in her or his relevant Swiss tax returns.

 Legal entities
 Legal entities resident in Switzerland and non-Swiss resident legal entities holding Shares as part of a Swiss
establishment are required to include taxable distributions received on the Shares in their income subject to Swiss
corporate income taxes. A Swiss corporation or co-operative or a non-Swiss corporation or co-operative holding
Shares as part of a Swiss permanent establishment may, under certain circumstances, benefit from relief from taxation
with respect to dividends (Beteiligungsabzug).

 Non-resident recipients
 Recipients of dividends and similar distributions on Shares who are neither residents of Switzerland for tax purposes
nor holders of Shares as part of a Swiss business operation or a Swiss permanent establishment are not subject to
Swiss income taxes in respect of such distributions.

 Capital gains tax realized on shares

 Individuals
 Swiss resident individuals who hold Shares as part of their private property generally are exempt from Swiss federal,
cantonal and communal taxes with respect to capital gains realized upon the sale or other disposal of Shares, unless
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such individuals are qualified as security trading professionals for income tax purposes. Gains realized upon a
repurchase of Shares by us for the purpose of a capital reduction are characterized as a partial liquidation of the
company. In this case, the difference between the nominal value of the shares and their repurchase price may qualify
as taxable income. The same would be true for gains realized upon a repurchase of Shares if we were not to dispose of
the repurchased shares within six years after the repurchase, or if such Shares were repurchased in connection with a
capital reduction, or if 10% of outstanding Shares were exceeded. Taxable income would be the difference between
the repurchase price and the nominal value of the Shares. Individuals who are Swiss residents for tax purposes and
who hold the Shares as business assets, or who are non-Swiss residents holding Shares as part of a Swiss business
operation or Swiss permanent establishment, are required to include capital gains realized upon the disposal of Shares
in their income subject to Swiss income tax.

 Legal entities
 Legal entities resident in Switzerland or non-Swiss resident legal entities holding Shares as part of a Swiss permanent
establishment are required to include capital gains realized upon the disposal of Shares in their income subject to
Swiss corporate income tax.

 Non-resident individuals and legal entities
 Individuals and legal entities which are not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and do not hold Shares as part of
a Swiss business operation or a Swiss permanent establishment are not subject to Swiss income taxes on gains realized
upon the disposal of the Shares.

 Net worth and capital taxes

 Individuals
 Individuals who are Swiss residents for tax purposes, or who are non-Swiss residents holding Shares as part of a
Swiss business operation or Swiss permanent establishment, are required to include their Shares in their assets that are
subject to cantonal and communal net worth taxes.

 Legal entities
 Legal entities resident in Switzerland or non-Swiss resident legal entities holding Shares as part of a Swiss permanent
establishment are required to include their Shares in their assets that are subject to cantonal and communal capital tax.

 Non-resident individuals and legal entities
 Individuals and legal entities, which are not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and do not hold Shares as part of
a Swiss business operation or a Swiss permanent establishment are not subject to Swiss cantonal and communal net
worth and capital taxes.

 Stamp duties upon transfer of securities
 The transfer of Shares, whether by Swiss residents or non-resident holders, may be subject to a Swiss securities
transfer duty of 0.15% (0.075% for each party to a transaction) of the transaction value if the transfer occurs through
or with a Swiss bank or other Swiss or foreign securities dealer as defined in the Swiss Federal Stamp Duty Act. The
stamp duty is paid by the securities dealer and may be charged to the parties in a taxable transaction who are not
securities dealers. In addition to this stamp duty, the sale of Shares by or through a member of the SWX/Virt-x may be
subject to a minor SWX/Virt-x levy on the sale proceeds (this levy also includes the Federal Banking Commission
surcharge).
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 United States federal income tax
 For purposes of this discussion, a “US Holder” is any beneficial owner of Shares that is (i) a citizen or resident of the
United States, (ii) a corporation organized under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, or
(iii) any other person that is subject to US federal income tax on a net income basis in respect of Shares. A “Non-US
Holder” is any beneficial owner of Shares that is a foreign corporation or non-resident alien individual.

 Taxation of dividends

 US Holders
 For US federal income tax purposes a US Holder will be required to include the full amount (before reduction for
Swiss withholding tax) of a dividend paid with respect to Shares, generally as ordinary income. Subject to certain
exceptions for short-term and hedged positions, the US dollar amount of dividends received by an individual prior to
January 1, 2009 with respect to our Shares will be subject to taxation at a maximum rate of 15% if the dividends are
“qualified dividends.” Dividends paid on the Shares will be treated as qualified dividends if we were not, in the year
prior to the year in which the dividend was paid, and are not, in the year in which the dividend is paid, a passive
foreign investment company (“PFIC”). Based on our audited financial statements and relevant market and shareholder
data, we believe that we were not treated as a PFIC for US federal income tax purposes with respect to our 2004
taxable year. In addition, based on our audited financial statements and our current expectations regarding the value
and nature of our assets, the sources and nature of our income, and relevant market and shareholder data, we do not
anticipate becoming a PFIC for our 2005 taxable year. The US Treasury has announced its intention to promulgate
rules pursuant to which holders of Shares and intermediaries through whom such securities are held will be permitted
to rely on certifications from issuers to treat dividends as qualified for tax reporting purposes. Because such
procedures have not yet been issued, it is not clear whether we will be able to comply with the procedures. Holders of
our Shares should consult their own tax advisers regarding the availability of the reduced dividend tax rate in light of
the considerations discussed above and their own particular circumstances. For this purpose, a “dividend” will include
any distribution paid by us with respect to Shares, but only to the extent such distribution is not in excess of our
current and accumulated earnings and profits as defined for US federal income tax purposes. Such dividend will
constitute income from sources outside the United States. Subject to the limitations and conditions provided in the
Code, a US Holder may deduct from its US federal taxable income, or claim as a credit against its US federal income
tax liability, the Swiss withholding tax withheld. Under the Code, dividend payments by us on Shares are not eligible
for the dividends received deduction generally allowed to corporate shareholders. Any distribution that exceeds our
earnings and profits will be treated as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the US Holder’s tax basis in
Shares and thereafter as capital gain.

 In general, a US Holder will be required to determine the amount of any dividend paid in CHF by translating the CHF
into USD at the “spot rate” of exchange on the date of receipt. The tax basis of CHF received by the US Holder
generally will equal the USD equivalent of such CHF, translated at the spot rate of exchange on the date such CHF
dividends are received. Upon a subsequent exchange of such CHF for USD, or upon the use of such CHF to purchase
property, a US Holder will generally recognize ordinary income or loss in the amount equal to the difference between
such US Holder’s tax basis for the CHF and the USD received or, if property is received, the fair market value of the
property. In addition, a US Holder may be required to recognize domestic-source foreign currency gain or loss on the
receipt of a refund in respect of Swiss withholding tax to the extent the USD value of the refund differs from the USD
equivalent of the amount on the date of receipt of the underlying dividend.

 Non-US Holders
 Dividends paid to a Non-US Holder in respect of Shares will generally not be subject to US federal income tax unless
such dividends are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States by such
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Non-US Holder.

 Capital gains tax upon disposal of shares

 US Holders
 Gain or loss realized by a US Holder on the sale or other disposition of Shares will be subject to US federal income
taxation as capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the US Holder’s basis in Shares and the
amount realized on the disposition. Such gain or loss will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if the US Holder
holds Shares for more than one year. Long-term capital gain realized by a US Holder that is an individual generally is
subject to reduced rates.

 Non-US Holders
 A Non-US Holder will generally not be subject to US federal income tax in respect of gains realized on a sale or other
disposition of Shares unless the gain is effectively connected with a trade or business of the Non-US Holder in the
United States.

 Backup withholding tax and information reporting requirements
 Dividends paid on, and proceeds from the sale or other disposition of, Shares paid to a US Holder generally may be
subject to the information reporting requirements of the Code and may be subject to backup withholding unless the
holder (i) establishes that it is a corporation or other exempt holder or (ii) provides an accurate taxpayer identification
number on a properly completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 and certifies that no loss of exemption from
backup withholding has occurred. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a holder will be allowed
as a credit against the US Holder’s US federal income tax liability and may entitle such holder to a refund, provided
that certain required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

 A non-US Holder may be required to comply with certification and identification procedures in order to establish its
exemption from information reporting and backup withholding.

 Item 11: Quantitative disclosure about market risk

 Information regarding quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is set forth under Risk management
in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on pages 69 to 92 and such information is incorporated herein by
reference.

 Item 15: Controls and procedures

 Disclosure controls and procedures

 Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
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 The Group has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures as of
the end of the period covered by this report under the supervision and with the participation of management, including
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer and the Group’s Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the
Exchange Act. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures,
including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures.
Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving
their control objectives.

 The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by
this report, the design and operation of the Group’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective, in all material
respects, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required.

 Changes in internal control

 There has been no change in the Group’s internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this
report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Group’s internal control over financial
reporting.

 Item 16A: Audit committee financial expert

 Information regarding the audit committee financial expert is set forth under Corporate governance in the Credit
Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on page 230 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

 Item 16B: Code of ethics

 Information regarding Credit Suisse Group’s Code of Ethics (“Code of Conduct”) is set forth under Corporate
governance in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on page 199 and such information is incorporated herein
by reference.

 Item 16C: Principal accountant fees and services

 Information on Credit Suisse Group’s Principal Accountant Fees and Services is set forth under Corporate governance
in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 on page 230 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

 Item 16E: Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers

The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases of common shares made by or on behalf of Credit
Suisse Group during 2005:
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Period

Total number of
shares

purchased1)

Average
price paid
for share in

CHF

Total number of shares
purchased as part of
publicly announced
plans or programs2)

Maximum value of shares
in CHF that may yet be

purchased under the plans
or programs

January 1 to January 31, 2005 26,290,866 47.38 0 6,000,000,000
February 1 to February 29, 2005 25,060,211 50.64 0 6,000,000,000
March 1 to March 31, 2005 29,925,535 51.84 0 6,000,000,000
April 1 to April 30, 2005 17,734,897 51.77 0 6,000,000,000
May 1 to May 31, 2005 31,813,435 49.67 6,697,000 5,999,672,174
June 1 to June 30, 2005 27,295,477 50.10 3,850,200 5,999,479,456
July 1 to July 31, 2005 14,380,090 52.02 4,400,000 5,999,258,187
August 1 to August 31, 2005 36,926,444 53.92 4,305,000 5,999,026,046
September 1 to September 30,
2005 18,801,358 56.35 4,300,000 5,998,780,769
October 1 to October 31, 2005 12,294,237 56.24 2,600,000 5,998,632,433
November 1 to November 30,
2005 12,780,485 61.59 0 5,998,632,433
December 1 to December 31,
2005 11,953,481 60.30 0 5,998,632,433

Total shares repurchased
during the period 265,256,516 26,152,200

Total shares sold or reissued
during the period 3) 245,951,269
1) In 2005, of the total number of shares purchased throughout the year, 239,104,316 were purchased on the first
trading line of virt-x as part of the Group's normal trading and market-making activities, and 26,152,200 were
purchased on the second trading line of virt-x as part of a publicly announced share repurchase program.        
2) On April 29, 2005, the Annual General Meeting approved the launch of a repurchase program of up to a maximum
of CHF 6 billion. The program commenced after the AGM and will last for a maximum of two years from that date.
These shares are repurchased exclusively by Credit Suisse Group via a second trading line on virt-x and will be
subsequently cancelled, subject to shareholder approval.        
3) Credit Suisse Group or its affiliates routinely purchase common shares as part of the Group's normal trading and
market-making activities. These shares are only held for a limited period before being sold back into the market.
During 2005, 239,104,316 shares were purchased on the first trading line, 204,885,180 were sold as part of
market-making activities and 41,066,089 were delivered to employees as part of their share-based compensation.        

 Item 18: Consolidated financial statements

 Credit Suisse Group’s consolidated financial statements, together with the notes and schedules thereto and the Report
of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon, are set forth in the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report
2005 on pages 93 to 196 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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 Item 19: Exhibits

 No. Exhibit title
 1.1 Articles of association (Statuten) of Credit Suisse Group as of March 2, 2005.

 1.2 Regulations governing the conduct of business of Credit Suisse Group (OGR)

 8.1 Significant subsidiaries of the Registrant are set forth in note 47, Significant subsidiaries and associates, in the
Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

 10.1 Consent of KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA, Zurich.

 10.2 Report of KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA, Zurich. 

 12.1 Rule 13a-14(a) certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

 12.2 Rule 13a-14(a) certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. 

 13.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 The total amount of long-term debt securities of Credit Suisse Group authorized under any instrument does not
exceed 10% of the total assets of the Group on a consolidated basis. The Group hereby agrees to furnish to the SEC
upon its request a copy of any instrument defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the Group or of its
subsidiaries for which consolidated or unconsolidated financial statements are required to be filed.

The Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005, which follows, except for those portions thereof which are expressly
incorporated by reference herein, is furnished for the information of the SEC and is not to be deemed as “filed” as part
of the filing of this Form 20-F.

 ___________________________

 Signatures

 The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and has duly caused and
authorized the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

 Credit Suisse Group

 Zurich, March 30, 2006

 (Registrant)
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/s/ Urs Rohner /s/ Renato Fassbind

Name: Urs Rohner Name: Renato Fassbind

Title: General Counsel Title: Chief Financial Officer

 Schedule I

The following table shows a summary of investments - other than investments in related parties from the
insurance business:

December 31, 2005, in CHF m Cost1) Fair value
Amount shown in the balance

sheet

Swiss Federal Government, cantonal or
local governmental entities 11,232 12,196 11,741
Foreign governments 20,057 21,177 21,177
Corporate debt securities 40,131 41,064 41,059
Other 15,334 15,958 15,947

Debt securities 86,754 90,395 89,924

Public utilities 1,277 1,309 1,309
Banks, trust and insurance companies 7,239 7,490 7,490
Industrial, miscellaneous and all other 17,677 18,699 18,699

Equity securities 26,193 27,498 27,498

Mortgage loans on real estate 10,027 10,540 10,027
Loans 5,263 5,718 5,263
Investment real estate 2) 9,898 8,940 8,700
Policy loans 536 536 536
Other investments 696 696 696
Short-term investments 2,009 2,009 2,009

Other investments 28,429 28,439 27,231

Investments, separate account 5,920 5,920 5,920
Total investments 147,296 152,252 150,573
1) Original cost of equity securities and, as to fixed maturities, original cost reduced by repayments and
adjustment for amortization of premiums and discounts.      
2) The difference between Cost and Amount shown in the balance sheet reflects accumulated depreciation of
CHF 1,198 million.      

 Schedule III

The following table shows supplementary insurance information:
In Deferred Future Unearned Other Net Net Benefits, Amortization Other Net
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CHF
m

policy
acquisition

costs

policy
benefits,
losses,
claims
and

expenses
(net)

premiums
(net)

policy
and

claims
benefits
payable

premiums
earned

investment
income

claims,
losses and
settlement
expenses

of deferred
policy

acquisition
costs

operating
expenses

premiums
written

2005
Life 3,038 114,279 25 8,185 10,585 7,072 (12,107) (534) (1,016) 10,591
Non-Life921 19,976 2,512 2,208 10,385 1,046 (7,479) (1,440) (1,119) 10,341

Total 3,959 134,255 2,537 10,393 20,970 8,118 (19,586) (1,974) (2,135) 20,932

2004
Life 2,719 104,091 19 7,767 10,235 5,859 (11,791) (363) (989) 10,244
Non-Life859 19,135 2,549 1,955 10,345 1,065 (7,771) (1,517) (1,141) 10,417

Total 3,578 123,226 2,568 9,722 20,580 6,924 (19,562) (1,880) (2,130) 20,661

2003
Life 2,387 99,755 17 6,372 11,404 5,646 (12,828) (626) (1,042) 11,411
Non-Life802 17,947 2,615 1,727 10,039 900 (7,646) (1,611) (1,185) 10,135

Total 3,189 117,702 2,632 8,099 21,443 6,546 (20,474) (2,237) (2,227) 21,546

 Schedule IV

The following table shows details of reinsurance:

Year ended December 31, in CHF m
Gross

amount
Ceded to other

companies
Assumed from

other companies
Net

amount

Amount
assumed to
net in %

2005
Life insurance in force 388,908 – – – n/a
Premiums

Life 10,593 (28) 20 10,585 0.2%
Non-Life 10,584 (259) 60 10,385 0.6%

Total 21,177 (287) 80 20,970 0.4%

2004
Life insurance in force 343,966 – – – n/a
Premiums

Life 10,269 (54) 20 10,235 0.2%
Non-Life 10,631 (347) 61 10,345 0.6%

Total 20,900 (401) 81 20,580 0.4%

2003
Life insurance in force 333,748 – – – n/a
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Premiums
Life 11,416 (83) 71 11,404 0.6%
Non-Life 10,318 (408) 129 10,039 1.3%

Total 21,734 (491) 200 21,443 0.9%

 Credit Suisse Group
 Annual Report 2005

Our vision

 The vision of Credit Suisse is to become the world’s premier bank, renowned for its expertise in investment banking,
private banking and asset management, and most valued for its advice, innovation and execution.

Brand launch in Hong Kong

 On January 16, 2006, we launched our new Credit Suisse brand and logo worldwide. The facades of Credit Suisse
buildings in Hong Kong, London, New York, Singapore and Zürich were illuminated to celebrate the new brand.

Credit Suisse Group financial highlights 
Year ended December 31, in CHF m, except
where indicated 2005 2004 2003

Consolidated income statement
Net revenues 60,632 55,139 52,515
Income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting changes 5,863 5,684 1,585
Net income 5,850 5,628 770

Return on equity
Return on equity - Group 15.4% 15.9% 2.2%
Return on equity - Banking 16.2% 17.8% 12.6%
Return on equity - Winterthur 11.7% 9.2% (26.9%)

Earnings per share
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Basic earnings per share in CHF 5.17 4.80 0.64
Diluted earnings per share in CHF 5.02 4.75 0.63

Net new assets in CHF bn 58.4 32.9 5.0

December 31, in CHF m, except where indicated 2005 2004

Assets under management in CHF bn 1,484.3 1,220.7

Consolidated balance sheet
Total assets 1,339,052 1,089,485
Shareholders' equity 42,118 36,273

Consolidated BIS capital data
Risk-weighted assets 232,891 199,249
Tier 1 ratio 11.3% 12.3%
Total capital ratio 13.7% 16.6%

Number of employees
Switzerland - banking segments 20,194 19,558
Switzerland - insurance segments 5,928 6,147
Outside Switzerland - banking segments 24,370 21,606
Outside Switzerland - insurance segments 13,031 13,221

Number of employees (full-time equivalents) 63,523 60,532

Stock market data
Market price per registered share in CHF 67.00 47.80
Market price per American Depositary Share in USD 50.95 42.19
Market capitalization 75,399 53,097
Market capitalization in USD m 57,337 46,865
Book value per share in CHF 37.43 32.65

Ticker symbols/Stock exchange listings 
Bloomberg Reuters Telekurs

SWX Swiss Exchange/virt-x CSGN VX CSGN.VX CSGN,380
New York Stock Exchange (ADS) 1) CSR US CSR.N CSR,065

CSG share ADS

Swiss security number 1213853 570660
ISIN number CH0012138530 US2254011081
CUSIP number 225 401 108

Edgar Filing: CREDIT SUISSE GROUP - Form 20-F

104



1) 1 ADS represents 1 registered share.     

Ratings 
Moody’s Standard & Poor’s Fitch Ratings

Credit Suisse Group Short term – A-1 F1+
Long term Aa3 A AA-
Outlook Stable Positive Stable

Credit Suisse 1) Short term P-1 A-1 F1+
Long term Aa3 A+ AA-
Outlook Stable Positive Stable

Winterthur
Insurer financial

strength A1 A- A+
Outlook Negative Stable Stable

1) The ratings refer to the merged bank.        

Share data 
December 31 2005 2004

Shares issued 1,247,752,166 1,213,906,217
Treasury shares (122,391,983) (103,086,736)

Shares outstanding 1,125,360,183 1,110,819,481

Share price 
in CHF 2005 2004 2003

High (closing price) 68.50 49.50 48.70
Low (closing price) 46.85 37.35 20.70

Financial calendar 
Annual General Meeting Friday, April 28, 2006
First quarter results 2006 Tuesday, May 2, 2006
Dividend payment Thursday, May 4, 2006
Second quarter results 2006 Wednesday, August 2, 2006
Third quarter results 2006 Thursday, November 2, 2006

The following table shows principal Swiss franc foreign exchange rates:
Closing rate Average rate

in CHF 31.12.05 31.12.04 2005 2004 2003

1 US dollar (USD) 1.3137 1.1320 1.24 1.24 1.35
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1 Euro (EUR) 1.5572 1.5439 1.55 1.54 1.52

1
British pound

sterling (GBP) 2.2692 2.1834 2.26 2.28 2.20
100 Japanese yen (JPY) 1.1190 1.1023 1.13 1.15 1.16

The Business Review 2005 provides insight into the Credit Suisse Group business, strategy and market environment
from a management, client and employee perspective. Included in the Business Review is a condensed presentation of
the Group’s results, which should be read in conjunction with the Credit Suisse Group Annual Report 2005, including
the financial statements.

Walter B. Kielholz
 Chairman of the Board of Directors
 Credit Suisse Group

 Message from the Chairman

 Dear shareholders
 The year 2005 was one of great change and achievement for Credit Suisse Group. Our management team successfully
implemented the plan to create an integrated global bank, which began operations on January 1, 2006. With a new
organizational structure focused on investment banking, private banking and asset management under a single brand,
we are now in an excellent position to strengthen our competitive position globally and seize opportunities in our key
markets to generate sustained and profitable growth.

 Crucially, while implementing our strategic plan, we remained committed to enhancing profitability and creating
value for our shareholders. We reported net income of CHF 5,850 million for the full year. The Board of Directors
will propose a dividend of CHF 2.00 per share to the Annual General Meeting on April 28, 2006. By March 21, 2006,
we had bought back shares in the amount of CHF 1.9 billion in our share buyback program.

 To put our strategic plan into context, technology and the globalization of markets have increased the complexity of
the financial services industry and transformed the needs of our clients. We have responded swiftly and effectively to
our rapidly changing environment by building an organizational structure that enables us to combine our considerable
experience and expertise of the financial markets from across our banking business to meet our clients’ demand for
sophisticated and holistic solutions. Our transition to an integrated bank means our people can work together on a
global basis to deliver the true potential of our organization to our clients.

 We are managing Winterthur as a financial investment, as previously announced, and will continue to improve its
performance and prepare it for a capital markets transaction.

 Global reach
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 Increasing the Group’s global footprint remains a key priority. We have identified growth markets for Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management to complement the strong bases we will continue to develop in our
home markets.

 In Investment Banking, our growth markets are in select countries in Asia, Europe and Latin America. We will
continue to develop our business in those regions, particularly in countries such as China, Russia, Brazil and Mexico,
where we have established expertise in a wide range of products. In Private Banking, we are also targeting those
markets globally where we expect to see significant wealth creation in the coming years. To strengthen our local
market presence, we are establishing hubs in important regional centers such as Dubai and expanding our local
footprint in key strategic locations in Russia, India and Southeast Asia. In Asset Management, we have a global
presence and will further enhance our position by expanding our footprint in Asia in key markets where we see
significant opportunities.

 Tradition and innovation
 As well as pursuing these substantial global opportunities in 2006, we are celebrating the bank’s 150th anniversary.
This milestone gives us an opportunity to thank those who have helped to build our company and those who place
their trust in us. At the same time, we want to continue to foster the spirit of innovation that has been a hallmark of our
bank. Alfred Escher, who founded Credit Suisse in 1856, was one of the most important politicians and commercial
pioneers of his time. In addition to founding Credit Suisse, he played a crucial role in the founding of two important
railway lines, a technical university and two insurance companies. I am convinced that Escher’s strength in innovation
continues to influence us even now that we are a global institution. Our ability to implement pioneering ideas while
maintaining the tried and tested is the golden thread that runs through our 150-year history and one which will stand
us in good stead for the future.

 Corporate governance
 As a global financial intermediary, we have a special responsibility to shareholders, clients and employees and to the
communities in which we are active. Our corporate governance policies and procedures comply with high
international standards. We are committed to safeguarding the interests of all of our stakeholders and recognize the
importance of corporate governance in achieving this. Transparent disclosure helps our investors in their investment
decisions and provides our stakeholders with the information to assess the quality of our business and management.

 In my role as Chairman of the Board, I have been charged with supervising the work of the management team. We
made a number of senior management appointments in 2005 – including appointments to the newly formed Executive
Board of Credit Suisse – and I am confident we have the necessary management capability to execute our strategy and
to achieve our ambitious goals. I am proud of the talent we have.

 We will propose Richard E. Thornburgh for election to the Board of Directors at the Annual General Meeting on
April 28, 2006. He was a member of the Executive Board of Credit Suisse Group from 1997 to 2005 and played an
active role in laying the solid foundations of our new organization. Richard Thornburgh joined the firm in 1976 and
has in his distinguished 30-year career with Credit Suisse Group served our company in a variety of senior positions
such as Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer and ultimately as Executive Vice-Chairman of Credit Suisse First
Boston.

 Foundations for our future growth
 In 2005 we demonstrated our ability to deliver good results, while at the same time refocusing our business. On
behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all of our employees for their hard work during what has been a year of
fundamental change for the Group. Our integrated global structure will enable us to capitalize on our strong operating
business and our solid capital base.
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 With a corporate culture rooted firmly in three principles – focus on clients, teamwork and our reputation – we are
convinced that Credit Suisse Group will be able to generate sustainable value for our clients and shareholders.

 Yours sincerely

 Walter B. Kielholz March 2006

Oswald J. Grübel
 Chief Executive Officer
 Credit Suisse Group

 Message from the Chief Executive Officer

 Dear shareholders
 2005 was a decisive year for Credit Suisse Group. We merged our two banking entities, Credit Suisse and Credit
Suisse First Boston, which paved the way for the launch of our integrated global bank on January 1, 2006. Our new
structure combines Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management under a single brand, Credit Suisse.
This is the solid foundation for our future growth.

 In addition to implementing our integration strategy in 2005, we also remained fully focused on our clients and
succeeded in growing our business. Net income for the full year reached CHF 5,850 million, up 4% compared to
2004, driven by stronger net revenues. Net income includes a non-cash charge of CHF 421 million after tax relating to
a change in the Group’s accounting for share-based awards, as well as a CHF 624 million after-tax charge in
Institutional Securities in 2005 to increase the reserve for certain private litigation matters. With regard to the Group’s
capital base, we maintained strong capital ratios with a consolidated BIS tier 1 ratio of 11.3% at year-end 2005.
Furthermore, we recorded net new assets of CHF 58.4 billion in 2005, an increase of CHF 25.5 billion compared to
2004.

 Our 2005 results show that we are making good progress in strengthening the underlying profitability of our business.
The fact that we achieved these results during a year of such fundamental change for the Group is a testament to the
outstanding level of commitment of over 63,000 Credit Suisse Group employees worldwide. Looking ahead, I am
convinced that our new integrated structure will help us to further enhance our profitability and returns for our
shareholders.

 Banking segments
 Private Banking reported strong revenues – related to an increase in assets under management, higher trading revenues
and an increase in brokerage volumes – as well as excellent inflows of net new assets across all regions in 2005. Net
income in Private Banking reached a record CHF 2,647 million, up 7% from 2004, accompanied by a gross margin in
line with the segment’s mid-term target. We continued to build our global Private Banking presence throughout 2005
and invested in key international markets, especially in the Middle East and Asia. In 2005 we created a Private
Banking hub in Dubai (United Arab Emirates) – a further milestone in our global strategy to grow the wealth
management business. In addition, we opened local representative offices in Bangkok (Thailand), Guangzhou (China),
Mumbai (India) and St. Petersburg (Russia).

 Corporate & Retail Banking achieved a record result for 2005, with net income of CHF 1,069 million – an increase of
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19% compared to the previous year. The main factors contributing to this strong performance were a favorable credit
environment and good net revenues, which benefited from an improved level of commissions and fees. Additionally,
in 2005, Corporate & Retail Banking substantially improved its return on average allocated capital. The segment
recorded good growth in its Swiss residential mortgage business in 2005, reflecting increased marketing efforts and a
wide range of mortgage products.

 Institutional Securities focused on key client segments during 2005 and benefited from increased levels of market
activity. Net income for 2005 totaled CHF 1,080 million. This segment saw higher revenues and gains in market share
in 2005 in key products such as leveraged finance, prime brokerage, advanced execution services and initial public
offerings. Institutional Securities was ranked first in the global market share for IPOs for 2005, having participated in
a number of high profile transactions, including the IPO for China Construction Bank, the world’s largest IPO since
2001 and the largest IPO ever in China and in Non-Japan Asia.

 Wealth & Asset Management reported strong net income of CHF 663 million for 2005 and significant growth in net
new assets. The 25% increase in net income over the prior year was mainly attributable to higher investment-related
gains in Alternative Capital.

 Winterthur
 Our insurance business, Winterthur, achieved good progress in 2005 as it further strengthened its overall financial
results and operating performance. Life & Pensions continued its focus on technical performance, reflected by an
improved risk margin, while maintaining good growth dynamics. For the full year 2005, Life & Pensions reported net
income of CHF 490 million. This 6% decrease compared to 2004 was primarily attributable to specific effects related
to taxes and changes in actuarial models and assumptions. In Non-Life, net income for 2005 increased from CHF 206
million to CHF 578 million. This improvement was partly driven by the charge of CHF 242 million after tax to
increase provisions for contingencies related to the 2001 sale of Winterthur International. The main factors
contributing to the improvement of Non-Life’s operating performance were a favorable claims experience and
continued strict cost and claims management.

 Creating benefits as an integrated bank
 As an integrated global bank, we expect to generate significant revenue growth and cost synergies in the coming
years. We are now in an excellent position to fulfill the true potential of Credit Suisse Group and stand by the target
we announced for the Group at our 2005 Investor Day of achieving total pre-tax benefits from revenue growth and
cost synergies of CHF 1.3 billion in 2008. This should result in a positive net income benefit of around CHF 1.0
billion.

 We have successfully built a new organizational structure that will enable us to combine the experience and expertise
of our people worldwide in order to meet our clients’ demand for sophisticated and holistic solutions. We have more
progress to make on our integration and growth strategy in 2006. However, I am confident that our firm commitment
to focus on the needs of our clients, work closely as one team and build and protect our reputation will enable us to
meet our goals and achieve outstanding results.

 Yours sincerely

 Oswald J. Grübel March 2006

 Information on the company
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 Credit Suisse Group

 Credit Suisse Group history and structure
 The history of Credit Suisse Group dates back to the formation of Schweizerische Kreditanstalt, founded in 1856. The
first branch opened in Basel in 1905 and the first branch outside of Switzerland opened in New York in 1940. In 1978,
a cooperation with First Boston, Inc. began and in 1990, the Group acquired a controlling stake. The Group purchased
a controlling stake in Bank Leu in 1990, Schweizerische Volksbank in 1993, Neue Aargauer Bank in 1994, and
Winterthur in 1997. In addition, the Group acquired Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Inc. in 2000.

 Credit Suisse Group is registered as a corporation in the commercial register of, and has registered offices in, Zurich,
Switzerland. The address of the principal executive office is Paradeplatz 8, CH-8070, Zurich, Switzerland; the
telephone number is +41 44 212 1616.

 On May 13, 2005, the two Swiss bank legal entities Credit Suisse and Credit Suisse First Boston merged. The merged
bank, Credit Suisse, formed the basis for the integration of the banking business. The newly integrated global bank
was launched on January 1, 2006. It operates under a new single Credit Suisse brand. The new structure is described
below under Organizational changes in 2006.

 Overview
 Credit Suisse Group is a global financial services company domiciled in Switzerland. In 2005, the Group’s activities
were operated and managed in six segments. The information in this Annual Report, including the operating and
financial review, reflects this operational and management structure. The organizational chart presented below reflects
the segment structure that was operational in 2005.

 Banking business

 Private Banking
 Private Banking provides wealth management products and services to high-net-worth individuals in Switzerland and
around the world. The Group’s private banking business is one of the largest private banking operations worldwide,
with a leading client service model and recognized innovation capabilities. It includes the four independent private
banks Bank Leu, Clariden Bank and Bank Hofmann, all headquartered in Zurich, and BGP Banca di Gestione
Patrimoniale, headquartered in Lugano.

 Corporate & Retail Banking
 Corporate & Retail Banking offers banking products and services to corporate and retail clients in Switzerland. The
corporate and retail banking business is the second-largest bank in Switzerland, with a nationwide branch network and
leading multi-channel distribution capabilities.

 Institutional Securities
 Institutional Securities provides securities and investment banking services to institutional, corporate and government
clients worldwide.
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 Wealth & Asset Management
 Wealth & Asset Management offers international asset management services – including a broad range of investment
funds – to institutional and private investors. It also provides financial advisory services to wealthy individuals and
corporate clients.

 Insurance business
 Winterthur is the leading insurance company in Switzerland and one of the top-ten composite insurers in Europe. It
provides insurance and pension solutions through multiple distribution channels in two segments, Life & Pensions and
Non-Life.

 Life & Pensions
 Life & Pensions provides life insurance and pension solutions to private and corporate clients. It holds a leading
market position in the Swiss market and serves a portfolio of international markets in Europe and Asia.

 Non-Life
 Non-Life provides insurance products to private clients and small and medium-sized enterprises. It holds a leading
market position in the Swiss market and serves key markets in Europe and the US.

 Corporate Center
 The Corporate Center performs typical holding company functions for the benefit of the Group as a whole and
includes parent company operations, certain centrally managed functions, consolidation adjustments and certain
expenses not allocated to the segments. The Corporate Center consists of legal and compliance, human resources,
communications, corporate development, financial accounting, tax, capital and liquidity management, investor
relations, risk management and internal audit.

 Acquisitions and divestitures
 Credit Suisse Group did not make any significant acquisitions in 2005. In 2005, the Group announced the divestiture
of its Canadian insurance business, Winterthur Canada Financial Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary, the
Citadel General Assurance Company. The transaction closed in the first quarter of 2006.

 Organizational changes in 2006

 Effective January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse Group aligned its organizational structure to its new strategic orientation,
which is to focus on banking and to hold its insurance business as a financial investment.

 Integration of the banking business
 In its banking business, the Group launched a key strategic initiative in December 2004 to form a fully integrated
bank, with three lines of business: Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. The rationale of the
realignment was to bundle activities geared towards the needs of private clients and those targeting investment
banking clients, and to combine all of Credit Suisse Group’s asset management expertise, reflecting the Group’s core
strength and one of the key elements in its generation of value for clients across all its businesses. These changes
reflect the increasingly complex needs and global orientation of clients, who require sophisticated, integrated solutions
and access to a broad spectrum of products and services. They also reflect the changes in the way Credit Suisse
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operates as a result of globalization and new technologies, and the growing competitive pressure in the banking
industry.

 As an integrated bank, Credit Suisse is committed to delivering its combined experience and expertise to clients by
drawing on its tradition of innovation across businesses and regions. With global segments dedicated to investment
banking, private banking and asset management, Credit Suisse can now provide more comprehensive solutions for its
clients, create synergies for revenue growth, increase efficiencies and grow shareholder value. The new regional
structure will enable Credit Suisse to better leverage its resources and to develop cross-segmental strategies that span
the Americas, Asia-Pacific, Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) and Switzerland.

 The integration of the banking business began with the legal merger of the two Swiss banks, Credit Suisse and Credit
Suisse First Boston, on May 13, 2005.

 The newly integrated global bank was launched on January 1, 2006. It operates under a single Credit Suisse brand.
The brand names Credit Suisse First Boston and Credit Suisse Asset Management are no longer used.

 New organization
 The chart below shows the major business realignments that have taken place within the banking businesses:

 Banking business
 Investment Banking consists principally of the businesses that comprised the former Institutional Securities segment
as well as trading execution that was formerly part of Private Banking and Corporate & Retail Banking, and the
private funds group that was formerly part of Wealth & Asset Management. Private Banking encompasses the
businesses of the former Private Banking and Corporate & Retail Banking segments other than discretionary mandates
and alternative investments, which have been moved to Asset Management. The US private client services business
has been transferred from Wealth & Asset Management to the wealth management business in Private Banking (with
the exception of Volaris, which remains in Asset Management following the reorganization). The small and mid-sized
pension fund business in Switzerland was transferred from Wealth & Asset Management to the corporate and retail
banking business in Private Banking. In addition to the discretionary mandates and alternative investment businesses,
Asset Management includes the businesses formerly part of the Wealth & Asset Management segment other than the
private funds group and the US private client services business.

 As a result of these realignments, the banking business now consists of Investment Banking (investment banking and
trading), Private Banking (wealth management and corporate and retail banking) and Asset Management (traditional
asset management and alternative capital).

 Shared Services
 The three global segments are complemented by Shared Services, which provides support in the areas of finance,
legal and compliance, risk management, operations and information technology. Shared Services consolidated former
support functions in the businesses in order to bundle resources and know-how from across the bank.

 Regional structure
 The regional structure is another key element in the creation of the new organization and is expected to allow Credit
Suisse to leverage resources in each of its key regions. The regions are the Americas, Asia-Pacific, EMEA and
Switzerland. The combination of divisional and regional management is key to the success of the integrated Credit
Suisse. This close cooperation is designed to help Credit Suisse better identify opportunities in its four regions and
provide clients with a truly integrated offering.
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 Effective January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse Group combined the Winterthur businesses into one segment, consisting of
three businesses: life and pensions, non-life and other activities.

 Strategy
 Credit Suisse Group’s strategy is to create value for shareholders by focusing on its core strengths in banking. The
Group expects this focus and the creation of an integrated global bank to allow it to better serve clients in investment
banking, private banking and asset management.

 The strategy regarding the Group’s insurance business Winterthur is to secure its leading market position in
Switzerland and to strengthen its international operations. The Group continues to manage Winterthur as a financial
investment and is preparing it for a potential capital markets transaction.

 As an integrated bank, Credit Suisse is committed to delivering the combined resources of the entire bank to its
clients by pooling expertise and its tradition of innovation from across all businesses and regions.

 Credit Suisse’s strategy follows its vision to become the world’s premier bank, renowned for its expertise in investment
banking, private banking and asset management, and most valued for its advice, innovation and execution.

 In order to achieve its vision, Credit Suisse will set new standards in partnering with clients and providing them with
innovative and integrated solutions. Cultural diversity is essential to the success of Credit Suisse. As an integrated
global bank, Credit Suisse will empower people to work openly and respectfully with each other and with clients to
deliver superior results aimed at success and prosperity for all its stakeholders.

 Increasing our global reach
 With the new regional structure Credit Suisse expects to leverage its resources and to develop cross-segmental
strategies that span the Americas, Asia-Pacific, EMEA and Switzerland.

 A core pillar in Credit Suisse’s Americas region is the US home market of the investment banking business.
Additionally, Latin America has become a growth area for banking in recent years. In both investment banking and
private banking, Latin America will continue to play a key role in Credit Suisse’s global growth strategy.

 In the Asia-Pacific region, Credit Suisse has a wide presence offering the full range of products and services. Credit
Suisse regards Asia as one of its core growth areas for its Investment Banking, Private Banking and Asset
Management businesses. Credit Suisse continues to strengthen its local market presence by expanding its footprint in
strategic growth markets.

 In EMEA, Credit Suisse has a strong presence in 28 countries. Credit Suisse will continue to strengthen its position in
emerging markets including Central and Eastern Europe and the Middle East.

 In Switzerland, Credit Suisse is one of the leading banks for wealth management, business and retail clients and one
of the leading investment banks and institutional asset managers.

 Investment Banking
 Credit Suisse seeks to create value for clients and shareholders in its Investment Banking segment by delivering
differentiated products and services while maintaining a high priority on controls, risk management and reputation.
The essence of Credit Suisse’s investment banking strategy, as announced in December 2004, is delivering a more
focused franchise, and good progress continues to be made in achieving this goal.
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 Progress can be measured by the revenue gains in the investment banking businesses as well as by the milestones
achieved during the past year. For example:

 – The residential mortgage-backed securities business has grown significantly by allocating additional capital,
increasing origination through a larger network of wholesalers and correspondents, and through the acquisition of
Select Portfolio Services, a mortgage servicing company.

 – Strong results have been achieved within the commercial mortgage-backed securities business by delivering
innovative solutions for clients and further expanding the platform into Europe and Asia.

 – The Global Markets Solutions Group was established, through the integration of the capital markets, leveraged
finance origination and structuring teams. Credit Suisse is confident this integrated global product platform will
increase the ability to provide more value-added funding and financing solutions to clients across all products,
including derivatives. In 2005, Credit Suisse ranked first in IPOs globally, participating in a number of high profile
transactions. Credit Suisse also maintained its strong leveraged finance franchise and improved the profitability of its
debt capital markets business.

 Credit Suisse’s Investment Banking segment is also well positioned to benefit from some of the important trends
shaping the investment banking industry:

 – The Automated Execution Products group is a recognized leader in electronic trade execution, an area experiencing
rapid growth.

 – The investment banking business has a leading position in some of the fastest growing and most important emerging
markets, such as China, Russia, Brazil and Mexico.

 – Hedge funds are an increasingly large and important segment of the investment banking client base, and the prime
services business has strong momentum with hedge funds. Prime services was recognized by the industry in 2005 for
its quality of service, ranking as the second prime broker by clients in the 2005 Global Custodian magazine survey
(the industry benchmark survey), up from eighth last year, and as the second global prime broker by clients in
Institutional Investor’s Alpha magazine 2005 prime brokerage survey. This recognition by clients has translated into
strong revenue and profitability growth in the business.

 – Leveraged finance and financial sponsors are increasingly important components of the market, and each is an area
of strength and core competency.

 Credit Suisse has made good progress in implementing its investment banking strategy, by building on its strengths,
focusing on its most important clients and delivering products and services that its clients value and are willing to pay
for. The improved financial performance within the investment banking business demonstrates that this strategy is
working, and it is well positioned to capture additional opportunities going forward.

 Private Banking
 As of January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse’s private banking and corporate and retail banking business have been organized
in the new Private Banking segment. Rationales for this new structure include:

 – Organization around clients/markets instead of booking centers;

 – Increased focus on international growth markets;
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 – Swiss business under one roof to fully exploit cross-selling potentials; and

 – Optimized product and solution delivery from Asset Management and Investment Banking.

 The mission of the Private Banking segment is to make Credit Suisse the premier global private bank and the premier
bank in Switzerland in terms of client satisfaction, employee excellence and shareholder return.

 Wealth Management
 The business aims to actively and profitably expand in the onshore and offshore businesses in Asia, Middle East,
Central and Eastern Europe and Latin America; to strengthen its position in the US through building a more
comprehensive business model; to grow in the Western European onshore business where it aims to reach break-even
by 2007; and to maintain a strong position and increase its profitability in the Western European offshore business.
Furthermore, the business intends to expand its market share in the Swiss onshore business. Overall, a strong focus is
on further developing the business’ leading client value proposition, by increasing its share of managed assets
(discretionary mandates, funds, structured products) and realizing the benefits from integrating the banking
businesses, e.g., for cross-selling, client referrals and product development.

 Credit Suisse intends to implement its Wealth Management strategy by:

 – Expanding geographic coverage by opening further locations and upgrading existing ones;

 – Strengthening international management capabilities and resources;

 – Continuing to hire and develop senior relationship managers with local expertise for key growth markets;

 – Further developing and improving value propositions for attractive client segments such as for ultra-high-net-worth
individuals;

 – Further improving customer experience along all contact points and interfaces;

 – Further developing and deploying the structured five-step client advisory process;

 – Reaping benefits from continued investments in client relationship management and workplace tools;

 – Leveraging the client base and product expertise of Asset Management and Investment Banking;

 – Broadening the range of local products and solutions;

 – Further increasing quality and productivity through operational excellence (Lean Sigma); and

 – Selectively addressing acquisition opportunities.

 Corporate & Retail Banking
 The business strategy is to further expand its market position in Switzerland and increase profitability. The aim of the
corporate banking business is to expand its strong position with large corporate clients and to further gain market
share with small and medium-sized corporate clients that have attractive risk-return profiles, supported by
best-in-class product competences in leasing, trade and ship finance, financial institutions and pension funds. Retail
banking seeks to position itself as the preferred bank for the high-end retail segment and mortgages, and it intends to
be the leading Swiss consumer finance company in terms of client focus, profitability, and growth. Both businesses
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intend to fully exploit the potential from the integration of the banking businesses. The main focus is to leverage the
client base and intensify cross-selling in order to increase efficiency and grow in all segments.

 Credit Suisse intends to implement its Corporate & Retail Banking strategy by:

 – Acquiring new retail clients through attractive anchor products;

 – Increasing product penetration by database marketing and by product bundling;

 – Strengthening sales force effectiveness through focused training and targeted incentives;

 – Continuously optimizing the branch network and expanding third-party distribution channels;

 – Improving client service delivery through optimized end-to-end processes (higher quality and productivity through
Lean Sigma);

 – Further shifting resources from mid- and back-office functions to client teams and hiring sales-oriented relationship
managers;

 – Launching further innovative retail investment products and continuously improving lending product offerings;

 – Continuing to apply strict credit risk policies and further improving risk management capabilities and systems;

 – Investing in workplace tools and leveraging best-in-class technology and expertise from wealth management; and

 – Systematically realizing cross-selling opportunities with other Credit Suisse businesses.

 Asset Management
 The Asset Management segment will build on its leading alternative capital franchise and leverage existing strengths
to promote growth in traditional and alternative asset management. In traditional asset management, Credit Suisse will
seek to grow European distribution, expand global product offerings, improve profitability in its US franchise and
streamline its Asian presence. In alternative capital, Credit Suisse will build on a broad diversity of funds, focus
increasingly on international markets, such as Asia, that display strong secular growth, spin out funds that could
benefit from an independent platform and establish a new services platform for limited partners.

 Private Banking

 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Private Banking, one of the world’s largest private banking organizations, with branches in Switzerland and numerous
international locations, provides comprehensive wealth management products and services to high-net-worth
individuals through a network of relationship managers and specialists and directly over the Internet.

 At the end of 2005, Private Banking had approximately 600,000 Private Banking clients, of which each has a
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designated relationship manager as a primary point of contact. As of December 31, 2005, Private Banking had
approximately 13,000 employees worldwide, which included approximately 2,800 relationship managers and financial
advisors. As of that date, Private Banking had CHF 659.3 billion in assets under management.

 Private Banking focuses on clear strategic market priorities:

 – Private Banking Switzerland comprises the Swiss domestic market, international private clients from neighboring
countries and booking centers in Luxembourg, Guernsey, Monaco and Gibraltar;

 – Private Banking International comprises international private clients in Asia-Pacific, the Middle East, the Americas,
Northern Europe, Eastern Europe, South Africa and Iberia. It includes the Global Private Banking Center in
Singapore, as well as operations in Hong Kong, the Bahamas and Frye-Louis Capital Management, Inc. in Chicago. In
addition, Private Banking International operates Credit Suisse Trust, which provides independent advice and delivers
integrated wealth management solutions, and Credit Suisse Advisory Partners, which offers highly developed special
financing, corporate advisory and family office services to ultra-high-net-worth individuals; and

 – Private Banking Europe comprises onshore banking operations in the five largest European markets: Germany, Italy,
the UK, France and Spain, and also JO Hambro Investment Management Limited in London.

 The four independent private banks – Bank Leu, Clariden Bank, Bank Hofmann and BGP Banca di Gestione
Patrimoniale – also provide private banking services.

 Products and services
 The Private Banking business offers customized solutions that address the full range of clients’ wealth management
needs, including the supply of comprehensive financial advice for each phase of life, as well as addressing issues
relating to clients’ non-liquid assets such as business and property interests.

 In 2005, Private Banking further improved its “Private Banking Advisory Process” and started the roll-out to
international locations. Using a structured approach, a client’s personal finances are analyzed and an investment
strategy is prepared based on the client’s risk profile, service profile and level of “free assets” after dedicated assets are
set aside to cover the client’s fixed and variable liabilities. In accordance with the Investment Committee’s guidelines,
Private Banking’s investment professionals develop specific investment recommendations. The subsequent
implementation and monitoring of the client’s portfolio are carried out by the relationship manager using an advanced
financial tool, which is closely linked to Private Banking’s award-winning customer relationship management
platform.

 The core service of the Private Banking business is managing liquid assets through investment advice and
discretionary asset management. Investment advice covers a wide range of topics from portfolio consulting to advice
on single securities. For clients who are interested in a more active management approach to their portfolios, Private
Banking offers dedicated investment consultants who continuously analyze market information to develop investment
recommendations, enabling clients to take advantage of market opportunities across all asset categories. For clients
with more complex requirements, Private Banking offers investment portfolio structuring and the implementation of
individual strategies, including a wide range of investments in structured products, alternative investments, private
equity and real estate.

 Discretionary asset management is designed for clients who wish to delegate the responsibility for investment
decisions to the bank. Private Banking offers a number of standardized portfolio management mandates linked to the
client’s risk preferences and reference currency. Four types of mandates are offered: Classic, Funds & Alternative
Investments, Total Return Strategy and Premium. Depending on the type of mandate, direct investments, investments
in funds or investments in alternative products, are executed. Predefined investment strategies, such as capital
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preservation and growth or current return, and customized solutions that meet clients’ identified investment goals, are
offered within the Premium mandate.

 Private Banking remains at the forefront of product innovation and open product platforms. These capabilities allow
Private Banking to offer tailor-made, client-specific solutions, which are diversified across a wide range of proprietary
and third-party best-in-class products and services. In terms of product innovation, Private Banking’s structured
investment products are intended to provide market-neutral investments with access to Credit Suisse’s own asset
managers and third-party international asset managers through a fund-of-funds approach. Market-neutral means that
asset managers pursue investment strategies that offer positive returns in economic climates in which traditional assets
perform poorly. At the end of 2005, Private Banking offered mutual fund products covering approximately 2,500
funds from approximately 55 fund providers.

 For financing needs, Private Banking offers two basic financing services, securities-backed financing and margin
lending, which allow clients to borrow against their investment portfolios, and real estate financing of clients’
residential properties.

 The advisory services of Private Banking comprise tax planning, pension planning and wealth and inheritance advice,
including the establishment of Private Banking trusts and foundations, as well as advice on life insurance. The
corporate advisory services of Private Banking are aimed at entrepreneurs seeking to sell their businesses or to raise
additional capital. In either case, Private Banking advisors provide valuation services and search for potential
investors in the public and private markets. Private Banking also offers “Family Office” services, a variety of
tailor-made products and advice for individuals and families generally with minimum assets of USD 50 million.

 Marketing and distribution
 Private Banking has a global franchise with a strong presence in Europe, Asia, Latin America and the Middle East.
As of December 31, 2005, Private Banking served its clients through approximately 130 locations around the world,
of which approximately 70 locations are in Switzerland (not including the locations of Bank Leu, Bank Hofmann,
Clariden Bank and Banca di Gestione Patrimoniale).

 In April 2005, a new branch was opened in Dubai. Credit Suisse is the first foreign bank to have been granted a
license to offer full private banking services in the Dubai International Financial Centre. This branch offers onshore
and offshore services and Sharia-compliant banking services. Further Private Banking offices opened in 2005 in
Bangkok, St. Petersburg, Mumbai and Guangzhou and an investment management company in Indonesia was
launched. Private Banking expects to establish a presence in Saudi Arabia by entering into a joint venture with
experienced local partners in the Saudi Swiss Securities consortium.

 Operating environment and competition

 Operating environment
 Private Banking expects reduced, but still significant, growth rates in the private banking market in the near future.
Growth is expected to be higher in onshore than in offshore markets. This development is the result of greater political
stability in many industrialized and newly industrialized countries, as well as the deregulation of local markets, tighter
restrictions and ongoing pressure on traditional offshore locations. The positive trends affecting the private banking
industry over the next several years are expected to include a growing demand for pension benefits, which can no
longer be guaranteed through general social security. As a result, governments will increasingly encourage the
accumulation of private wealth. In addition, entrepreneurs are using the services of private banks to diversify their
assets, while, at the same time, the next generation is inheriting an increasing volume of wealth from the baby-boomer
generation.
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 Competitive pressure in the financial services industry remains high. The need to invest in quality advice, product
innovation and tools for front-office employees underlines this situation. In addition, the costs of doing business (for
example, compliance, accounting, competition for talented employees) are increasing. Private Banking expects to
achieve its main growth through acquisitions of relationship managers and other banks as well as through net new
asset generation.

 Competition
 The private banking market is highly fragmented and consolidation is expected to proceed at a faster pace, especially
in Switzerland. Private Banking’s competitors include major financial institutions with dedicated private banking
activities such as UBS, HSBC and Citigroup, as well as domestic banks within their respective markets. In the
ultra-high-net-worth individuals business, major competitors, such as US investment banks, are building upon their
investment banking expertise and client relationships. In the Swiss market, the largest competitor is UBS, followed by
a number of independent private banks, as well as retail banks providing private banking services.

 Corporate & Retail Banking

 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Corporate & Retail Banking serves both corporate and retail clients through a multi-channel distribution approach.

 As of December 31, 2005, Corporate & Retail Banking had approximately 1.7 million retail clients and
approximately 100,000 corporate clients. As of that date, it had total loans of CHF 94.7 billion.

 Corporate & Retail Banking includes the activities of Neue Aargauer Bank, a separately branded regional retail bank
in the canton of Aargau, Switzerland.

 Products and services
 Corporate & Retail Banking offers corporate and retail clients a wide range of financing products and services such as
mortgages, secured and unsecured corporate loans, trade finance, consumer loans, leasing and credit cards, as well as
investment products and services, payment transactions, foreign exchange, life insurance and pension products.
Corporate & Retail Banking also offers clients e-banking solutions. Corporate & Retail Banking sells certain products,
such as investment and insurance products, jointly with other Credit Suisse Group businesses.

 The credit card business, run by Swisscard AECS, is a joint venture with American Express Travel Related Services
Company for the purpose of issuing cards, processing transactions and acquiring merchants. As a market leader in
credit cards in Switzerland in terms of turnover, Swisscard AECS offers Mastercard, Visa and American Express
cards. These credit cards are distributed through Corporate & Retail Banking and Private Banking sales channels, as
well as through those of Swisscard AECS.

 The Corporate & Retail Banking business offers sophisticated payment products tailored to the needs of all customer
segments. The variety of payment products ranges from IT-based, fully automated transaction solutions for large
corporate clients to cost-efficient and convenient schemes for private clients.
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 For its lending products, Corporate & Retail Banking often requires a pledge of collateral. The amount of collateral
required is determined by the type and amount of the loan, as well as the risk profile of the specific customer. As of
December 31, 2005, 82% of its loan portfolio was secured by collateral, including marketable securities, commercial
and residential properties and bank and client guarantees.

 Marketing and distribution
 As of December 31, 2005, Corporate & Retail Banking served its clients through 215 banking branches, including 33
branches of Neue Aargauer Bank in Switzerland. Corporate & Retail Banking markets its products to clients under the
Credit Suisse brand, primarily through its branch network and direct channels, including the Internet and telephone
banking.

 Advisors for small and medium-sized corporate clients are based in more than 40 of the Corporate & Retail Banking
branches. Large domestic corporate clients are served through two regional offices in Zurich and Lausanne,
Switzerland.

 Operating environment and competition

 Operating environment
 The Swiss corporate and retail banking industry is, to a significant extent, dependent on the overall economic
development in Switzerland, where Corporate & Retail Banking expects growth in line with the development of the
economy. Generally, Swiss retail banking clients have comparatively high incomes and savings rates, resulting in a
high demand for personal investment management. In recent years, the Swiss private mortgage business has
developed positively, and this trend is expected to continue. The home ownership rate in Switzerland is still low at
approximately 37%, thus offering further potential for mortgage business growth but likely at declining margins.

 Competition
 In the Swiss corporate and retail banking business, competition has increased considerably over the past few years,
especially in the area of private mortgages, which is characterized by aggressive pricing by existing and new
competitors. The need to invest heavily in quality advisory capabilities, product innovation and customized client
solutions through an open architecture underlines this development. The largest competitor in the Swiss corporate and
retail banking market is UBS. Other competitors include the cantonal banks, many of which have state guarantees,
regional savings and loan institutions, and Raiffeisen and other cooperative banks.

 Institutional Securities

 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Institutional Securities provides financial advisory and capital raising services, and sales and trading for users and
suppliers of capital around the world. The operations of Institutional Securities include debt and equity underwriting
and financial advisory services, and the equity and fixed income trading businesses.

 For the year ended December 31, 2005, Institutional Securities ranked:
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 – First in US dollar value of global initial public offerings;

 – First in Swiss franc-denominated international debt issuances;

 – Second in US dollar volume as lead arranger of US institutional new money loans;

 – Third in US dollar value of global high-yield debt underwriting;

 – Fourth in US dollar value of global asset-backed financing;

 – Fifth in US dollar volume as lead arranger of US leveraged loans;

 – Sixth in US dollar value of global debt underwriting;

 – Eighth in US dollar value of global equity and equity-linked underwriting;

 – Eighth in global mergers and acquisitions advisory services in US dollar value of completed transactions; and

 – Tenth in global mergers and acquisitions advisory services in US dollar value of announced transactions.

 Products and services
 Institutional Securities clients demand high-quality products and services for their funding, investing, risk
management and financial advisory needs. In response to these needs, Institutional Securities has developed a global
product-based structure delivered through regional teams.

 The principal products and activities of Institutional Securities are:

 Trading
 – Commodities;

 – Credit products, including investment-grade debt securities and credit derivatives;

 – Equity securities and equity derivatives, including convertible bonds;

 – Foreign exchange services including currency derivatives;

 – Fund-linked products;

 – Index arbitrage and other program-trading activities, including Advanced Execution Services;

 – Interest rate products, including global government securities and interest rate derivatives;

 – Leveraged finance, including high-yield and distressed debt and non-investment grade loans;

 – Life insurance finance and risk solutions;

 – Margin lending;
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 – Market making in securities and options;

 – Matched book activities;

 – Money market instruments;

 – Prime services;

 – Proprietary trading;

 – Real estate activities, including financing real estate and real estate-related products, originating loans secured by
commercial and residential properties, and servicing residential mortgage loans;

 – Risk arbitrage in the equity securities of companies involved in publicly announced corporate transactions;

 – Securities lending;

 – Securities, futures and options clearing services;

 – Structured products, including asset-backed securities, such as collateralized debt obligations and commercial and
residential mortgage-backed securities, and mortgages; and

 – Trading of syndicated, defaulted, distressed and other loans.

 Investment Banking
 – Mergers and acquisitions and other advisory services, including corporate sales and restructuring, divestitures and
take-over defense strategy; and

 – Capital raising services, including equity and debt underwriting.

 Other
 Other products and activities of Institutional Securities that are not part of Trading or Investment Banking include
lending, private equity investments that are not managed as part of Alternative Capital, certain real estate investments
and the distressed asset portfolios. Lending includes senior bank debt in the form of syndicated loans and
commitments to extend credit to investment grade and non-investment grade borrowers.

 Global Investment Research
 Institutional Securities provides in-depth research on companies and industries, macroeconomics and debt strategy
globally. Core strengths include focused company and business model analysis and customized client service. Equity
analysts perform differentiated information gathering and value-added information processing and provide
high-quality investment recommendations. Equity research also includes extensive data resources, analytical
frameworks and methodologies that leverage a global platform and enable its analysts to customize their products for
institutional customers. Fixed income research provides clients with credit portfolio strategies and analysis, forecasts
of swaps and generic spread movements and outstanding credit strategy research for both high-grade and high-yield
products. Institutional Securities analysts’ in-depth understanding of markets, companies, investment instruments and
local, regional and global economies forms a strong foundation for the innovative web-based analytical tools and
technology of Institutional Securities.
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 Operating environment and competition

 Operating environment
 The operating environment for Institutional Securities is expected to remain challenging in the near term, reflecting
expected continued slow securities market growth in developed countries, fee compression and commoditization
across products, and the ongoing importance of balance sheet commitments for clients. In addition, the regulatory
environment remains difficult, with significant new reporting requirements and increasing complexity in managing
potential conflicts of interest across its evolving businesses.

 Institutional Securities is well positioned to benefit from a number of trends in the industry. As a leader in emerging
markets, Institutional Securities is likely to benefit from the rapid growth and increasing importance of these markets.
The growth of hedge funds and alternative investments is expected to continue to fuel growth in the prime brokerage
services business, which has been recognized as a top provider to hedge funds. Institutional Securities, with its
strengths in technology and its advanced execution services platform, is expected to benefit from the move towards
electronic execution. Institutional Securities is also well positioned to benefit from the rise in residential and
commercial mortgage-backed securitization activity. In addition, Institutional Securities is likely to continue to benefit
from leveraging its leadership position in financial sponsor activity and leveraged finance, both of which are expected
to gain greater importance in the market.

 Competition
 Institutional Securities faces intense global competition across each of its businesses. Institutional Securities
competes with investment and commercial banks, broker-dealers and other firms offering financial services. New
entrants into the financial services and execution markets, such as commercial banks and technology companies, have
contributed to further market fragmentation, fee and spread compression and product commoditization. In addition,
Institutional Securities faces continued competitive pressure to make loans or commit capital to clients.

 Wealth & Asset Management

 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Wealth & Asset Management provides international asset management services to institutional, mutual fund and
private investors, makes private equity investments and manages private equity funds, and provides financial advisory
services to high-net-worth individuals and corporate investors. Wealth & Asset Management includes:

 – The institutional asset management business, which offers a wide array of products, including fixed income, equity,
balanced, liquidity and alternative products;

 – Alternative Capital, which invests in, manages and provides capital raising and other services to hedge funds, private
equity funds and other alternative investment vehicles; and

 – Private Client Services, a financial advisory business that serves high-net-worth individuals and corporate investors
with a wide range of proprietary and third-party investment management products and services.
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 The institutional asset management business is a leading global asset manager focusing on institutional, investment
fund and private client investors, providing investment products and portfolio advice in the Americas, Asia-Pacific
and Europe. With CHF 485.1 billion in assets under management at December 31, 2005, the institutional asset
management business has investment capabilities in all major asset classes, including equity, fixed income and
balanced products.

 Alternative Capital invests in, manages and provides capital raising and other services to hedge funds, private equity
funds and other alternative investments.

 Private Client Services serves high-net-worth and corporate investors with significant financial resources and
specialized investment needs. Private Client Services had 250 investment advisors and managed or advised clients on
approximately CHF 75.3 billion in assets as of December 31, 2005.

 Products and services
 The following is a discussion of the key global products and services of Wealth & Asset Management and the
businesses through which they are delivered.

 Asset management and advisory services
 The institutional asset management business offers its clients discretionary asset management services through
segregated or pooled accounts. The investment policies of portfolio managers are generally focused on providing
maximum return within the investor’s criteria, while maintaining a controlled risk profile and adherence to high-quality
compliance and investment practices. The advisory services of the institutional asset management business include
advice on customized investment opportunities, new product and risk management strategies and global investment
reporting. Global investment reporting involves the use of a global custodian, acting as a central depositary for all of a
client’s securities. Once custody has been centralized, clients are offered a series of value-added services, including
cash management, securities lending, performance measurement and compliance monitoring. Clients may choose
from a wide array of products, including:

 – Fixed income and equity products in local and global markets;

 – Balanced products, comprising a mixed portfolio of fixed income and equity investments according to pre-defined
risk parameters set by the customer or the investment guidelines of the fund;

 – Alternative products, including hedge funds and hedge funds of funds, real estate and currency overlay; and

 – Liquidity products, including money market products in multiple currencies.

 Funds
 The institutional asset management business offers a wide range of open-end funds. These funds are marketed under
the main brand name Credit Suisse. The largest complex of funds, which is domiciled in Luxembourg and marketed
mainly in Europe, includes a full range of equity, balanced, fixed income and money market funds. In addition to
these pan-European mutual funds, the institutional asset management business offers domestic registered funds in the
US, Switzerland, the UK, Germany, Italy, France, Poland, Japan and Australia.

 The institutional asset management business acts primarily as a wholesale distributor of mutual funds, and the
majority of the Credit Suisse brand funds are marketed through our other businesses and third-party distributors,
including third-party banks and insurance companies and other financial intermediaries.
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 Alternative Capital
 Alternative Capital invests in, manages and provides capital raising and other services to, hedge funds, private equity
funds and other alternative investment vehicles. Alternative Capital includes the private equity group, the private
funds group and the capital markets group.

 The private equity group manages a wide array of private equity funds including customized funds, equity funds,
leveraged buyout funds, mezzanine funds, real estate funds, secondary funds and funds of funds. The private equity
group invests primarily in unlisted or illiquid equity or equity-related securities in privately negotiated transactions,
making investments across the entire capital structure, from venture capital equity to investments in the largest
leveraged buyouts. In addition to debt and equity investments in companies, the private equity group invests in real
estate and third-party-managed private equity funds. Investments are made directly or through a variety of investment
vehicles.

 The private funds group raises capital for hedge funds, private equity funds and real estate funds.

 The capital markets group has direct hedge funds and invests in hedge funds of funds and leveraged loans and
collateralized debt obligations.

 Private Client Services
 The Private Client Services business offers a range of services, including brokerage, hedging and sales of restricted
securities, for high-net-worth and corporate investors. Private Client Services also offers its clients a wide range of
investment management products, including third-party-managed accounts, fee-based asset management and
alternative investments.

 Operating environment and competition

 Operating environment
 The operating environment for asset management was generally favorable during the last year as world equity indices
primarily posted gains. Surging markets in Europe, Asia and Latin America outperformed markets in the US, and
interest rates remained low. Short-term interest rates in the US rose appreciably during the year, reflecting the Federal
Reserve Board’s continued policy of tightening, but long-term rates were mostly unchanged from the prior year. The
demographic profile of most developed countries suggests medium-term growth opportunities as aging populations
seek to invest for retirement. Nevertheless, the continuing development of markets makes it increasingly difficult for
active asset managers to outperform, and the regulatory environment for mutual funds remains difficult. The Group
expects structured and alternative investments to continue to gain in importance.

 Competition
 Wealth & Asset Management faces competition primarily from retail and institutional fund managers. Passive
investment strategies are gaining share at the expense of active managers as markets develop, and a larger share of
new investment flows are being directed to a small number of fund managers. Competition for attractive alternative
investments, including private equity investments, will likely remain intense and contribute to increasingly large
private equity investments.

 Life & Pensions
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 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse Group combined the Winterthur businesses into one segment consisting of
life and pensions, non-life and other activities. The following discussion is based on the operational and management
structure in place in 2005.

 Life & Pensions offers a broad range of individual and group life insurance and pension products primarily in
Switzerland, Germany, the UK, Belgium, Spain and the Netherlands. In addition, Life & Pensions has operations in
Central and Eastern Europe (CEE), in particular in the Czech and Slovak Republics, Poland and Hungary, and in
select Asian markets, such as Japan and Hong Kong. Life & Pensions focuses on retirement savings and pension
solutions for individuals and enterprises. To complement this offering, it also provides insurance protection in case of
death or disability, as well as investment products. Its products and services are designed to accommodate local
market and distribution practices as well as the legal, regulatory and fiscal environment of its markets.

 As of January 1, 2005, the Slovakian government introduced a system of mandatory occupational pension schemes to
replace part of social security. By the end of 2005, Life & Pensions had achieved a leading market position.

 In Poland, Life & Pensions concluded an agreement to acquire the pension fund Dom, subject to regulatory approval.
As a result of this transaction, Winterthur will rank as the fifth largest provider in the Polish pension fund industry,
both in terms of its number of clients and assets under management.

 In 2005, Winterthur Life UK was voted “UK company of the year” by the financial advisor community, which is
deemed to be the most prestigious award in the UK financial services industry.

 Products and services
 Life & Pensions offers retirement saving solutions based on voluntary contributions from employers or individuals,
which benefit from tax advantages in most countries. In Switzerland and CEE, it also manages pension solutions
based on mandatory contributions from employees and employers. Life & Pensions offers a range of investment
products to complement its business.

 Savings products are offered as traditional or unit-linked products. In the case of traditional products, the insurer
invests the premiums in a range of assets, including fixed income and equity securities and real estate, and bears the
investment risk. Most of these products offer the beneficiaries a bonus in addition to the guaranteed benefits, i.e., a
share of the insurer’s surplus investment results. In the case of unit-linked insurance products and pension funds, the
investment risk is fully or partially borne by the policyholder. The return on these products is directly linked to the
performance of the underlying investments. Retirement benefits consist of a payout of accumulated capital or of
annuities providing lifelong income.

 Life and disability products are offered in combination with retirement solutions as well as on a stand-alone basis.
Life products cover cash payouts in case of death and widow and orphan pensions. Permanent disability benefits
consist of lump sum payments, disability income and the waiver of premiums.

 In 2005, premiums for traditional products, consisting of traditional saving products and life and disability insurance,
represented 69% of total business volume. Contributions for unit-linked products represented the remaining 31%.

 Marketing and distribution
 Life & Pensions’ products are distributed through a range of different distribution channels, including tied or exclusive
agents, brokers, banks and direct channels such as call centers and the Internet. In 2005, 33% of Life & Pensions’ total
business volume was derived from tied agents and key account managers, 39% from brokers, 4% from banks,
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including Credit Suisse, and the remaining 24% from other channels.

 Within its home market of Switzerland, the majority of Life & Pensions’ total business volume consists of insurance
solutions for collective pension foundations (group life business). In Germany, Life & Pensions principally sells
defined benefit retirement saving and pension products.

 Market Group International – Europe comprises Life & Pensions’ activities in Spain, Benelux, the UK and CEE. In
Spain and Benelux, Life & Pensions offers traditional collective pension solutions as well as pension funds and
investment products for individuals. In the UK, Life & Pensions specializes in tailor-made personal pension schemes
for affluent individuals. In CEE, where Life & Pensions is a market leader in the pension fund business in the Czech
and Slovak Republics, it predominantly manages pension funds and provides unit-linked products.

 Market Group International – Overseas comprises Life & Pensions’ operations in Asia, where it mainly provides
unit-linked retirement savings pension solutions.

 Operating environment and competition

 Operating environment
 Life & Pensions’ operating environment remains challenging. Declining financial returns from lower yielding
reinvestments affect both operating results and customer demand for life and pension products, particularly those with
a strong savings component. However, the impact of an aging population and the increasing inability of governments
to finance pensions and retirement benefits are increasingly likely to provide opportunities for private pension
providers in many of the countries where Life & Pensions operates. As the private sector increases its role in pension
and retirement benefits, customers and regulators are demanding greater transparency regarding the design, pricing
and costs of products as well as more protection for individual customers. These trends may impose extra reporting,
training and distribution costs. Following significant losses in the insurance industry in previous years, there is strong
pressure from regulators, customers, rating agencies and shareholders for companies to have adequate capitalization,
while still improving returns on equity. Regulators are increasing their efforts to develop more detailed and responsive
capital models, which are likely to result in increased capital requirements and different approaches to setting the
appropriate level of capital required to operate insurance businesses.

 Competition
 As a result of the pressures outlined above, competition remains intense in the insurance industry. Insurers with
advanced asset/liability, investment and capital management techniques and functions, good underwriting and claims
management systems and processes and strong levels of capital, are likely to compete most successfully in the current
environment. Life & Pensions’ biggest competitor in Switzerland is Swiss Life. In foreign markets, competitors
include subsidiaries of global insurance companies such as AXA, Generali and Allianz, in addition to certain domestic
insurers.

 Non-Life

 Overview
 Effective January 1, 2006, Credit Suisse Group combined the Winterthur businesses into one segment consisting of
life and pensions, non-life and other activities. The following discussion is based on the operational and management
structure in place in 2005.
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 Non-Life provides motor, health and accident, liability and property insurance for private clients and small and
medium-sized companies. It aims to offer standardized products with sophisticated pricing, as well as a high level of
customer service. Non-Life operates in Switzerland, Germany, Spain, Belgium, the Netherlands and the US.

 On December 5, 2005, the Independent Actuary reached a final conclusion in the dispute between XL Insurance and
Winterthur over the seasoned net reserve amount (SNRA) relating to the 2001 sale of Winterthur International.
According to the report released by the Independent Actuary, the estimates presented by Winterthur came closer to the
amounts determined by the Independent Actuary both for the SNRA and for the seasoned net premiums receivables
(SNPR) received from XL. Accordingly, Winterthur’s estimates, already provided for in the Winterthur accounts,
became the final and relevant SNRA and SNPR.

 The Group announced in 2005 the divestiture of its Canadian business, Winterthur Canada Financial Corporation and
its wholly owned subsidiary, the Citadel General Assurance Company, to AXA Canada, a wholly owned subsidiary of
AXA, S.A. The transaction closed in the first quarter of 2006. The divestiture marks the completion of Non-Life’s
withdrawal from the Canadian market and underlines its strategic aim of further optimizing its business portfolio.

 Products and services
 Motor insurance products offered by Non-Life include vehicle, third party liability and passenger accident insurance.
Motor insurance contributed approximately 34% to total gross premiums written in 2005.

 Non-Life accident and health insurance products cover medical expenses, death benefits and short-term and
permanent disability income. In 2005, the accident and health business contributed approximately 34% to total gross
premiums written.

 Non-Life’s liability business provides a wide range of personal and commercial liability insurance products, covering
activities, premises, operations, professional activities and environmental liability. In 2005, general liability products
contributed approximately 10% to total gross premiums written.

 Non-Life’s property and other insurance products include building insurance covering damage from fire, flood and
weather-related incidents. It also writes business interruption, credit, surety, marine and legal protection insurance. In
2005, property and other insurance contributed approximately 22% to total gross premiums written.

 Marketing and distribution
 Non-Life’s products are distributed through a range of different distribution channels, including tied or exclusive
agents, brokers and other channels (such as banks, call centers and the Internet). In 2005, approximately 49% of
Non-Life’s gross premiums written was derived from tied agents and key account managers, approximately 47% from
brokers and approximately 4% from other channels.

 Within its home market of Switzerland, Non-Life is an all-line non-life carrier with an extensive service network. Its
main lines of business in this market are motor and accident and health insurance.

 In Germany, the non-life operations have a particular focus on health insurance. In Market Group International –
Europe, which includes the Non-Life operations in Spain, Belgium and the Netherlands, the main line of business is
motor insurance. Within Market Group International – Overseas, Non-Life operates its US non-life business with a
focus on small and medium-sized enterprises through two regional insurance brands.

 Operating environment and competition
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 Operating environment
 Over the last few years, the non-life insurance market had been characterized by strong tariff increases to compensate
for poor underwriting results and weak investment performance. However, these increases are slowing down or
reversing as the business cycle changes and competitors seek increased market share through price cuts. Following
significant losses in the insurance industry in previous years, there is strong pressure from regulators, customers,
rating agencies and shareholders for companies to have adequate capitalization, while still improving returns on
equity. Regulators are increasing their efforts to develop more detailed and responsive capital models, which are likely
to result in increased capital requirements and different approaches to setting the appropriate level of capital required
to operate insurance businesses.

 Competition
 As a result of the pressures outlined above, competition remains intense in the insurance industry. Insurers with
advanced asset/liability, investment and capital management techniques and functions, good underwriting and claims
management systems and processes and strong levels of capital, are likely to be those that can compete most
successfully in the current environment. Non-Life’s biggest competitor in Switzerland is Zurich Financial Services. In
foreign markets, competitors include subsidiaries of global insurance companies such as AXA, Generali and Allianz,
in addition to certain domestic insurers.

 Operating and financial review

 Overview

 Factors affecting results of operations
 In 2005, the banking segments generally profited from an increase in client activity that commenced in the second
quarter and extended through the third quarter when the usual seasonal slowdown failed to materialize. The market
environment at the end of 2005 was generally favorable but more challenging than the previous quarters. The
insurance segments continued to be challenged by the sustained low interest rate environment despite the recent
interest rate increases.

 The broad US equity markets recorded gains of approximately 5% in 2005, with a significant part of the increase
driven by gains in the value of medium-size companies and good corporate results in the energy sector. In Europe, the
Swiss Market Index increased 33% in 2005 and the other main European equity markets recorded increases of
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between 15% and 30%, driven significantly by gains in the value of companies in the oil and mining sectors. These
gains were recorded despite sluggish economic growth, the French and Dutch rejection of the European Union
constitution and the uncertainty generated during the election of the new German Chancellor. Asia continued to
benefit from strong growth, with equity markets in Japan, South Korea and India posting gains of more than 40%.

 The US Federal Reserve continued to increase short-term interest rates throughout 2005 to 4.25% in December 2005.
The yield curve continued to flatten throughout the year, ending 2005 inverted, with long-term interest rates falling
below short-term rates. Despite worries about Europe’s fragile economic recovery, during the fourth quarter of 2005
the European Central Bank raised its benchmark interest rate for the first time in five years, motivated by inflation
fears. The Bank of England reduced its benchmark rate once during 2005 while the Bank of Japan kept its rates stable
throughout the year. The US dollar strengthened relative to the Swiss franc in 2005, gaining approximately 16% by
the end of the year.

 The global credit environment remained favorable for lenders, with a corresponding positive impact on the Group’s
provision for credit losses.

 Industry activity in global mergers and acquisitions during 2005 was at record highs with strong contributions from
the US, Europe and Asia. This increase had a corresponding positive effect on the Group’s investment banking
revenues.

 Credit Suisse Group structure
 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Credit Suisse Group management
 For a discussion of changes in the Group’s management during 2005, refer to Corporate governance.

 Summary of Group results

 Credit Suisse Group recorded net income of CHF 5,850 million in 2005 compared to CHF 5,628 million in 2004, an
increase of CHF 222 million, or 4%, which included a non-cash charge in 2005 of CHF 421 million after tax relating
to a change in the Group’s accounting for share-based awards as well as a CHF 624 million charge, after tax, in
Institutional Securities in 2005 to increase the reserve for certain private litigation matters. The Group’s banking
business benefited from high levels of client activity during the year, with increased net income in Private Banking,
Corporate & Retail Banking and Wealth & Asset Management, partially offset by a decrease in Institutional
Securities. The insurance business made good progress in 2005 with increased net income in Non-Life and a 6%
decline in Life & Pensions, reflecting in part changes in actuarial models and assumptions. Net revenues in 2005
increased to CHF 60,632 million, a 10% increase compared to 2004. Total operating expenses increased 14% to CHF
27,954 million, and there was a net release in credit provisions of CHF 140 million reflecting the continued positive
credit environment for lenders.

 In 2004, a mixed market environment, a weakening US dollar, higher commodity prices and geopolitical issues
affected all businesses. Although the markets regained some momentum towards the end of the year, volatility
remained low relative to historical norms. However, the businesses responded well to the changing environment and
the Group reported net income of CHF 5,628 million compared to CHF 770 million in 2003, with particularly strong
results in Private Banking, Corporate & Retail Banking and Life & Pensions, and improvements in Institutional
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Securities and Wealth & Asset Management. The Group made a number of divestitures during the course of 2004,
including the disposal of a minority holding in Warburg Pincus and a number of disposals by Winterthur.

 In 2003, the Group focused on efficiency and on returning its core businesses to profitability, maintaining leading
positions in key markets and building its client franchise. The Group made a number of divestitures, most significantly
at Winterthur, with the sale of Republic Financial Services in the US, Churchill Insurance Group in the UK and
Winterthur’s operations in Italy. The sale of Pershing, the Group’s clearing and execution platform, was also completed.
Market and economic conditions generally improved from 2002, but remained challenging and very competitive and
the Group reported net income of CHF 770 million.

 Credit Suisse Group

 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005 and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes.

The following table presents the Group's consolidated statements of income:
Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003

Interest and dividend income 40,928 30,953 28,341
Interest expense (29,335) (19,006) (16,637)

Net interest income 11,593 11,947 11,704

Commissions and fees 14,617 13,577 12,917
Trading revenues 7,507 4,559 3,528
Realized gains/(losses) from investment
securities, net 1,489 1,143 1,527
Insurance net premiums earned 20,970 20,580 21,443
Other revenues 4,456 3,333 1,396

Total noninterest revenues 49,039 43,192 40,811

Net revenues 60,632 55,139 52,515

Policyholder benefits, claims and dividends 23,569 22,295 24,184
Provision for credit losses (140) 78 600

Total benefits, claims and credit losses 23,429 22,373 24,784

Insurance underwriting, acquisition and
administration expenses 4,307 4,103 4,419
Banking compensation and benefits 13,971 11,951 11,042
Other expenses 9,672 8,395 8,949
Goodwill impairment 0 0 1,510
Restructuring charges 4 85 135

Total operating expenses 27,954 24,534 26,055

Income from continuing operations before
taxes, minority interests, extraordinary
items and cumulative effect of accounting

9,249 8,232 1,676
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changes

Income tax expense/(benefit) 1,356 1,421 (11)
Dividends on preferred securities for
consolidated entities 0 0 133
Minority interests 2,030 1,127 (31)

Income from continuing operations before
extraordinary items and cumulative effect
of accounting changes 5,863 5,684 1,585

Income/(loss) from discontinued operations,
net of tax (27) (50) (256)
Extraordinary items, net of tax 0 0 7
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net
of tax 14 (6) (566)

Net income 5,850 5,628 770

 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

 Net revenues
 The Group reported net revenues of CHF 60,632 million in 2005, an increase of CHF 5,493 million, or 10%,
compared to 2004.

 Net interest income, which includes dividend income, was CHF 11,593 million in 2005, compared to CHF 11,947
million in 2004, a decrease of CHF 354 million, or 3%, due mainly to an increase in interest expense in Institutional
Securities as a result of higher short-term borrowing costs and higher financing liabilities. This was partially offset by
increases in the insurance segments of CHF 256 million due to lower interest expense and increased dividend receipts
as corporations declared generally higher dividends in line with economic improvements.

 Commissions and fees were CHF 14,617 million in 2005 compared to CHF 13,577 million in 2004, an increase of
CHF 1,040 million, or 8%. This increase was generated largely by higher asset-based commissions and brokerage
volumes in Private Banking and increased investment banking revenues in Institutional Securities. In addition, higher
placement fees and management fees in Wealth & Asset Management and increased brokerage volumes in Corporate
& Retail Banking contributed to the increase.

 Trading revenues for 2005 increased CHF 2,948 million, or 65%, to CHF 7,507 million, with all banking segments
recording increases, the largest of which were in Institutional Securities and Private Banking. The increase in
Institutional Securities was driven by increases in both fixed income and equity trading results, while the increase in
Private Banking was driven by client foreign exchange trading and higher revenues from trading execution, both
related to higher client transaction volume. In addition, Life & Pensions recorded trading revenues of CHF 1,644
million, an increase of CHF 784 million, or 91%, compared to 2004, primarily reflecting the market appreciation of
the underlying assets backing unit-linked products, which is credited to policyholder account balances.

 Net realized gains/(losses) from investment securities was CHF 1,489 million in 2005, an increase of CHF 346
million, or 30%, compared to 2004, primarily due to higher net realized gains on equity securities in Life & Pensions.

 Insurance net premiums earned in 2005 increased CHF 390 million, or 2%, to CHF 20,970 million driven primarily
by solid growth in gross premiums in Life & Pensions in Germany, Spain and the Swiss group life business. In
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Non-Life, insurance net premiums earned were largely unchanged with organic growth and tariff increases in
Switzerland and Spain, offset by selective underwriting in the US and Germany.

 Other revenues in 2005 were CHF 4,456 million compared to CHF 3,333 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 1,123
million, or 34%, due primarily to higher other revenues in Wealth & Asset Management and Institutional Securities
arising from the consolidation of certain private equity funds, as discussed below under Minority interests. This was
partially offset by a decrease in the insurance segments due mainly to lower realized gains on other invested assets,
including real estate, and increased asset management expenses.

 Total benefits, claims and credit losses
 The Group recorded policyholder benefits, claims and dividends of CHF 23,569 million in 2005, compared to CHF
22,295 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 1,274 million, or 6%. This was due mainly to an increase in investment
income credited to policyholder account balances in Life & Pensions. In addition, the increase reflects policyholder
participation in improved profitability in both insurance segments.

 The Group reported a net release of provisions for credit losses of CHF 140 million in 2005 compared to a net
increase in provisions for credit losses of CHF 78 million in 2004. These releases largely reflected a favorable credit
environment for lenders in 2005.

 Total operating expenses
 The Group reported total operating expenses of CHF 27,954 million in 2005 compared to CHF 24,534 million in
2004, an increase of CHF 3,420 million, or 14%. This included a charge of CHF 960 million (USD 750 million)
before tax in Institutional Securities to increase the reserve for certain private litigation matters. Excluding the impact
of the litigation charge, total operating expenses increased CHF 2,460 million, or 10%, mainly reflecting an increase
in banking compensation and benefits. Corporate Center total operating expenses included costs relating to the
integration of the banking businesses of CHF 128 million in 2005.

 The Group reported insurance underwriting, acquisition and administration expenses of CHF 4,307 million in 2005,
an increase of CHF 204 million, or 5%, compared to 2004, primarily reflecting the negative effect of changes in
actuarial assumptions and models in Life & Pensions in the third quarter of 2005.

 Banking compensation and benefits in 2005 was CHF 13,971 million compared to CHF 11,951 million in 2004, an
increase of CHF 2,020 million, or 17%, which reflected increases in all banking segments primarily due to higher
performance-related compensation in line with the improved results. In addition, the increase reflected the impact of
Private Banking’s front office recruitment as part of its ongoing strategic investments in growth markets. Both
Institutional Securities and Wealth & Asset Management maintained a disciplined approach to compensation
expenses, with a combined compensation to revenue ratio (excluding minority interest revenues) of 51.9%, compared
to 53.1% in 2004. Banking compensation and benefits in 2005 was also specifically impacted by a CHF 630 million
charge relating to a change in the Group’s accounting for share-based compensation awards subject to a
non-competition provision that have scheduled vesting beyond an employee’s eligibility for early retirement. See
Further guidance on accounting for share-based awards.

 Other expenses in 2005 were CHF 9,672 million compared to CHF 8,395 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 1,277
million, or 15%, due mainly to the impact of a charge of CHF 960 million in Institutional Securities to increase the
reserve for certain private litigation matters. In addition, the increase reflected higher commissions in Institutional
Securities and higher professional fees in both Institutional Securities and Wealth & Asset Management. Other
expenses in 2004 included a charge relating to the sale of Winterthur International of CHF 321 million.
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 Income tax expense
 The Group recorded income tax expense of CHF 1,356 million in 2005 compared to CHF 1,421 million in 2004, a
decrease of CHF 65 million, or 5%. Income tax expense in Institutional Securities was positively impacted by the
increase in the reserve for certain private litigation matters, the release of tax contingency accruals of CHF 131 million
due to the favorable settlement of certain tax audits and a decrease in the effective tax rate as a result of changes in the
geographic mix of taxable income. In addition, the insurance segments recorded a combined release in the valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets primarily in relation to tax loss carry-forwards created in prior years of CHF 162
million compared to a combined release of CHF 131 million in 2004. These releases reflect management’s expectation
of improved future taxable earnings. Life & Pensions income tax expense also included a CHF 22 million charge
related to the completion of a tax audit with respect to an entity divested in 2002.

 Income tax expense in 2005 was impacted by a change in the Group’s accounting for share-based compensation
awards subject to a non-competition provision that have scheduled vesting beyond an employee’s eligibility for early
retirement. This resulted in a decrease in income tax expense of CHF 209 million. See Further guidance on accounting
for share-based awards.

 The Group tax rate reflected non-taxable income of CHF 2,042 million relating to income arising on investments that
are required to be consolidated under accounting rules, primarily Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No. 46 Revised (FIN 46R), which lowered the Group’s effective tax rate.

 Due to the factors discussed above the Group’s effective tax rate in 2005 was 15% compared to the Swiss statutory
rate of 22%. The effective tax rate is not indicative of the Group’s future income tax rate.

 Minority interests
 Net revenues and operating expenses include the consolidation of certain entities and private equity funds primarily in
accordance with FIN 46R. The consolidation of these entities does not impact net income as the amounts recorded in
net revenues and expenses are offset by equivalent amounts recorded in minority interests.

 Minority interests were CHF 2,030 million in 2005 compared to CHF 1,127 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 903
million, or 80%, due to increased investment-related gains in these funds.

 Net new assets and assets under management
 The Group reported net new assets of CHF 58.4 billion in 2005 compared to CHF 32.9 billion in 2004, an increase of
CHF 25.5 billion, or 78%. Private Banking reported net new asset inflows of CHF 42.7 billion in 2005, with continued
healthy inflows from Asia and the European onshore markets. Wealth & Asset Management recorded net new assets
of CHF 12.5 billion in 2005, primarily reflecting inflows in Private Client Services and Alternative Capital.

The following table sets forth details of assets under management and client assets:
December 31, in CHF bn 2005 2004 2003

Private Banking
Assets under management 659.3 539.1 511.3
Client assets 698.4 569.4 541.0

Corporate & Retail Banking
Assets under management 57.8 53.9 53.6
Client assets 122.0 102.1 95.2

Institutional Securities
Assets under management 14.5 15.2 12.9
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Client assets 69.6 95.1 84.6

Wealth & Asset Management
Assets under management 599.4 472.9 464.1
Client assets 617.0 488.9 482.1

Life & Pensions
Assets under management 126.0 115.5 113.8
Client assets 126.0 115.5 113.8

Non-Life
Assets under management 27.3 24.1 25.4
Client assets 27.3 24.1 25.4

Credit Suisse Group
Discretionary assets under management 742.5 595.8 585.9
Advisory assets under management 741.8 624.9 595.2

Total assets under management 1,484.3 1,220.7 1,181.1

Total client assets 1,660.3 1,395.1 1,342.1

The following table sets forth details of net new assets:
Years ended December 31, in CHF bn 2005 2004 2003

Private Banking 42.7 26.4 17.9
Corporate & Retail Banking 2.0 1.4 0.7
Institutional Securities (2.0) 1.6 1.5
Wealth & Asset Management 1) 12.5 2.3 (14.8)
Life & Pensions 3.2 1.2 (0.3)

Credit Suisse Group 58.4 32.9 5.0
1) Excluding assets managed on behalf of other entities within Credit Suisse Group. This differs
from the presentation of the Wealth & Asset Management segment results, in which such assets
are included.      

As of December 31, 2005, the Group’s total assets under management amounted to CHF 1,484.3 billion, an increase of
CHF 263.6 billion, or 21.6%, compared to December 31, 2004. Assets under management in Private Banking
amounted to CHF 659.3 billion at the end of 2005, up CHF 120.2 billion, or 22.3%, from the end of 2004. The main
drivers of this growth were strong net new asset inflows, higher equity markets and foreign exchange movements. In
addition, assets under management in Wealth & Asset Management increased CHF 126.5 billion, or 26.7%, to CHF
599.4 billion, which was attributable to net asset inflows, market performance gains, foreign exchange movements and
CHF 42.3 billion relating to an internal transfer of a cash management business from the Institutional Securities prime
services business to Credit Suisse Asset Management. This was partially offset by the spin-out of certain funds in
Alternative Capital during the year.

 Further guidance on accounting for share-based awards
 The Group early adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based
Payment” (SFAS 123R) as of January 1, 2005. In a December 2005 speech, the SEC staff provided further guidance on
SFAS 123R, relating to accounting for share-based compensation awards subject to a non-competition provision that
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have scheduled vesting beyond an employee’s eligibility for early retirement. The SEC staff noted that such
share-based awards should generally be expensed over the period from grant date to the date an employee becomes
eligible for early retirement, rather than over the entire vesting, or stated service, period, unless the non-competition
provision and other factors establish an in-substance requisite service period that extends beyond the early retirement
date. Based on a review of relevant share-based awards granted during 2005, the Group had previously concluded that
the most appropriate service period to be used for expensing those awards is the vesting period. As a result of the
December 2005 guidance, and based on subsequent discussions with the SEC staff, the Group recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2005 an incremental expense to reflect the full-year cost of its 2005 share-based awards. This incremental
expense reflects the attribution of the total cost of these awards over the period from the grant date to the date the
employee becomes eligible for early retirement rather than over the vesting period that range from three to five years.

 The impact was to increase fourth-quarter and full-year 2005 banking compensation and benefits by CHF 630
million, and to decrease fourth-quarter and full-year 2005 net income by CHF 421 million. This non-cash charge,
recorded in the Corporate Center, represented the recognition of compensation expense for share-based awards
granted in 2005, principally to employees in the Institutional Securities and Wealth & Asset Management segments,
that otherwise would have been recorded generally over vesting periods of three to five years. See note 2 of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

 The share-based awards granted in March 2006 provide for early retirement eligibility no earlier than two years after
the award grant date. These awards will be recorded as compensation expenses over the period from grant date to the
date an employee becomes eligible for early retirement if earlier than the three to five year vesting period.

 Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003

 Net revenues
 The Group reported net revenues of CHF 55,139 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 2,624 million, or 5%, compared
to 2003.

 Net interest income was CHF 11,947 million in 2004, an increase of CHF 243 million, or 2%, compared to 2003.
Increased lending volumes resulted in higher net interest income in Private Banking, while a decrease in Corporate &
Retail Banking was due to a greater volume of interest rate derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting during 2004.
Net interest income in Institutional Securities also declined, mainly due to increased interest expenses as a result of
higher short-term interest rates.

 Commissions and fees increased CHF 660 million, or 5%, due mainly to an increase in Private Banking as a result of
higher asset-based commissions on the increased average asset base.

 Trading revenues increased CHF 1,031 million, or 29%, to CHF 4,559 million, driven mainly by an increase in both
fixed income and equity trading results in the Institutional Securities segment. There was also a decline in net realized
gains/(losses) from investment securities in both insurance segments as a result of higher realized gains on
available-for-sale securities in 2003.

 Insurance net premiums earned decreased CHF 863 million, or 4%, to CHF 20,580 million, due mainly to a decrease
in gross premiums written in Life & Pensions of CHF 1,196 million, or 10%. The primary driver behind this decline
was a decrease in the Swiss group life business due to selective underwriting. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase in gross premiums written in Non-Life, primarily reflecting tariff increases and the transfer of the
non-mandatory part of the Swiss health insurance business to a consolidated entity.

 Other revenues were CHF 3,333 million compared to CHF 1,396 million in the previous year, mainly reflecting the
impact of entities consolidated primarily in accordance with FIN 46R in the Wealth & Asset Management segment.
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This increase however, had no impact on net income as offsetting minority interests were recorded. In addition, other
revenues in Life & Pensions increased, due mainly to favorable deposit premium growth relating to new business in
the UK and Asia. This was partially offset by a loss in the Corporate Center of CHF 157 million before tax on the sale
of a 19.9% stake in the private equity activities of Warburg Pincus.

 Total benefits, claims and credit losses
 Policyholder benefits, claims and dividends decreased by 8%, or CHF 1,889 million, to CHF 22,295 million, due to a
decrease in benefits and policyholder dividends in the Life & Pensions segment. This decrease in benefits was
primarily driven by lower premium income, which resulted in a lower charge in provisions for future benefits. The
change in policyholder dividends was due to lower provisions for future dividends to policyholders of CHF 501
million, driven largely by a change in German tax laws in 2003.

 Provisions for credit losses continued to be positively impacted by the generally favorable credit environment
throughout 2004. The Group reported a provision for credit losses of CHF 78 million in 2004, a decrease of CHF 522
million, or 87%, compared to 2003. This included a significant release in the Institutional Securities segment, due
mainly to a recovery related to the sale of an impaired loan.

 Total operating expenses
 The Group reported total operating expenses of CHF 24,534 million for 2004, a decrease of CHF 1,521 million, or
6%, compared to 2003. The decrease was due mainly to a 2003 goodwill impairment of CHF 1,510 million in the Life
& Pensions segment.

 Insurance underwriting, acquisition and administration expenses of CHF 4,103 million decreased by CHF 316
million, or 7%, due primarily to lower charges in 2004 as a result of additional write-downs of deferred acquisition
costs and present value of future profits in Life & Pensions in 2003. In addition, administration expenses in both
insurance segments decreased, reflecting further cost savings.

 Banking compensation and benefits increased CHF 909 million, or 8%, reflecting increased incentive-related
compensation in the banking segments, which was in line with improved results. Institutional Securities accounted for
a substantial portion of this increase. Additionally, banking compensation and benefits were negatively impacted by
combined severance costs of CHF 156 million in the Institutional Securities and Wealth & Asset Management
segments resulting from a change in business structure within these segments.

 Other expenses included a charge relating to the sale of Winterthur International of CHF 321 million, as discussed
below in Loss contingencies, whereas the 2003 balance included provisioning for the former and current international
portfolio.

 In comparison with 2003, operating expenses in 2004 also declined due to charges in 2003 related to a write-off of
intangible assets in Wealth & Asset Management of CHF 270 million, as well as an impairment of goodwill in the
amount of CHF 1,510 million in Life & Pensions, both of which did not reoccur in 2004.

 Income tax expense
 The Group recorded income tax expense of CHF 1,421 million compared to an income tax benefit of CHF 11 million
in 2003, reflecting the Group’s improved results in 2004. Additionally, the increase was impacted by tax benefits
recorded in 2003 in the insurance segments as a result of a tax law change in Germany. In 2003, Life & Pensions
recorded a tax benefit of CHF 658 million and Non-Life recorded a tax benefit of CHF 124 million. Life & Pensions
and Non-Life recorded benefits of CHF 72 million and CHF 59 million in 2004, respectively, due to the increase in
the valuation of deferred tax assets (by decreasing the related valuation allowance) in relation to tax loss
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carry-forwards created in prior years.

 The 2004 tax expense was positively impacted by the release of tax contingency accruals totaling CHF 153 million in
Institutional Securities, following the favorable resolution of matters with local tax authorities during the year.

 The Group tax expense reflected non-taxable income of CHF 1,072 million relating to investments that were
consolidated primarily under FIN 46R, which lowered the Group’s effective tax rate.

 The Group tax rate benefited from higher dividend income with a reduced tax rate and the release of tax contingency
accruals following the favorable resolution of open matters in Private Banking.

 Due largely to the items identified above, the Group’s effective tax rate in 2004 was 17%, compared to the Swiss
statutory rate of 25%. The effective tax rate is not indicative of the Group’s future income tax rate.

 Loss contingencies
 In 2004 a pre-tax charge of CHF 321 million was recorded in other expenses relating to the sale of Winterthur
International. For additional information relating to contingencies involving this sale, see notes 34 and 42 of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

 Net new assets and assets under management
 The Group reported net new assets of CHF 32.9 billion in 2004, compared to CHF 5.0 billion in 2003, with healthy
inflows recorded in all regions. Private Banking reported net new assets of CHF 26.4 billion in 2004, an increase of
47.5% compared to 2003. 

 As of December 31, 2004, the Group’s total assets under management amounted to CHF 1,220.7 billion, an increase
of 3.4% compared to December 31, 2003, with Private Banking reporting an increase in assets under management of
CHF 27.8 billion.

 Private Banking

 Effective January 1, 2006, the Group’s banking businesses have been structured as three segments: Investment
Banking, Private Banking and Asset Management. See Organizational changes in 2006. The following discussion is
based on the operational and management structure in place in 2005.

 Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
 Private Banking reported net income of CHF 2,647 million in 2005, up CHF 174 million, or 7%, compared to 2004.
The increase in net income primarily reflected improved commissions and fees and trading revenues, partly offset by
higher compensation and benefits.

 As part of its growth in strategic key markets, Private Banking expanded its business during 2005 in strategic areas
such as the Middle East, Asia and Russia. Private Banking opened a new representative office in Bangkok, Thailand
to serve as a point of contact for international clients and established a new branch in Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
Private Banking opened new representative offices in Guangzhou, China and St. Petersburg, Russia and a new
financial consultancy and advisory office in Mumbai, India. In 2006, Private Banking intends to establish a presence
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in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia and enter into a joint venture with experienced local partners in the Saudi Swiss Securities
consortium.

The following table presents the results of the Private Banking segment:
Year ended December 31, in CHF m 2005 2004 2003

Net interest income 1,889 1,932 1,525

Commissions and fees 5,054 4,732 4,274
Trading revenues including realized gains/(losses)
from investment securities, net 718 374 507
Other revenues 68 132 193

Total noninterest revenues 5,840 5,238 4,974

Net revenues 7,729 7,170 6,499

Provision for credit losses 25 (6) 12

Compensation and benefits 2,373 2,095 2,051
Other expenses 2,058 2,050 1,942
Restructuring charges 0 (2) 12
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